The role of immune mechanisms in development of metabolic syndrome in obesity

Marinović, Sonja

Doctoral thesis / Disertacija

2018

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, Faculty of Science / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:217:223572

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-07-12



Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository of the Faculty of Science - University of Zagreb







University of Zagreb

FACULTY OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

Sonja Marinović

THE ROLE OF IMMUNE MECHANISMS IN DEVELOPMENT OF METABOLIC SYNDROME IN OBESITY

DOCTORAL THESIS

Zagreb, 2018



Sveučilište u Zagrebu

PRIRODOSLOVNO-MATEMATIČKI FAKULTET BIOLOŠKI ODSJEK

Sonja Marinović

ULOGA IMUNOSNIH MEHANIZAMA U RAZVOJU METABOLIČKOGA SINDROMA U DEBLJINI

DOKTORSKI RAD

Mentori: prof.dr.sc. Bojan Polić, dr.med izv. prof. dr. sc. Danka Grčević, dr.med

Zagreb, 2018



University of Zagreb

FACULTY OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

Sonja Marinović

THE ROLE OF IMMUNE MECHANISMS IN DEVELOPMENT OF METABOLIC SYNDROME IN OBESITY

DOCTORAL THESIS

Mentors: Prof. Bojan Polić, MD, Ph.D Prof. Danka Grčević, MD, Ph.D

Zagreb, 2018

This doctoral thesis was made at the Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of medicine, University of Rijeka under the mentorship of Prof. Bojan Polić, MD, Ph.D and Prof. Danka Grčević, MD, Ph.D within the postgraduate study of Biology at the Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb.

Zahvala

Zahvaljujem se mentoru prof. dr. sc. Bojanu Poliću na pruženoj pomoći i savjetima pri izradi ovog doktorskog rada, ali i na cjelokupnom profesionalnom razvoju. Zahvaljujem se na pomoći i doc. dr. sc. Felixu Wensveenu koji mi je pomogao svojim savjetima i usmjerio me na pravi put u mom istraživanju.

> Hvala i prof. dr. sc. Stipanu Jonjiću i izv. prof.dr.sc. Danki Grčević na svoj iskazanoj pomoći i savjetima.

Kolegama i kolegicama Zavoda za histologiju i embriologiju, a posebno Marku, Ingi, Vedrani, Maji, Sali, Ani, Anti, Miru, Miju i Tini zahvaljujem na savjetima, pomoći pri izradi dijela rezultata ovog istraživanja i, najbitnije, ugodnom okruženju tijekom zajedničkog rada.

Hvala mojim roditeljima na beskrajnoj ljubavi i podršci što mi je pružaju cijeli život i što su mi tokom odgoja usadili vrijednosti bez kojih znanje i doktorat ništa ne vrijede.

I naposljetku, hvala mojem suprugu Edvardu na ljubavi, strpljenju, potpori i razumijevanju prilikom izrade ovog rada.

THE ROLE OF IMMUNE MECHANISMS IN DEVELOPMENT OF METABOLIC SYNDROME IN OBESITY

SONJA MARINOVIĆ

Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka

Summary

More than billion of obese and overweight people live currently in the world. A significant number of them develop diabetes mellitus type 2 (DM2) and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Mechanisms that induce inflammation and trigger transition from prediabetes to DM2 or from hepatic steatosis to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) are still unclear. In this research I found that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are enriched in visceral adipose tissue and they produce proinflammatory cytokines. In response to high fat diet (HFD), there is increase in number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that produce IL-17A. Research on NAFLD revealed that initiating event, in response to high calorie diet, is the increase in expression of the NKG2D ligand H60 on hepatocytes. Upregulation of ligands leads to mobilisation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells through an NKG2D engagement that induces an increase in IL-17A. Lack of either $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NKG2D or IL-17A significantly decreases development of liver fibrosis.

(111 pages, 23 figures, 3 tables, 264 references, original in: English)

Keywords: diabetes mellitus type 2, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, IL-17A, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, NKG2D receptor, stress induced molecules.

Supervisor: Prof. Bojan Polić, M.D., PhD
Co-supervisor: Prof. Danka Grčević, M.D., PhD
Reviewers: Ass. Prof. Snjezana Zidovec Lepej, PhD, scientific advisor
Assoc. Prof. Ana Galov, PhD
Ass. Prof. Felix M. Wensveen, PhD
Ass. Prof. Sofia Ana Blažević, PhD (replacement)

Doktorski rad

Sveučilište u Zagrebu Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet Biološki odsjek

ULOGA IMUNOSNIH MEHANIZAMA U RAZVOJU METABOLIČKOGA SINDROMA U DEBLJINI

SONJA MARINOVIĆ

Medicinski fakultet, Sveučilište u Rijeci

Sažetak

Trenutno na svijetu živi više od milijarde pretilih ljudi i onih s prekomjernom težinom. Značajan broj njih obolijeva od šećerne bolesti tipa 2 (DM2) i nealkoholne bolesti masne jetre (NAFLD). Mehanizmi koji induciraju upalu u debljini i uzrokuju prijelaz iz stadija predijabetesa u DM2 ili iz stadija jetrene steatoze u nealkoholni steatohepatitis (NASH) su još uvijek nejasni. U ovom istraživanju otkrila sam da se $\gamma\delta$ limfociti T nalaze u velikom broju u visceralnom masnom tkivu i da mogu sintetizirati proupalne citokine. Kao odgovor na visokokalorijsku prehranu bogatu mastima dolazi do povećanja broja $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T koji proizvode IL-17A. Istraživanja na NAFLD-u pokazala su da kao odgovor na visokokalorijsku dijetu, dolazi do povećanog izražaja NKG2D liganda H60 na hepatocitima. Povećani izražaj NKG2D liganda dovodi do mobilizacije $\gamma\delta$ stanica kroz aktivaciju receptora NKG2D koji potiče sintezu IL-17A. Nedostatak $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T, receptora NKG2D ili citokina IL-17A značajno smanjuje razvoj fibroze jetre.

(111 stranica, 23 slike, 3 tablice, 264 literaturna navoda, jezik izvornika: engleski)

Ključne riječi: diabetes mellitus tip 2, $\gamma\delta$ limfociti T, IL-17A, nealkoholna masna bolest jetre, receptor NKG2D, stresom inducirane molekule.

Mentor: prof. dr. sc. Bojan Polić, dr.med.
Komentor: izv. prof. dr. sc. Danka Grčević, dr.med.
Ocjenjivači: doc. dr. sc. Snježana Židovec Lepej, znanstvena savjetnica izv. prof. dr.sc. Ana Galov doc. dr. sc. Felix M. Wensveen doc. dr. sc. Sofia Ana Blažević (zamjena)

Prošireni sažetak

Prevalencija debljine drastično je porasla u zadnjih par desetljeća te je postala veliki javnozdravstveni problem. Debljina uzrokuje brojne kliničke poremećaje i povećava rizik za razvoj inzulinske rezistencije koja doprinosi razvoju metaboličkog sindroma (Stevens et al., 2012). Metabolički sindrom je skupina metaboličkih poremećaja poput povišene razine glukoze u krvi, dislipidemije te hipertenzije što može dovesti do razvoja kardiovaskularnih oboljenja, dijabetesa tipa 2, s pridruženim komorbiditetima i komplikacijama, te nealkoholne masne bolesti jetre. Bitna podloga za razvoj inzulinske rezistencije leži u kroničnoj sistemskoj upali niskog intenziteta. Dugotrajna prisutnost proupalnih citokina u krvi uzrokuje oslabljen prijenos signala putem inzulinskog receptora u tkivima koja su osjetljiva na djelovanje inzulina, kao što su masno tkivo, jetra i mišići (Rui et al., 2002). Danas se zna da je masno tkivo glavni izvor sistemske upale povezane s debljinom.

Ono što se kolokvijalno naziva masno tkivo zapravo sačinjavaju različite nakupine tkiva koji imaju različitu ontologiju i funkciju (Sanchez-Gurmaches et al., 2016). Bijelo masno tkivo se nalazi na raznim mjestima u tijelu. Jedan dio se nalazi pod kožom i čini potkožno ili supkutano masno tkivo, dok se visceralno masno tkivo nalazi u trbušnoj šupljini (npr. omentum) i može oblagati mezenterij i bubrege (Sethi and Vidal-Puig, 2007). Za razvoj metaboličkog sindroma, posebno je bitno visceralno masno tkivo (engl. *Visceral adipose tissue*, VAT) koje kao odgovor na pretilost nakuplja puno više upalnih stanica imunološkog sustava nego potkožno masno tkivo (Sluik et al., 2011).

Čak i u uvjetima normalne prehrane, i unatoč činjenici da nema ulogu tkivne barijere, visceralno masno tkivo naseljeno je s mnogim imunosnim stanicama. Većina tih stanica ima protuupalni ili Th2 fenotip koji je karakteriziran proizvodnjom protuupalnih citokina (Lumeng et al., 2007). U normalnom masnom tkivu, makrofazi su dominantna populacija imunosnih stanica, a većina tih stanica su M2 tipa ili tzv. alternativno aktivirani fenotip, eksprimiraju arginazu koja razgrađuje arginin i time inhibira aktivnost inducibilne dušik oksid sintetaze (iNOS) te proizvode protuupalne molekule, kao što su interleukin (IL-) 10 i antagonist IL-1 receptora (IL-1Ra) (Molofsky et al., 2013). Tkivno-rezidentni makrofazi masnog tkiva kod miševa normalne tjelesne težine održavaju se u ovom stanju od strane T-pomoćničkih stanica tipa 2, adipocita i stromalnih stanica koji proizvode protuupalne citokine (Barnes et al., 2015).

Kao odgovor na akumulaciju masti u adipocitima, profil imunosnih stanica u VAT-u bitno se mijenja. Kod ljudi, dakako, teško je odrediti početak debljanja, ali zato su mišji modeli veoma pomogli razjasniti ponašanje imunosnih stanica u ranima fazama debljanja. Jedan od najčešće korištenih modela za pretilost, i posljedičnu inzulinsku rezistenciju, je mišji model dijetom inducirane debljine sa visoko-kalorijskom prehranom bogatom mastima (eng. *High-fat diet*, HFD). Rane faze HFD-a karakterizirane su povećanjem količine masti po adipocitu i akumulacijom imunosnih stanica koje su u početku ograničenog upalnog kapaciteta. U istraživanjima na tom modelu, pokazalo se da u prvim tjednima od početka HFD-a dolazi dok nakupljanja neutrofila, makrofaga i prirodnoubilačkih stanica NK (engl. *Natural killer cell,* NK) u VAT-u (Wensveen et al., 2015).

Iako nakupljanje makrofaga predisponira upalu u masnom tkivu, ipak sama za sebe nije dovoljna. Potrebno je stvoriti proupalne makrofage, pomoću različitih citokina, da bi oni sami mogli proizvoditi proupalne citokine (Goldszmid et al., 2012). Ovo zapravo znači da se stres u masnom tkivu detektira od strane nekih drugih stanica, a ne makrofaga. Te stanice onda prevode taj stresni signal i omogućuju polarizaciju prema M1 proupalnim makrofazima. Naša grupa je nedavno pokazala da stanice NK mogu imati tu ulogu posrednika (Wensveen et al., 2015). Stanice NK nadziru naše tijelo pregledavajući tkiva u potrazi za stanicama koje su inficirane, transformirane ili pak na drugi način "stresirane". Naoružane su različitim aktivirajućim i inhibirajućim receptorima koji su kalibrirani kako bi detektirali znakove citopatologije, ali istovremeno osiguravajući toleranciju vlastitih tkiva (Vivier and Ugolini, 2011). Pretili adipociti potiču povećanu ekspresiju liganada na svojoj površini koji aktiviraju NK-stanični receptor NKp46. Aktivacija receptora stanica NK stimulira proliferaciju i proizvodnju citokina interferona gamma (IFNy) koji dalje pokreće pretvorbu makrofaga i promovira razvoj inzulinske rezistencije. Nedostatak stanica NK, receptora NKp46 ili IFNy smanjuje nakupljanje proupalnih makrofaga u VAT-u i značajno poboljšava osjetljivost tkiva na inzulin (Wensveen et al., 2015).

Osim stanica NK, druge stanične populacije su sposobne detektirati stanični stres koji se događa u VAT-u. Dokaz tome je deplecija stanica NK koja odgađa konverziju makrofaga u proupalni fenotip i razvoj inzulinske rezistencije, ali ju ne sprječavaju u potpunosti. Stoga, moraju postojati još neke stanice u masnom tkivu koje prevode stanični stres adipocita prema makrofazima. VAT sadrži veliki broj drugih stanica urođene imunosti, kao što su stanice $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T. Iako su neka istraživanja pokazala da postoji uloga za ove stanice u prepoznavanju stresa u debljini njihovi aktivirajući ligandi i mehanizami njihovog sudjelovanja su i dalje nepoznati. Još bitnije, jedan od glavnih načina na koji se gleda sudjeluju li neke stanice u razvoju dijabetesa tipa 2 je kroz promjenu broja stanica te populacije. Međutim, većini tkivno specifičnih imunosnih populacija broj se ne mijenja drastično, već imaju ulogu u aktivaciji drugih stanica kroz proizvodnju citokina (Walker et al., 2013). Dakle, njihova uloga se često

može previdjeti ako se samo fokusira na broj stanica, a ne na efektorske molekule koje proizvode.

U sklopu ovog istraživanja vidjeli smo su $\gamma\delta$ limfociti T prisutni u velikom postotku u masnom tkivu u odnosu na druga tkiva te da se njihov broj povećava s primjenom HFD-a. Ovo bi moglo biti od velike važnosti s obzirom da ove stanice imaju obilježja urođene i adaptivne imunosti i jedne su od prvih staničnih populacija koje proizvode proupalni citokin IL-17 kao odgovor na stresne uvjete. Međutim, moji podaci upućuju na to da odsutnost $\gamma\delta$ T stanica u prvih nekoliko tjedana nema bitnu ulogu u progresiji upale, već na homeostazu masnog tkiva. Naime, u razdoblju od samo tri tjedna na HFD-u, opaženo je povećanje mase tijela i povećanje težine visceralnog masnog tkiva kod životinja bez $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T. Moguće je objašnjenje da IL-17A ima dvostruki učinak - jedan u homeostazi masnog tkiva, a drugi u disfunkciji adipoznog tkiva u pretilosti.

Danas se zna da je za razvoj NASH-a iz steatoze jetre, pored sistemske kronične upale i IR koje su povezane s VAT-om, neophodan i razvoj lokalnog upalnog procesa u jetri. Uslijed epidemije pretilosti, nealkoholna masna bolest jetre javlja se u jednoj trećini pretilih u razvijenim (zapadnim) zemljama (Younossi et al., 2016). Bitan je uzrok morbiditeta i mortaliteta te se smatra jetrenom manifestacijom metaboličkog sindroma. NAFLD predstavlja širok spektar bolesti jetre od jednostavne steatoze do steatohepatitisa (sa ili bez fibroze) koja može napredovati do ciroze i gubitka funkcije jetre bez konzumacije alkohola u količinama štetnim za jetru ili drugih rjeđih uzroka jetrene steatoze (Chalasani et al., 2018). Iako NAFLD, odnosno sama bolest jetre bez vaskularnih komplikacija ima relativno benignu prognozu, kod jedne petine oboljelih, bolest napreduje do NASH-a. Trećina bolesnika s NASH-om kroz 5 do 10 godina razvije cirozu jetre, a četvrtina bolesnika s cirozom jetre razvije komplikacije u smislu portalne hipertenzije i hepatocelularnog karcinoma (Younossi et al., 2016).

Mehanizmi koji su upleteni u patogenezu NASH-a nisu u potpunosti razjašnjeni. "Hipoteza dva udarca" je jedna od trenutno prihvaćenih hipoteza. Za uspostavu NASH-a, prvi udarac" je nakupljanje masti u adipocitima, uglavnom u obliku triglicerida. To je uzrokovano neravnotežom dva metabolička puta; prvog koji se odnosi na unos i sintezu te drugog koji potiče oksidaciju i izvoz masnih kiselina od strane hepatocita. Predloženo je da je inzulinska rezistencija najbitniji faktor u akumulaciji lipida i razvoju jetrene steatoze. IR dovodi do povišenja razine glukoze u krvi, periferne i hiperinzulinemije. Lipoliza zatim povećava razinu cirkulirajućih slobodnih masnih kiselina što uzrokuje njihovo povećano spremanje u hepatocite. Hiperinzulinemija pojačava jetrenu sintezu slobodnih masnih kiselina kroz povećanu glikolizu, smanjujući mogućnost da se trigliceridi reesterificiraju i izađu van te na taj način pogoduje nakupljanju triglicerida u hepatocitima (Mehta et al., 2002). Kao posljedica jetrene steatoze, hepatociti postaju osjetljivi na oksidativni stres što je vjerojatno uzrok progresije bolesti od jednostavne steatoze do steatoze povezane s upalom i fibrozom. Dakle, predloženo je da je oksidativni stres "drugi udarac" (Rolo et al., 2012). Međutim, specifična uloga lokalnih imunosnih stanica i citokina u indukciji i progresiji upale jetre je još uvijek nedovoljno razjašnjena.

Upala jetre u kontekstu NASH uglavnom je praćena mononuklearnim infiltratom (Kupfferove stanice, monociti). Međutim, $\gamma\delta$ limfociti T su također brojni u jetri te se njihov broj i funkcija znatno mijenjaju kod bakterijskih ili virusnih upala jetre (Papotto et al., 2017). U ovom istraživanju sam pokazala da su u našem modelu masne bolesti jetre, $\gamma\delta$ limfociti T aktivirani u ranoj fazi razvoja NAFLD-a i da je proupalni citokin IL-17A proizveden od ovih stanica važan za razvoj upale jetre i fibroze. Također, pokazala sam da IL-17A nije važan za aktivaciju monocita i neutrofila, već je vjerojatnije da IL-17A ima izravan utjecaj na neke druge stanice. Dodatno sam pokazala da je u našem modelu povećana ekspresija mRNA liganda NKG2D te da je stimulacija kroz NKG2D glavni aktivirajući faktor koji je doprinio proizvodnji IL-17A od strane jetrenih $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T.

Ukratko, moje istraživanje je pokazalo da su $\gamma\delta$ T stanice imunosne stanice koje povezuju stanični stres uzrokovan viškom hranjivih tvari u ranom stadiju razvoja NAFLD. Ovaj proces je posredovan NKG2D induciranom IL-17A proizvodnjom pomoću $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T. Stoga, blokiranje NKG2D ili IL-17A signalizacije može biti od velike važnosti za sprječavanje prijelaza iz jednostavne steatoze u NASH i razvoja fibroze.

Table of contents

1.	INT	RODUCTION1
2.	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW
2	2.1	Obesity and metabolic syndrome
2	2.2	Diabetes mellitus type II and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
	2.2.	1 Insulin signalling and insulin resistance7
	2.2.2	2 Obesity and inflammation
	2.2.3	3 Development of NAFLD
	2.2.4	4 Role of liver cells in the NASH development
2	2.3 Im	mune sensing of cellular stress and initiation of inflammation
	2.3.	1 Sterile inflammation in obesity
	2.3.2	2 Immune sensing of metabolic stress
3.	MA	TERIALS AND METHODS
3	5.1	Materials
	3.1.	1 Laboratoratory mice
	3.1.2	2 Buffers and cell culture mediums
	3.1.3	3 Antibodies
	3.1.4	4 Stimulating reagents
3	8.2	Methods
	3.2.	1 Laboratory mice genotyping
	3.2.2	2 Dietary models
	3.2.3	3 Immune cell isolation protocols
	3.2.4	4 Cell counting
	3.2.5	5 Flow cytometry
	3.2.0	5 Stimulation assays
	3.2.7	7 Quantitative RT–PCR
	3.2.8	8 Histology

	3.2.9	Excision of visceral adipose tissue from live mice (VATectomy)44		
	3.2.10	Image J analysis		
	3.2.11	Data analysis and statistics		
4.	RESUL	ТЅ		
4	.1 Rol	e of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT inflammation		
	4.1.1	Characterization of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT		
	4.1.2	High-fat diet increases production of IL-17A in VAT		
4	.2 Rol	e of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in liver inflammation		
	4.2.1	SSD model of NAFLD reflects clinical disease progression		
	4.2.2	Hepatic inflammation is a trigger for development of NASH in SSD model56		
	4.2.3	$\gamma\delta$ T cells produce IL-17A in liver as an early response to SSD		
	4.2.4	IL-17A plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis		
	4.2.5	γδ T cells and NKG2D promote liver fibrosis		
5.	DISCUSSION			
6.	CONCLUSIONS			
7.	LITERATURE			
8.	LIST OF FIGURES, TABLES AND ABBREVIATIONS106			
9.	CURRICULUM VITAE			
10.	PUBLICATIONS			

1. INTRODUCTION

In last four decades, the worldwide incidence of obesity has nearly tripled. A recent World Health Organization (WHO) report has shown that in 2016, around 2 billion adults were overweight and roughly one third of them were obese and it is expected that these figures will increase in the forthcoming years (WHO, 2017). The Croatian population appears to follow this global trend. Approximately 25 % of men and around 35 % of women in Croatia are overweight or obese (Medanić D, 2012). Currently, obesity is the fifth leading cause of global deaths with around 3 million people dying each year due to complications resulting from being obese or overweight. Even more concerning is the fact that over 340 million children are overweight or obese which makes them more likely to develop cardiovascular diseases and diabetes and at a younger age. Obesity can therefore be considered as one of the most important health challenges of 21st century (Medanić D, 2012; WHO, 2015).

Obesity is connected with a large number of comorbidities including insulin resistance (IR), increase in blood pressure, blood sugar levels and triglycerides and decrease in highdensity lipoprotein levels (Grundy et al., 2004). Clustering of at least three of the five mentioned symptoms leads to a condition called metabolic syndrome (MetS). Importantly, metabolic syndrome is recognized as an important risk factor for the development of diabetes mellitus type 2 (DM2) and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (Harley et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2010). According to recent estimates, in 2015 one quarter of the United States population had metabolic syndrome. MetS was indirectly responsible for a loss of around \$ 38 billion due to reduced labour productivity in the USA alone (Danaei G, 2011). It is considered that these numbers are similar in the European Union (WHO, 2017).

An important underlying cause of obesity-induced insulin resistance and DM2 is chronic low-grade systemic inflammation. The long-term presence of proinflammatory cytokines in the blood blunts the signal transduction capacity of the insulin receptor in insulin-sensitive tissues (Neels and Olefsky, 2006). Obesity-induced systemic inflammation is thought to originate predominantly in visceral adipose tissue (VAT), which is why an important part of this thesis is focused on this organ. Despite the fact that VAT does not have a barrier function, it is populated with a surprisingly large number of immune cells even under lean conditions. The majority of these cells have an anti-inflammatory or Th2 type, characterized by antiinflammatory cytokines (Lumeng et al., 2007). However, the immune cell profile of VAT changes significantly in response to fat accumulation in adipocytes. With an increasingly obese population NAFLD has become the leading cause of chronic liver disease in western countries (Younossi et al., 2016). Even though NAFLD, without vascular complications, has a relatively benign prognosis, somewhere around 20% of patients with fatty liver eventually develop NASH that can lead to the development of liver cirrhosis within five to ten years. It is now commonly accepted that for the transition from simple steatosis to NASH, apart from chronic systemic inflammation and IR that start in VAT, liver inflammation is also crucial (Tosello-Trampont et al., 2012). As in adipocytes, accumulation of lipids in hepatic cells leads to metabolic and oxidative stress, which induces local immune activation and inflammation.

This thesis starts from the **hypothesis** that obesity is associated with inflammatory responses in liver and VAT and that the innate immune system is important for induction of these inflammatory processes. The innate immune system initiates inflammatory processes in response to diet induced stress signals and eventually lead to the development of DM2 and NASH.

The general objective was to characterize interactions of $\gamma\delta$ T cells with lean and obese adipose and hepatic tissues and determine their role in the development of obesity-induced metabolic disease.

Specific objectives were:

- I. **Identification of new stress induced molecules** in adipose tissue and liver that activate innate immune cells in murine model of diet induced obesity
- II. Characterization of innate immune cells and their cytokine profiles that respond to these stress induced molecules, to promote VAT and liver inflammation in diet induced obesity
- III. Block interaction between stressed adipocytes and hepatocytes with the innate immune system in order to prevent obesity-induced inflammation, insulin resistance, DM2 and NASH development.

The **goal** of this thesis was to demonstrate that cell stress-induced molecules are important for activation of immune cell subsets and that cytokines that these cells produce are responsible for the initiation of inflammation in DM2 and NASH in obesity. Altogether, by generating relevant high-impact data this thesis might help to define new targets for therapy of DM2 or NAFLD patients.

In humans, the onset of obesity is difficult to characterize. However, mice models have helped much to analyse the first phases of immune cell behaviour following adipose tissue expansion. Diet induced obesity (DIO) is the most commonly used animal model for the induction of obesity and obesity-induced pathology. By using HFD and modified high calorie diet model called steatosis-steatohepatitis diet (SSD) (Clapper et al., 2013) I was able to follow the development of DM2 and NAFLD, respectively. Identification of new stress-induced molecules was conducted by qPCR. Characterization of immune cells and their cytokine profiles in VAT and liver was done by flow cytometry. Blocking interactions between stressed adipocytes and hepatocytes with the innate immune system was done by conditional depletion of receptors with the help of established Cre-loxP system.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Obesity and metabolic syndrome

Body mass index (BMI) is a simple index of weight-for-height that is currently used to classify overweight and obesity in adults. Of all the known metrics, the body mass index is most closely connected with the amount of excess fat in the body. It is calculated by dividing person's weight in kilograms by the square of his height in meters ($BMI = \frac{weight (kg)}{height (m^2)}$). There are four categories: underweight (BMI from 15 to 19.9), normal (BMI from 20 to 24.9), overweight (BMI from 25 to 29.9) and obese (BMI 30 to 35 or greater). The values of the recommended BMI are the same for both sexes; they range from 18.5 to 24.9 kg / m² according to the WHO classification for the European population (Nuttall, 2015). In the last 30 years, the percentage of adults with a BMI higher than 25 kg / m² increased around 20 % in both men and women. Currently, the total number of adults who are obese or overweight in the world is greater than that of normal-weight adults and adverse health consequences of obesity represent greater threats for public health than hunger or malnutrition (Nuttall, 2015).

Obesity is a complex medical condition, characterized by an increased accumulation of fat. Fat is mainly stored in adipocytes in adipose tissue, however, it can also be found in other organs including liver and muscles. The accumulation of fat develops under the influence of genetic and metabolic factors, but most importantly by unhealthy life habits. The most frequent cause of obesity is therefore a chronic energy imbalance. Increased intake of high caloric food rich in fat and refined sugar with reduced physical activity generates surplus of energy that is stored in the body in the form of fat (Heymsfield and Wadden, 2017). Based on the anatomic location of adipose tissue accumulation, there are two types of obesity: subcutaneous and visceral. Subcutaneous obesity is more common in women and it is characterized by excess of subcutaneous fat located around the hip and thighs ("pear - like" body shape). In visceral obesity fat is concentrated in the abdominal region ("apple - like" body shape) and is more common in men (Nguyen-Duy et al., 2003; Wajchenberg et al., 2002). More importantly, VAT is connected to worse clinical prognosis (Nguyen-Duy et al., 2003).

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a disorder connected to obesity prevalence. As the commonness of obesity rises, the predominance of MetS increases in parallel. The exact numbers are similar like in obesity, somewhere between 20 - 30 % of the population is affected in the middle and older age. Studies indicate that the prevalence of MetS in persons younger

than 30 is 6.7 %, while in persons between 60 and 69 years it is rising to 43.5 % (O'Neill and O'Driscoll, 2015).

WHO first time defined MetS in 1998 as "glucose intolerance, impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or diabetes mellitus (DM), and/or insulin resistance, together with two or more of the components listed below:

- Raised arterial pressure, i.e., $\geq 140 / 90 \text{ mm of Hg}$
- Raised plasma triglyceride (≥ 150 mg/ dl) and/or low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) (< 35 mg / dl in men and < 39 mg / dl in women)
- Central obesity, i.e., $BMI > 30 \text{ kg} / \text{m}^2$
- Microalbuminuria, i.e., urinary albumin excretion rate ≥ 20 µgm / minute or albumin / creatine ratio ≥ 30 µgm / mg" (WHO, 1999)

Abdominal adiposity and insulin resistance, as a result of obesity, seem to be at the basis of the MetS pathophysiology and its individual components. Even though not all obese persons are metabolically unhealthy, substantial number of them are insulin resistant (Stefan et al., 2008). Under normal conditions, insulin inhibits adipose tissue lipolysis. However, in the setting of insulin resistance, insulin is unable to properly suppress lipolysis, resulting in relatively more free fatty acids (FFA) being liberated into the plasma (Eckel et al., 2005). In the liver of IR patients, FFA influx is high and it impairs hepatic insulin action, increases triglyceride synthesis and storage. Since excess of triglycerides is secreted as very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) triglycerides, it is considered that the dyslipidaemia associated with IR is a direct consequence of increased VLDL secretion by the liver (Ginsberg et al., 2005).

One of the first observations regarding the clustering of metabolic disorders in MetS was the connection of these features with an increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes [28]. In fact, obesity, IR and dyslipidaemia precede the progression to DM2 in around 80 % of individuals (Lebovitz, 1999). Additionally, many studies have shown that people with MetS have fatty liver (especially in obesity) which can progress to NAFLD (Bloomgarden, 2007). This has been explained by the fact that deposition of fat in the liver is mainly the result of high FFA influx to the liver, due to increased lipolysis connected with IR but as well as increased liver lipogenesis (Kotronen et al., 2007). Interestingly, pervasiveness of NAFLD is around 25 % in the general population, but it has been suggested that 95 % of obese individuals and up to 70 % of those with DM2 have some form of NAFLD. Thus, a common pathophysiology appears to underlie metabolic syndrome, DM2 and NAFLD in the context of obesity.

2.2Diabetes mellitus type II and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Diabetes mellitus type II

Obesity has an adverse effect on organs with endocrine and metabolic functions such as fat tissue, liver, pancreas and muscles (Shoelson et al., 2007). Maybe the most important complication of obesity is development of IR. IR induces a reduced glucose transportation to the cells of fat, muscle and liver and as a result glucose levels rise. In parallel, there comes to a release of FFA from fat due to impaired ability of insulin to prevent it. Pancreatic beta (β -) cells try to make up for reduced insulin sensitivity through higher insulin production. As IR progresses, pancreas is not capable to produce sufficient amount of insulin to decrease glucose levels leading to hyperglycaemia and hyperlipidaemia. With time, β -cells exhaustion and dysfunction occur leading to the relative insulin deficiency, a key hallmark of DM2. This is opposite to diabetes mellitus type 1 (DM1). DM1 is an autoimmune disease that commonly affects children and it is caused by an absence of insulin production due to ablation of pancreatic β cells (Polonsky et al., 1996). People with DM2 comprise around 90 % of all diabetes cases (Odegaard and Chawla, 2012). Individuals with DM2 are at high risk for numerous micro- and macro-vascular complications, like diabetic retinopathy, kidney failure, heart disease and deficient blood circulation in the extremities that can lead to amputation (WHO, 2013). The acute complications due to ketoacidosis, characteristic for DM1, are relatively rare. However, a hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state may occur.

For the diagnosis of diabetes, doctors most often use the fasting plasma glucose (FPG) levels, oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) or the glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) levels. The WHO definition of diabetes is either an FPG \geq 7.0 mmol / 1 or plasma glucose levels \geq 11.1 mmol / 1 two hours after the OGTT, measured on two separate occasions. Another method of diagnosing diabetes includes random blood glucose value \geq 11.1 mmol / 1 together with typical symptoms or levels of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) greater than 48 mmol / mol.

Main characteristic of DM2 is insulin insensitivity as a consequence of IR, decreased insulin production and failure of pancreatic β -cells. The first phase of diabetes development comprises a long period when IR starts, which is compensated by elevated levels of insulin and an increase in the mass of pancreatic β -cells (Polonsky et al., 1988). The second phase is the adjustment stage when β -cells can not completely make up for the increased IR. This results in slightly increased FPG levels. This period probably begins when FPG levels are inside the normal range (around 5.6 mmol / L) and is followed by a decline in postprandial insulin secretion (Weir and Bonner-Weir, 2004). Therefore, the first and second stages in this manner

happen before the prediabetic stage. In the third phase, the β -cells can no longer compensate for IR and subsequently glucose values begin to rise rapidly. This period marks the transition from prediabetes to diabetes.

Before an individual develops DM2, people may suffer for years to decades from prediabetes (or "transitional hyperglycaemia"), a state where glycaemic parameters are above ordinary but beneath diabetes threshold values. Prediabetes is considered a high-risk state for diabetes development with a conversion rate of around 5 - 10 % per year. However, for some individuals with prediabetes, initial use of medications can reverse blood glucose values to the normal range.

2.2.1 Insulin signalling and insulin resistance

Insulin binding to the insulin receptor causes activation of very complex signalling cascades. Insulin receptor activation causes phosphorylation of several proteins, most notably Insulin receptor substrate 1-4 (IRS1-4), Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src and Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 (Grb-2). Phosphorylation of IRS-1 or IRS-2 provides docking sites for the Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway (PI3K) and phosphorylation of Grb-2 activates Ras and leads to the activation of the Mitogen-activated protein kinase (RAS-MAPK) pathway. PI3K products are phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP2) and phosphatidylinositol triphosphate (PIP3) which provides docking sites for phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 (PDK1) and Protein kinase B (PKB or Akt). This close vicinity binding enables that PDK1 phosphorilates Akt. Phosphorilation of Akt has a key role in uptake of glucose in adipocytes and skeletal muscle cells but also in activation of other pathways that lead to glycogen synthesis, lipogenesis, inhibition of lipolysis in fatty tissue and liver, and inhibition of liver gluconeogenesis. The RAS-MAPK signalling pathway mediates the effects of insulin on mitosis, cell growth and differentiation (Saltiel and Kahn, 2001).

IR is the result of reduced signalling via insulin receptors in tissues important for glucose homeostasis. It is manifested in reduced glucose uptake, unsuccessful restriction of hepatic gluconeogenesis and uncontrolled hydrolysis of triglycerides in fat tissue, leading to elevated glucose and fatty free acids levels (Vrhovac, 2008). IR is initially compensated by an increase in insulin production in the pancreatic Langerhans islets. However, endoplasmic reticulum stress and metabolic overload of mitochondria, eventually lead to β cell failure and hypo-insulinemia (Muoio and Newgard, 2008). Various molecular mechanisms have been shown to be involved in reduced insulin receptor signalling. Of these, proinflammatory

cytokines have been shown to be of particular importance, since they abrogate insulin signalling at several steps in the downstream insulin signalling cascade.

Inflammation can disrupt insulin receptor signalling via different transcription and posttranscription mechanisms. Serine kinases JNK and IKKβ, activated by inflammation, are able to phosphorylate IRS proteins at inhibitory sites, thus inhibiting downstream signalling. Salicylates, which inhibit the action of IKK β and cyclooxygenases, prevent the inhibitory phosphorylation of IRS-1, thus preventing IR (Gao et al., 2002; Ozes et al., 2001). Furthermore, NF-kB and AP-1 transcription factors can promote inflammation by inducing transcription of inflammatory genes as well as directly inhibit some parts of insulin signalling pathways. These inflammatory mediators can then promote the expression of suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS), proteins that bind to the insulin receptor and prevent the phosphorylation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 proteins (Figure 1) (Emanuelli et al., 2000; Ueki et al., 2004). Inflammation can also reduce insulin sensitivity by changing several metabolic pathways, resulting in the emergence of secondary messengers that promote development of IR. One example is TNF that promotes lipolysis in adipocytes resulting in increased levels of FFA, which reduce insulin sensitivity (Aggarwal, 2003). Furthermore, inflammatory signals induce the expression of genes important for lipid metabolism, including the enzyme involved in the synthesis of ceramides and sphingolipids, both of which inhibit insulin PKB activation (Holland et al., 2011).



Figure 1: Insulin signalling pathways linking inflammation and insulin resistance. Key branches of the insulin signalling cascade that are normally triggered by insulin. Activation of the Mitogen-activated protein kinase (RAS-MAPK) pathways is indicated in blue and PDK1 /

Akt pathway is in pink/purple. Specific sites that become phosphorylated (P) on insulin stimulation are indicated within grey circles. Red boxes and flat arrowheads represent recognized alterations of insulin signalling pathways in IR and DM2 subjects.

Under normal metabolic conditions, insulin regulates glucose disposal in peripheral tissues, like adipose tissue and skeletal muscles that store around 80 % insulin-stimulated glucose (Osborn and Olefsky, 2012). In addition, insulin takes part in lipogenesis and adipose tissue lipolysis (Frayn, 2001). However, both effects are impaired in IR suggesting that reduced insulin sensitivity of muscle and adipose tissue are very important in the formation of hyperglycaemia and hyperlipidaemia during diet-induced obesity.

2.2.2 Obesity and inflammation

Obesity and DM2 in humans and in mice is connected with chronic low-grade inflammation. This is mainly marked by high inflammatory gene expression as well as macrophage infiltration (D'Souza et al., 2013; Pascual et al., 2007).

In muscles, macrophages accumulate between the muscle fibers in the intercellular clusters of adipocytes ("crown-like structures") and around the blood vessels. These macrophages produce tumour necrosis factor (TNF) and other proinflammatory cytokines that can activate inflammatory signalling pathways in the myocytes, leading to reduced signalling via the insulin receptor (Martins et al., 2012; Turcotte and Fisher, 2008; DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009). However, whether muscle inflammation mediated by macrophages is functionally important for systemic IR is still unknown.

On the other hand, adipose tissue inflammation is recognized as a critical player in systemic IR through secretion of cytokines and FFAs that regulate hepatic, skeletal muscle, and vascular insulin signalling. Low-grade adipose tissue inflammation, as a result of obesity, is associated with infiltration and expansion of macrophages. These macrophages produce proinflammatory cytokines, among others TNF and interleukin (IL-) 1 β , that interfere with insulin signalling (Hotamisligil et al., 1993) and lead to a reduction in cells that promote adipose tissue homeostasis. Therefore, it is now obvious that VAT inflammation contributes to the development of DM2 but also to other obesity-induced conditions including NAFLD (Weisberg et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2003).

2.2.2.1 Visceral adipose tissue homeostasis

Formerly considered a static depot for energy storage, VAT is now recognized as an endocrine organ that has a crucial part in local and systemic homeostasis. It is now known that adipocytes have the capacity to produce and secrete many hormones termed 'adipokines' (Fain et al., 2004). Friedman's group was the first to discover leptin, an adipokine that is important for the adipose tissue-brain communication but also for the sustenance of energy homeostasis (Zhang et al., 1994). Chronically increased levels of leptin in obesity lead to an occurrence of central leptin resistance, further weight gain and accumulation of VAT immune cells (Haas et al., 2008; Tian et al., 2002). Adiponectin is another notable adipokine with opposing effects compared to leptin. It is an anti-inflammatory hormone that improves insulin sensitivity (Yamauchi et al., 2001) and low levels of adiponectin have been connected to development of MetS (Kadowaki et al., 2008).

Apart from adipocytes, VAT is composed of numerous different cell types. These cells are pre-adipocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells and immune cells. Specifically, immune cells participate in both, maintenance of proper VAT homeostasis and obesity-induced inflammation and development of IR. The status of tissue resident macrophages appears to be a crucial factor. Macrophages exist in various subtypes, with different phenotypes and functions (Gordon, 2007). 'M1' macrophages are known as proinflammatory. They can be activated through proinflammatory signals and molecules like lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or type 1 T-helper (Th1) cytokines like interferon (IFN) γ and TNF (Lumeng et al., 2007). Conversely, 'M2' (or alternatively activated) macrophage differentiation is induced by type 2 T-helper (Th2) cytokines like IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (Gordon and Martinez, 2010; Martinez et al., 2009) and they are the dominant population in lean adipose tissue. They express arginase-1 and are believed to be engaged in tissue repair through the generation of anti-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-1 receptor agonist or IL-10 (Lumeng et al., 2007) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Graphical representation of macrophage polarisation. Macrophage polarisation is a process finely regulated by environmental stimuli. Th1 cytokines or LPS drive the M1 macrophage phenotype. In the presence of Th2 cytokines, such as IL-4 and IL-13, monocytes differentiate into M2 macrophages. Macrophage polarisation between M2 and M1 subsets determines effector response as regulatory versus proinflammatory. M2 function is associated with expression of suppressive cytokines while M1 phenotype is connected with expression of proinflammatory cytokines.

Notably, under lean conditions, M2 macrophages have a major role in the inhibition of immune cell activation. In mouse studies, where adipose tissue macrophages failed to react to M2-polarizing stimuli because of genetic deficiency of cytokine receptors, an increase in production of TNF and IL-1 β was detected (Mauer et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2011). A similar anti-inflammatory role for M2 macrophages was observed in other tissues important for the control of glycemia, such as muscle and liver (Lumeng et al., 2008; Odegaard et al., 2007). The M2 phenotype of adipose tissue macrophages (ATMs) is preserved by various immune cells but also adipocytes. In lean VAT, the main source of IL-4 are eosinophils (Mauer et al., 2014). Either deficiency of these cells or hyper-eosinophilia in VAT, results in reduction or increase in the M2 numbers, respectively (Wu et al., 2011). Survival of VAT-resident eosinophils depends on IL-5, a cytokine that is primarily secreted by type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) (Molofsky et al., 2013). Removal of any segment of the ILC2 / eosinophil / M2 axis results in VAT inflammation and subsequent progression to obesity-induced development of IR. Therefore, this specific axis is one of the most important regulatory mechanisms of VAT homeostasis (Molofsky et al., 2015; Patsouris et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2011) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Adipose tissue homeostasis axis. Lean adipose tissue is populated by a type 2-polarised immune system. Dominant immune cell subsets are eosinophils, iNKT cells, and Treg cells, which produce Th2 cytokines. Adipocytes also contribute through the production of adiponectin. ILC2s regulate eosinophil numbers through the production of IL- 5. In addition to sustaining a type 2 immune cell environment, adipose tissue cells engage in extensive crosstalk to (re)model adipose tissue structure and phenotype. (Taken from (Wensveen et al., 2015))

Regulatory T cells (Treg) are also important for the prevention of macrophage polarisation. They secrete IL-4 and IL-10, the Th2 type cytokines, and are directly involved in control of macrophages and inhibition of VAT inflammation and insulin resistance (Ilan et al., 2010). Even though Tregs are one of the main populations in lean VAT, their number decrease with the development of obesity (Feuerer et al., 2009; Winer et al., 2011). Experimental depletion of Tregs in murine models of diet induced obesity, resulted in increased production of the proinflammatory cytokines RANTES, TNF and IL-6 and decreased insulin sensitivity (Feuerer et al., 2009).

Invariant-chain natural killer T (iNKT) represent an additional subset that preserves the M2 phenotype of macrophages in VAT through secretion of Th2 M2-polarizing cytokines. They are highly enriched in lean VAT but their number decreases in obesity (Lynch et al., 2009). Lack of iNKT cells causes reduction in cytokines levels of IL-4 and IL-13, along with an increase in M1 macrophage numbers (Mathis, 2013). Some studies report that iNKT can play a role in promoting IR in obesity (Wu et al., 2012), but the mechanisms through which iNKT cells induce inflammation in obesity are still not known.

2.2.2.2 Chronic low grade obese VAT inflammation

The early periods of diet induced obesity have been studied extensively in mice. The most frequently used model to provoke insulin resistance is DIO (Li et al., 2008). In this model 50 - 60 % of calories are derived from animal fat which results in the formation of IR and glucose intolerance after 10 - 12 weeks from the beginning of feeding. The early stages of DIO in VAT are characterized by an adipocyte hypertrophy and by aggregation of immune cells that have restricted proinflammatory capacity.

The first few days of DIO are marked by neutrophil accumulation and production of proteinase elastase (Talukdar et al., 2012). However, after a longer period of HFD feeding, neutrophils become a minor cell population in VAT. Still, it has been shown in 12 week-experiments of HFD feeding that the lack of elastase or its inhibition leads to improved insulin sensitivity in comparison to animals fed with a standard diet. The trigger for neutrophil accumulation in VAT is still not known, but in humans, intense lipid burden leads to an inflammatory boost that increases the levels of monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP-1) and C-reactive protein in VAT (Kanda et al., 2006). Alternately, DIO can induce intense changes in the adipose tissue microenvironment, for example, changes in oxygen consumption that can lead to expansion of pre-adipocytes (Netzer et al., 2015). This acute stress might take part in accumulation of neutrophils to VAT in first few days of HFD feeding.

Early DIO is further characterized by an increase of natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages in VAT. In contrast to neutrophil accumulation, infiltration and expansion of VAT NK cells and macrophages seems to be deferred, happening in weeks, instead of days after the beginning of DIO. While VAT neutrophils are believed to be essentially of peripheral origin (Talukdar et al., 2012), adipose tissue macrophages and NK cells seem to increase in part or totally due to proliferation of tissue resident cells (Kanda et al., 2006). HFD-fed animals pulsed with BrdU showed a significant increase in BrdU incorporation of VAT-resident NK cells compared to splenic NK cells (Wensveen et al., 2015). This suggested that the rise in numbers of NK cells is due to proliferation rather than ingress from the periphery. Increase in ATMs as a result of HFD seems to be more complicated. One study showed that local proliferation is the prevalent source of ATM increase (Kanda et al., 2006), while others claim that chemo-attractants in VAT are responsible for a major peripheral influx (Amano et al., 2014; Li et al., 2015). Likely, both ways contribute to the increase in ATM numbers in VAT in obesity.

Apart from the aggregation of proinflammatory cells in VAT, diet induced obesity is additionally connected with a decline in number of anti-inflammatory cells. Studies showed that in both humans and mice, VAT resident ILC2s are decreased in obese individuals, both in absolute numbers and per gram of fat tissue (Brestoff et al., 2015). This seems to be due to restriction of ILC2s to react to the IL-33 cytokine in the presence of IFN γ (Molofsky et al., 2015). Reduction in numbers of ILC2, results in decrease of IL-5, since they are the main producers of this cytokine. IL-5 is considered crucial for the maintenance of eosinophils, therefore their numbers also decrease (Molofsky et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2011). As mentioned previously, in response to DIO the number of Tregs declines and therefore their inhibitory capacity also decreases. The ensuing increase of VAT inflammation and subsequent systemic presence of proinflammatory cytokines greatly contribute to impairment of insulin signalling in VAT, muscle and liver (Feuerer et al., 2009; Vasanthakumar et al., 2015).

With the expansion of VAT mass, major changes also happen in adipokine production, which has an important effect on the immunological micro-environment in this tissue. Most importantly, production of adiponectin goes down, which leads to a decrease in glucose uptake and impairs suppression of immune cell activation. In obesity, adipocytes produce more leptin. The leptin receptor, otherwise called LEP-R or CD295, is present on great number of immune cells including NK cells, neutrophils and macrophages. As a result, increased adiposity locally stimulates the immune system. Apart from leptin, VAT also produces different adipokines that influence immune cells, most prominently IL-6 and MCP-1. MCP-1 chemokine attracts blood monocytes and T cells at the site of inflammation (Zietz et al., 2005). IL-6 has a versatile role in obesity and it shares some parallels with IL-33. Generally, it is thought to be a proinflammatory mediator and like in the case of MCP-1, its levels are increased in individuals with DM2 (Eder et al., 2009).

Even though accumulation of immune cells leads to inflammation of VAT, itself it is not enough for the immune cells activation. The most important thing in the initiation of VAT inflammation and advancement to IR is macrophage polarisation from an anti-inflammatory to proinflammatory-phenotype (Lumeng et al., 2007). Until 2015, the process of macrophage accumulation was still not clarified, and the assumption was that the macrophages enter VAT due to 'stress' signals coming from hypertrophic adipocytes (Neels and Olefsky, 2006; Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2003). In 2015, our group showed that VAT resident NK cells represent a crucial connection between obesity-induced adipose tissue stress and M1 polarisation of macrophages. We have shown in our research that obesity leads to the upregulation of NCR1 ligands on adipocytes and that these ligands are crucial for the activation of NK cells through

NCR1 activating receptor. This upregulation stimulates proliferation of NK cells and production of IFN γ that prompts the proinflammatory macrophages differentiation (Wensveen et al., 2015). These proinflammatory macrophages then become a dominant source of proinflammatory cytokines which can be detected in the blood of DM2 patients and are considered to have a major role in development of systemic IR (Lumeng et al., 2008) (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Model of adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. In response to HFD, adipocytes become hypertrophic and later hyperplastic. This is due to a shift in adipokine production from adiponectin to leptin/MCP- 1 and an increase in the number of ATMs, neutrophils, and NK cells in visceral fat. As obesity persists, adipocyte stress drives NK cell activation through NKp46, resulting in local production of IFN γ . This production of IFN γ licenses ATMs toward a proinflammatory M1 state. As a result, ATMs produce proinflammatory cytokines and recruit more proinflammatory cells, including CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and B cells, into the VAT to amplify the immune response. The chronic systemic presence of pro- inflammatory cytokines to the development of IR. (Modified from (Wensveen et al., 2015))

The later phases of VAT inflammation are well investigated (Donath and Shoelson, 2011; Johnson et al., 2012). Advanced obesity induces necrosis of adipocytes due to microhypoxia (Ye et al., 2007). As a consequence of necrotic cell death, danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) are released in the form of double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) or heat shock proteins (HSP) that drive activation of macrophages and further production of proinflammatory cytokines (Vandanmagsar et al., 2011). The ATMs activation and the resulting proinflammatory environment subsequently leads to recruitment of other proinflammatory cells mainly with a Th1 signature. Th1 effector T cells CD4 and CD8, together with B cells most greatly increase in later stages of VAT inflammation (Donath and Shoelson, 2011). These cells then become the main producers of IFN γ and they further stimulate ATM polarisation. Additionally, they play a part in development of chronic systemic inflammation by releasing cytokines like TNF. Eventually, the chronic release of these cytokines in the blood stream drives a development of systemic IR through dampening the signalling capacity of the insulin receptor in various different tissues (Rui et al., 2002).

In summary, one of the first steps in VAT inflammation is the expansion in cell numbers of VAT macrophages in response to HFD feeding. To obtain their pro-inflammatory potential, adipose tissue macrophages need to be licensed with the help of IFN γ that is derived from NK cells. This polarisation of VAT macrophages and the propagation of inflammatory environment drives the chronic systemic inflammation and increases the risk for the development of systemic insulin resistance. Nonetheless, whereas IFN γ deficiency and depletion of NK cells in VAT delays M1 ATM polarisation and insulin resistance development in response to HFD feeding, it does not prevent it altogether (Rocha et al., 2008; Wensveen et al., 2015). This data suggests that IFN γ is not the only cytokine involved in M1 polarisation and VAT inflammation, and that there must be an additional cell subset present in VAT that translates adipose tissue stress into an immunological signal towards macrophages.

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)

With an increasingly obese population, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has become the main cause of chronic liver disease in developed countries (Younossi et al., 2016). It is an important cause of morbidity and mortality and it is considered as a hepatic manifestation of MetS. NAFLD represents a broad spectrum of symptoms, starting from nonalcoholic fatty liver (NAFL) marked by simple steatosis to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) without alcohol consumption, or other viral or genetic cause of liver inflammation. Whereas NAFL is usually only associated with excess accumulation of fat (triglycerides) in liver, NASH is marked by hepatocyte injury and cell death together with lobular and portal inflammation that can advance to fibrosis. With progressive deposition of collagen, one third of patients suffering from NASH will develop liver cirrhosis within five to ten years after diagnosis and 25 % of them will develop liver portal hypertension and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (Chalasani, 2012; Younossi, 2015). Even though NAFL, without vascular complications, has a relatively benign prognosis, somewhere around 20 % of individuals with NAFL eventually develop non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Stages of liver damage in NAFLD. Histological sections illustrating normal liver, steatosis, NASH, and cirrhosis. The accumulation of triglycerides within hepatocytes causes steatosis. Steatosis accompanied by inflammation, apoptosis, and fibrosis is referred to as NASH. NASH can further progress to cirrhosis. Individuals with cirrhosis have an increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. (Modified from (Kwanten et al., 2014)).

The term NASH was first used in the 1980s to describe liver disease that looked exactly like alcoholic steatohepatitis but in patients without alcohol consumption. There are several histological features of NASH that are same as in alcoholic steatohepatitis (ASH), including hepatocyte ballooning, steatosis, inflammation and lobular fibrosis. However, in contrast to the increased alcohol consumption that starts and drives the progression of ASH, patients with NASH are usually obese, they have IR and do not abuse alcohol (Ludwig et al., 1980).

NAFLD is currently one of the leading causes of liver transplantation, and its prevalence is between 20 % and 33 % in the general population. An alarming fact is that NAFLD prevalence doubled in the past 20 years while the predominance of other chronic liver diseases stayed unchanged or diminished. Despite the rise in prevalence, NAFLD still remains insufficiently diagnosed and treated in routine medicine practice (Ahmed, 2015; Singh et al., 2015). The large number of NAFLD patients do not have any clinical symptoms and are diagnosed during systematic examinations or visits to a doctor for some other reason. One of the first signs of NAFLD in patients are asymptomatic elevation of one or more liver biochemical tests (AST, ALT, GGT or AF) and hepatomegaly. The occurrence of splenomegaly is the first sign of portal hypertension and advanced liver disease (Milic and Stimac, 2012). The aetiology of the disease is still not clear, but some well-known risk factors are visceral obesity, DM2 and insulin resistance and age above 45 years (Ahmed, 2015).

Research into NAFLD has been hampered by the availability of suitable preclinical models. Several genetic models are available, but their relevance for human disease has been questioned openly (Nowicka et al., 2017; Takahashi et al., 2012). The most widely used model for induction of insulin resistance in mice is administration of a diet containing a high content of saturated fat. This HFD model is able to induce severe steatosis after long-term feeding. Yet, HFD-feeding only causes a very mild inflammatory environment in the liver and no fibrosis. Others have used diets lacking choline or choline and methionine (MCD). Methionine and choline are essential for hepatic β-oxidation and production of VLDL (Anstee and Goldin, 2006). As a result, triglycerides accumulate in liver cells, causing steatosis, steatohepatitis and fibrosis within weeks. However, the MCD model does not cause metabolic syndrome but rather a decrease in body weight. Others have therefore combined the MCD and HFD models. Whereas MCD-HFD fed animals do develop both obesity and liver fibrosis, these two elements of metabolic disease are here mechanistically disconnected and are therefore of questionable relevance. Much about the molecular mechanism underlying liver fibrosis has been learned from administration of hepatotoxic compounds such as CCl4. Apart from fibrosis, this model

does not share any other aspects of NAFLD. Finally, *Amylin liver* dietary model of NASH containing 40 % fat, and 2 % cholesterol in the food together with 22 % fructose in drinking water, that imitates cafeteria diet, induced development of several NAFLD stages (NAFL, NASH and cirrhosis) confirmed by histology and biochemical methods (Clapper et al., 2013). However, the role of immune cells on liver inflammation was not investigated in this model.

The distinction between various models of liver fibrosis seems trivial, especially regarding aspects that are not directly related to liver damage. Indeed, all models for liver fibrosis share central aspects such as hepatic stellate cells (HSC) activation. However, from a clinical aspect it is crucial to understand the differences between these models, especially regarding the initiation of inflammation and the cellular composition of the inflammatory infiltrate.

2.2.3 Development of NAFLD

Until recently, NAFL was thought to be an inconsequential diagnosis since it was considered a benign change of liver parenchyma with negligible risk for progression to liver fibrosis or liver failure. Newer studies and meta-analysis showed that individuals with NAFL also have higher risk of progression to NASH and development of liver cirrhosis and HCC (Singh et al., 2015; Streba et al., 2015). The mechanisms involved in NAFLD pathogenesis are not completely understood. "The theory of the two hits" is one of the main hypotheses currently accepted. The first stage in the NAFLD development is evolution of liver steatosis and the second one is subsequent apoptosis of hepatocytes leading to hepatic inflammation and fibrosis (Sanches et al., 2015). More precisely, for NAFLD establishment, the "first hit" is lipid accumulation in hepatocytes, mainly in form of triglycerides. This is due to imbalance between two metabolic pathways; first one that promotes synthesis and the uptake of fatty acids by hepatocytes versus the one that promotes oxidation and export of fatty acids. It has been proposed that the most important cause for accumulation of lipids and development of hepatic steatosis is insulin resistance. Additionally, IR leads to peripheral lipolysis (especially in adipocytes due to hormone-sensitive lipase) and hyperinsulinemia. Lipolysis increases circulating free fatty acids and hepatic uptake of FFAs. Hyperinsulinemia intensifies hepatic fatty acids synthesis by inducing glycolysis and it favours the triglycerides accumulation inside the hepatocytes by reducing the ability of the liver to re-esterify and export triglycerides (Mehta, 2002). With the lipids accumulation, liposomes in hepatocytes increase in size and shape large vacuoles that are characteristic for liver steatosis. As a result of steatosis, hepatocytes develop vulnerability to oxidative stress.

Fatty acid oxidation happening in mitochondria leads to production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and induces the state of oxidative stress. In hepatic steatosis, inability of antioxidant reserves to eliminate accumulated ROS and further increased production of free radicals, leads to oxidative damage of DNA, lipids and proteins, as well as consequent apoptosis (Amano et al., 2014; Subramanian and Chait, 2012). ROS can also cause apoptosis of hepatocytes through lipid peroxidation of the cell membrane and induced expression of the Fas ligand. Since Fas receptor is usually expressed on normal hepatocytes, Fas ligands from one hepatocyte may interact with Fas ligand on another inducing hepatocyte apoptosis. Additionally, ROS can have a part in the gene regulation by encoding proinflammatory and pro-fibrogenic cytokines like TNF, transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) or IL-8. Therefore, oxidative stress has been suggested to be the "second hit" (Rolo, 2012) responsible for the progression from NAFL to steatosis marked with liver inflammation and fibrosis (Figure 6).

However, as in adipocytes, accumulation of lipids and oxidative stress in hepatocytes might induce activation of local immune cells and results in an inflammation that is a hallmark of NASH.

2.2.4 Role of liver cells in the NASH development

It is now commonly accepted that the local activation of the immune system in the liver is an important component of NASH. Fatty acids and DAMPs, released by apoptotic hepatocytes, can trigger inflammation in fatty livers through activation of inflammasomes (Mehal, 2014) and Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (Roh and Seki, 2013) and thereby stimulate the release of proinflammatory cytokines (Leroux et al., 2012; Tosello-Trampont et al., 2012). It is considered that recruited macrophages and tissue resident Kupffer cells are important effectors in the hepatic inflammation (Wehr et al., 2014) (Figure 6). Additionally, it was recently published that NKT cells and CD8⁺ T cells have an important part in macrophage recruitment and are emerging as contributors to progressive liver disease (Syn et al., 2010; Wolf et al., 2014). However, the central event in NASH is the progress to hepatic fibrosis, through activation of hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), as it predicts a poor outcome (Angulo et al., 2015; Heymann and Tacke, 2016).



Figure 6: Development of NAFLD and liver inflammation in obesity. Increased adiposity and VAT inflammation induce the release of FFAs and adipokines into circulation. On one hand they promote hepatic steatosis and on other they induce Kupffer cell stimulation. Cytokine release by Kupffer cells induce hepatic stellate cell activation which then in turn produce collagen fibers and induce fibrosis.

Below, I will briefly outline liver cell populations that play a part in development of inflammation and fibrosis.

Hepatic Stellate Cells

Hepatic stellate cells (or Ito's cells) are located in the space between parenchymal cells and liver sinusoides. In physiological conditions, they comprise around thirty percent of nonparenchymal liver cells and constitute the largest vitamin A deposit in the body. Their activation, proliferation and differentiation due to liver damage and inflammation is the direct cause of fibrosis. Activated HSCs express α -Smooth Muscle Actin (α -SMA) and produce collagen I α I and matrix metalloprotease inhibitors. Thus, at the same time they deposit the intercellular matrix and prevent its dissolution (Wallace et al., 2015). Platelet deriver growth factor (PDGF) and TGF- β derived from M2-activated Kupffer's cells and recruited monocytes are considered the key signals in HSC activation (Seki et al., 2007). Other activation signals include dying hepatocytes, paracrine and endocrine factors such as "hedgehog" ligand (derived from hepatocytes damaged by lipotoxicity), TNF- α , angiotensin II, IL-1, leptin, as well as metabolic factors like endoplasmic reticulum stress and exposure to ROS (Jiang et al., 2013). Inhibition of HSC activation can be induced by various immunological mediators such as IFN- α / β , adiponectin, IL-10 but also IFN γ .

Kupffer cells

Kupffer cells (KC), resident liver macrophages, make up to 15% of the weight of healthy liver and are considered to be the main cell subset of the innate immune system responsible for progression of NAFL to NASH (Heymann and Tacke, 2016). According to classical interpretation, Kupffer's cells, like all macrophages, exhibit two major subsets: proinflammatory M1 and immunomodulatory M2 that induces healing and fibrosis. These two polarized states are classically generated through differentiation in the presence of defined stimuli and it is now known that there is a significant phenotypic overlap between these two states. Polarisation towards an M1 phenotype is the early feature of NAFLD and it is characterized by high expression of Ly6C surface markers. Polarisation is triggered by DAMPs arriving from apoptotic hepatocytes or through IFN γ originating from NK cells. Activated KCs produce proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF, and IL-12 together with the chemokines CCL2 and CCL5 (Dixon et al., 2013). M1-polarized KCs recruit CD11b⁺ Ly6C^{hi} monocytes from peripheral blood through production of TNF- α and MCP-1, which further increases hepatic
levels of TNF-α, thereby initiating and amplifying inflammation in NASH. (Dixon et al., 2013; Meli et al., 2014).

In later stages of the disease, polarisation of macrophages goes towards an M2, Ly6C^{low} phenotype. For the progression of NASH to fibrosis, TGF- β produced by M2-polarized macrophages, is the key factor because it acts on HSC to produce collagen. Necrotic hepatocytes, along with other Th2 cytokine sources, stimulate the excretion of TGF- β by KCs. The effect of M2-polarized macrophages is seen through function of scar-associated macrophages (SAM), which, besides production of pro-fibrogene mediators PDGF and TGF- β , can also support scar resolution by production of matrix metalloproteases (Dixon et al., 2013; Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017).

<u>T cells</u>

As mentioned in the beginning, T cells are also involved in the progression of NASH. It was found that mice subjected to a high-fat high-carbohydrate diet model had increased infiltration of NKT and CD8⁺ T cells in the liver. Furthermore, depletion of these cells resulted in slower progression of NASH (Bhattacharjee et al., 2017). Flavell and his group then further showed that NKT cells mainly have a role in development of steatosis, while both CD8⁺ T cells and NKT cells mutually cause liver damage and promote NASH and HCC (Wolf et al., 2014).

During NASH, hepatic CD4⁺ T cells predominantly show Th1 and Th17 phenotypes. Presence of IL-12 can induce and activate Th1 CD4⁺ cells and once activated, they can produce TNF and IFN γ . However, a number of studies showed that there is a reduction in liver CD4⁺ T cells during diet-induced NAFLD and it is considered that this loss promotes the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (Rau et al., 2016; Weiskirchen and Tacke, 2016).

On the other hand, Th17 CD4⁺ cells are thought to promote NASH by numerous mechanisms, such as neutrophil activation and direct induction of pro-fibrogenic genes of HSC. During NASH, Th17 CD4⁺ cells are induced predominantly by IL-6, IL-21, IL-23 and TGF- β . They are characterized by the transcription factors ROR γ and STAT3 and by production of IL-17A, IL-21 and IL-22 (Tan et al., 2013). There have been several studies suggesting that the increase in the number of Th17 CD4⁺ cells in the liver reflects the progress of NAFL to NASH. Additionally, it has been shown that the production of IL-17A by Th17 CD4⁺ cells can induce expression of TGF- β , α -SMA, and collagen mRNA in HSCs, alluding that NASH is an IL-17A-driven fibrotic process (Chackelevicius et al., 2016; Gomes et al., 2016; Rau et al., 2016).

NK cells

In the context of NAFLD, NK cells appear to inhibit formation of fibrotic lesions through direct interactions with HSCs. Early HSC activation is marked by loss of MHC-I expression and conversion of stored retinol to retinoic acid, which drives expression of retinoic acid early inducible-1 (RAE-1) on the cell surface. RAE-1 is a ligand for an activating NK cell receptor natural killer group 2D (NKG2D). NK cells, activated by the NKG2D receptor, induce apoptosis of HSC through TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) (Suh and Jeong, 2011).

Apart from NKG2D, the NKp46 / NCR receptor has also been found to have a role in prevention of fibrosis development. It was shown that $DX5^+NKp46^+$ NK cells are increased during disease and that they promote macrophage polarisation to an M1-like phenotype, causing reduced activation of HSC (Tosello-Trampont et al., 2016). Furthermore, IFN γ production by activated NK cells can induce apoptosis and arrest cell cycle of HSC (Fasbender et al., 2016).

Even though in majority of cases a fatty liver remains free of inflammation, around 20 % of the patients who have NAFL develop inflammation and fibrosis. Liver inflammation and apoptosis are distinctive features of NASH, the progressive form of NAFLD. Although the pathophysiology and diagnosis of NASH have been thoroughly studied, much of the work has focused on immune cell mediated activation of hepatic stellate cells and how this promotes or impairs progression of fibrosis.

However, a major question is how immune cell activation is triggered in response to early NAFL and amplified in early stages of liver inflammation in NAFLD. Therefore, we believe that identification of the underlying mechanisms by which immune cells in the liver recognize cell damage signals and lead to their activation are crucial questions which still must be answered.

2.3 Immune sensing of cellular stress and initiation of inflammation

2.3.1 Sterile inflammation in obesity

There are different ways how cells respond to stress. Based on the nature and duration of the stress, cells can either activate survival pathways or initiate cell death that eventually eliminates stressed cells. Usually, the first answer to a stressful situation is regulated towards cell defence and recovery. However, if the stimulus remains unresolved, cells may activate death-signalling pathways. A third option is to signal stress to immune cells and let these highly specialized cells determine how the stress should be resolved. Other than its part in protection of cells, cell stress has a crucial role in host protection against various pathogens by induction of inflammation (Fulda et al., 2010). Apoptosis may be triggered directly by various stress factors, or indirectly through signalling stress to the immune system (Fulda et al., 2010).

Maybe one of the most difficult questions to answer is why obesity causes an inflammatory response. The capacity to store excess energy has been sustained through the course of evolution. Responding to nutrient storage through induction of inflammation is harmful to itself. It is hypothesized that this reaction occurs because the stress that is caused by obesity is similar to the stress caused by an infection. As a result, the body has the same reaction to the obesity as it would to an infection (Manna and Jain, 2015). For instance, it has been noticed that FFA and oxidative stress can induce activation of stress pathways JNK and IKK-NF-kB that have been known to be activated in infection. Additionally, during excessive fat storage in VAT or overloading of lipids in the liver, cells increase membrane lipid peroxidation or they trigger cell death. The outcome of these processes ends in the release of DAMPs and triggering the sterile inflammation (Furukawa et al., 2004). Also, in response to obesity, gut microbiota appears to provide microbial activators that belong to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Fleshner, 2013; Tilg and Kaser, 2011). Additionally, the perseverance of these signals may lead to a full inflammatory response that will induce tissue inflammation (Arrese et al., 2016). Therefore, much research in the last few decades was done on identification of innate immune receptors and intracellular signalling pathways that take part in initiation of inflammatory responses in obesity.

2.3.1.1 Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and their receptors

DAMPs are endogenous molecules that are normally found in cells, but under homeostatic conditions they are not exposed to immune cells. Also known as danger signals or alarmins, they are typically nuclear or cytosolic molecules that include heat-shock proteins, proteins derived from the injured tissue, proteins from high mobility group box-1 (HMGB1) but also DNA fragments, cytokine IL-1 α and ATP. They are released during necrosis, and can be recognized by immune cells that will initiate strong responses. Therefore, they are important for the start and progression of inflammation in response to infection, but also for sterile inflammation (Matzinger, 2007). In contrast, PAMPs are pathogen-derived and like DAMPs, structurally diverse. PAMPs include bacterial and viral components, like peptidoglycan parts of cell wall, nucleic acids or LPS (Seong and Matzinger, 2004). Both PAMPs and DAMPs are recognized by pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) that can be found on the surface of immune cells (Miyake, 2007) (Tsan and Gao, 2004).

Innate and innate-like immune cells like NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, macrophages and dendritic cells express on their cell surface PRRs, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs), and RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) [134, 135]. Upon recognition of PAMPs or DAMPs by PRRs, particular signalling pathways are activated, that lead to production and secretion of cytokines and chemokines that are essential for host defence [137]. Some of these include MAPK, NF- κ B or type I interferon pathways. These pathways initiate the release of IL-6, IL-8, IFN γ , TNF and other proinflammatory cytokines like IL-17A that ultimately activate the immune system and attract immune cells to the site of damage (Chen and Nunez, 2010). Since accumulation of fat in hepatocytes can induce necrotic cell death and release of DAMPs, and it is known that in obesity there is a gut-derived LPS present, this might be one of the ways how innate immune cells can be activated.

2.3.1.2 Induction of stress ligands

Induction of stress ligands is another way how cells can alert the immune system to danger. These proteins are not usually expressed in high levels on normal cells, however they can be upregulated on unhealthy cells due to malignancy, infection or other types of cellular stress (Shifrin et al., 2014). Accordingly, the recognition of induced self ligands ("induced self") is essential for surveillance of stressed cells that will results in their elimination (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2002). Activated NK cells or $\gamma\delta$ T cells can recognize these induced stress ligands by some of the activating receptors and eliminate the target cells (Born et al., 2013; Medzhitov and Janeway, 2002). Probably the most studied receptor involved in recognition of induced-self ligands is NKG2D receptor.

NKG2D is a C-type lectin-like receptor that can be found on surface of NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, activated CD8⁺ T cells or NKT cells. NKG2D recognizes ligands from MIC and ULBP / RAE1 family in humans and their orthologous subfamiles Rae-1, H60, and MULT-1 in mice. These ligands are induced during cellular stress, malignant transformation, senescence or infection (Jamieson et al., 2002) (Carapito and Bahram, 2015)(Figure 7).



Figure 7: Human and murine NKG2D ligands present on cell surface. Scheme showing all human and mouse NKG2D ligands identified to date. MICA/B and ULBPs are two genetic families of ligands for human NKG2D and Rae1, H60 and Mult1for murine NKG2D receptor. (Taken from Lanier, 2015)

In the context of diabetes, NKG2D has mostly been described in DM1 where it was shown that blocking of NKG2D prevented DM1 in NOD mice. In this research it was shown that RAE-1 ligands were present on pancreas islets and were destroyed by autoreactive CD8⁺

T cells (Ogasawara et al., 2004). One research dealt with the role NKG2D during the start of DIO, where they saw higher expression of RAE-1 ϵ ligand in VAT of obese mice. However, despite increased ligand expression, experiments done in mice deficient for NKG2D showed no difference in either IR or VAT inflammation compared to C57BL/6 (B6) wild type mice (Chung et al., 2014).

In the context of liver fibrosis, NKG2D has been shown to both promote and inhibit formation of lesions. On one hand, it was found that the level of MICA / B expression on hepatocytes positively correlates with activity of the Death receptor 5 (TRAIL-DR5) system, hepatocyte apoptosis and the degree of fibrosis in NASH patients (Fasbender et al., 2016). On the other hand, it was found that early-activated HSCs express RAE-1 which promotes NK cell activity in eliminating HSC, dependent on NKG2D and TRAIL, thereby limiting fibrosis (Gao, 2010; Radaeva et al., 2006). The differences are likely the result of different models use.

In addition to NKG2D ligands, many other stress ligands have been identified that interact with receptors on various immune cells. Of particular interest are ligands of the butyrophilin superfamily. Members of the Butyrophilin (Btn) and Btn-like (Btnl) family are relatively newly discovered immune regulators. The BTN and BTNL are structurally related to the family of B7 co-stimulatory molecules and several of human and murine BTN and BTNL family members have been reported to dampen or increase $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cell responses. Moreover, in humans it was shown that BTN3A1 has a role in the activation of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells through presentation of phosphoantigens, implying that BTNL molecules are involved in phosphoantigen sensing and have the capacity to regulate T cell-mediated immune responses (Bas et al., 2011; Chapoval et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2006; Vavassori et al., 2013). Additionally, few papers showed connection between BTNL family and inflammatory disorders (Fitzgerald et al., 2013; Mitsunaga et al., 2013; Pathan et al., 2009). It was also demonstrated that Btnl1 has a role in regulation of intraepithelial lymphocyte – epithelial cell interactions in the murine small intestinal mucosa and that in the complex with Btnl 6 selectively promotes increase in numbers of intraepithelial $V\gamma7V\delta4$ T cells in the absence of exogenous activation (Lebrero-Fernandez et al., 2016).

Since it has been shown that stress ligands can be induced in response to DIO, they might be important for early recruitment of cells and induction of inflammation in the context of NAFLD.

2.3.2 Immune sensing of metabolic stress

2.3.2.1 NK cells

NK cells are important sentinels of the body that can detect infected, transformed or otherwise 'stressed' cells. They have many different activating and inhibitory receptors that help them in detection of different signs of cytopathology while ensuring self-tolerance (Vivier E, 2011). As described previously in the text, our group recently discovered that NK cells also play a role in sensing of metabolic stress in adipose tissue (Wensveen, 2015). Importantly, depletion of NK cells in VAT delays M1 ATM polarisation and development of insulin resistance but does not prevent it altogether.

In addition to NK cells, there are several innate and innate-like immune cells present in VAT and liver that have the ability to detect cellular stress.

$2.3.2.2\,\gamma\delta$ T cells

 $\gamma\delta$ lymphocytes represent a group of T cells with characteristics of both innate and adaptive immunity. $\gamma\delta$ lymphocytes express a specific, but limited, type of T cell receptor (containing γ and δ chains instead of the usual α and β chains) (Figure 8.). In addition, they express innate immune receptors, such as TLR and NKG2D. $\gamma\delta$ T cells show a limited, but tissue specific repertoire based on V γ and V δ chain usage. While some $\gamma\delta$ T cells go to the LNs, the majority migrates to peripheral tissues. Once activated, they produce various proinflammatory cytokines. In mice, V γ 1 cells predominantly produce IFN γ , V γ 4 and V γ 6 cells produce IL-17, IL-21, IL-22 and TNF while V γ 5 cells produce IFN γ , TNF or IL-22.



Figure 8. $\gamma \delta 17$ T cell. Several surface receptors have been identified as being associated with IL-17-producing $\gamma \delta$ T cells.

In the context of obesity and DM2 development, it has been shown that obese TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice have significantly improved systemic insulin sensing and reduction in inflammation after 24 weeks of HFD feeding in comparison to wildtype (WT) animals (Mehta et al., 2015). However, since $\gamma\delta$ T cells are considered to be the first line of defence, it would be important to see what happens with them at the start of DIO.

Importance of hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the initiation of inflammation has also been recognized (Hammerich and Tacke, 2014). One study showed that liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be activated through lipid antigens bound to CD1d and that this activation can induce the production of IL-17A (Li et al., 2017). Additionally, in a dietary model rich in carbohydrates and fats it was noticed that TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice have increased body mass but significantly less inflammation when compared to the WT animals fed with the same diet. However, the possible mechanism of activation was not found (Hammerich and Tacke, 2014).

In summary, VAT and liver contain relatively large populations of innate and innatelike lymphocytes. Whereas their presence and sometimes role in development of inflammation has been acknowledged, their activating ligands remain elusive. Importantly, a primary way to identify immune cells that take part in the inflammation has been through measuring their numerical increase in response to DIO. However, tissue-resident immune cells that mediate early stress responses generally do not greatly expand, but rather recruit other immune cells through excretion of cytokines (Walker JA, 2013). Therefore, their role is easily overlooked when measuring cell numbers rather than effector molecules.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Laboratoratory mice

All animal experiments were undertaken in full compliance with Croatian Animal Ethical regulations ("Ordinance on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes", NN 55/2013, which is in accordance with Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament and of The European Council and "Law on animal protection" (NN 135/06, 37/13 and 102/17)) and under a project license to professor Bojan Polić.

The experimental mice used in this study were bred in conditions without the presence of specific pathogens (SPF) in the Laboratory of Mouse Engineering and Breeding Facility of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka (LAMRI). During the experiments, the mice were kept in the Experimental facility in individually ventilated cageing system (IVC system). All mouse strains used in this study were obtained by genetic modification of C57BL/6J mice. Experiments included 8-12 week-old (as indicated) mice and were age and gender matches within experiments.

The list of mouse strains used is shown in Table 1. Wildtype B6 mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory. B6 Klrk1^{-/-}, B6 Klrk1 flox (Lenartic et al., 2017; Zafirova et al., 2009) lines were generated and maintained at the Department of Histology and Embryology resource facilities. B6 LysM Cre (004781) were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory. B6 TCRdelta (TCR $\delta^{-/-}$) (002119) mice were kindly provided by professor Adrian Hayday (Itohara et al., 1993). B6 NCRCre-tg mice were kindly provided by professor Veronika Sex1 (Vienna, Austria) (Eckelhart et al., 2011). B6 IL-17RA flox mice were kindly provided by professor Rajewsky (Schwenk et al., 1995).

1	C57BL/6J	7	LysM ^{Cre}
2	TCRδ -/-	8	Del ^{Cre}
3	Klrk1 ^{-/-} (NKG2D ^{-/-})	9	IL-17RA ^{Δ/Δ}
4	Klrk1 ^{flox/flox}	10	LysM ^{Cre/+} IL17RA ^{flox/flox}
5	NCR1 ^{Cre}	11	NCR1 ^{Cre/+} Klrk1 ^{flox/flox}
6	IL-17RA ^{flox/flox}		

Table 1. Mouse strains used in experiments

3.1.2 Buffers and cell culture mediums

Dulbecco's modified eagle medium- DMEM

DMEM medium (Pan Biotech, GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), 3-10 % Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) (Pan Biotech), 10 mM HEPES (pH 7.2) (Pan Biotech), 2 mM L-glutamin, 10⁵ U / 1 Penicillin (Pan Biotech), 0.1 g / 1 Streptomycin (Pan Biotech)

Roswell park memorial institute medium - RPMI

RPMI medium (Pan Biotech), 3-10 % FCS (Pan Biotech), 10 mM HEPES (pH 7.2) (Pan Biotech), 2 mM L-glutamin (Pan Biotech), 10^5 U / 1 Penicillin (Pan Biotech), 0.1 g / 1 Streptomycin (Pan Biotech), β 2- mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, St. Louis, Missouri, USA)

Cell culture freezing medium

70 % RPMI medium (Pan Biotech), 20 % FCS (Pan Biotech), 10 % dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation)

Flow cytometry medium (FACS medium)

PBS, 1 % Bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA), 0.1 % sodium azide (NaN₃) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 1 mM Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation)

Red blood cell lysis buffer (10 x)

140 mM ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 2.7 mM potassium chloride (KCl) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 1.5 mM monopotassium phosphate (KH₂PO₄) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 6.5 mM disodium phosphate (Na₂HPO₄) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 0.7 mM Calcium chloride (CaCl₂) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation). For working solution (1X) dilute buffer with H₂O.

10 x PCR reaction buffer

200 mM Tris / HCl (pH 8.4) (Promega, Madison, Wisconsin, USA), 500 mM KCl (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation)

Percoll stock solution

54 ml Percoll (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK), 6 ml 10X phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Lonza Group, Basel, Switzerland)

Percoll 80%

40 ml Percoll stock solution, 10 ml 1 x PBS (Lonza Group,)

Percoll 40%

20 ml Percoll stock solution, 30 ml 1 x PBS (Lonza Group)

Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) buffer

PBS (Lonza Group), 1 % FCS (Pan Biotech), 2 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation).

Tail lysis buffer

100 mM Tris / HCl (pH 7.5) (Promega), 5 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 0.2 % (w / v) SDS (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 200 mM NaCl (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation). At the time of use, add 100 μ g / ml Proteinase K (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation) to 300 μ L of tail buffer.

TE buffer (Tris-EDTA buffer)

Melt 294.5 g sodium acetate in 500 ml H₂O, 1 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 10 mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0. Adjust pH with NaOH on 5.5 and add H₂O up to 1 L.

TAE buffer (Tris-acetat-EDTA pufer, 50x)

57.1 ml glacial acetic acid (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 242 g Tris base (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 100 ml 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), fill with qH_2O up to 100 ml.

Sodium Citrate Buffer

10 mM sodium citrate (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), 0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation), pH 6.0

1 % BSA - TBS Buffer

Tris-buffered saline (TBS) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation) with 1 % BSA (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for blocking

3.1.3 Antibodies

Flow cytometry was performed using the following antibodies, coupled to the indicated fluorochromes. Fluorophore-conjugated antibodies for mouse: CD3 FITC (OKT3); CD3 PerCP-Cyanine5.5 (SK7); TCR gamma/delta (eBioGL3 (GL-3)) Biotin; TCR gamma/delta (eBioGL3 (GL-3)) APC; TCR^β PE (H57-597); TCR^β Biotin (H57-597); CD4 FITC (SK3); CD4 PerCP-Cyanine5.5 (RPA-T4); CD4 PE-Cyanine7 (GK1.5); CD8b FITC (53-6.7); CD8b PE (53-6.7); CD8b APC (53-6.7); CD8b Alexa Fluor 780 (53-6.7); CD8b PE-Cyanine5.5 (53-6.7); CD8b PE-Cyanine7 (53-6.7); CD19 APC-eFluor 780 (HIB19); CD19 PerCP-Cvanine5.5 (SJ25C1); FOXP3 FITC (PCH101), CD86 FITC (GL1); IL-17A FITC (eBio17B7), IL-17A PE-Cyanine7 (eBio17B7); IL-17F Alexa Fluor 488 (eBio18F10); IFNG FITC (XMG1.2); IFNG PE (XMG1.2); IFNG APC (XMG1.2); TNFA PE-Cyanine7 (MP6-XT22); TNFA Alexa Fluor 488 (MP6-XT22); iNOS PE (CXNFT); LAP (Latency Associated peptide) PE-Cyanine7 (FNLAP); IL-10 APC (JES5-16E3); IL-4 PE-Cyanine7 (11B11); CD49b (Integrin alpha 2) FITC (eBioY418 (Y418)); CD27 PE (LG.7F9); CD27 PE-Cyanine7 (O323); KLRG1 APC (2F1); CD11b PE-Cyanine7 (M1/70); NK1.1 APC-eFluor 780 (PK136); CD68 PE (FA-11); CD11c APC (N418); Ly-6G PE (RB6-8C5); Ly-6G Alexa Fluor 780 (RB6-8C5); Ly-6G Biotin (RB6-8C5); Ly-6G PE-Cyanine7 (RB6-8C5); Ly-6C PerCP-Cyanine5.5 (HK1.4); F4/80 PE (BM8); F4/80 APC-eFluor 780 (BM8); CD206 FITC (MR5D3); CD314 (NKG2D) PE-Cyanine7 (1D11); CD335 (NKp46) FITC (29A1.4); CD335 (NKp46) APC (9E2); CD196 (CCR6) APC (R6H1); ROR gamma (t) PE (B2D); T-bet PE-Cyanine7 (eBio4B10 (4B10)); EOMES FITC (WD1928); TCR V84 FITC (GL-2); TCR V84 PE (GL-2); TCRVy7; TCRVy1 FITC (2.11); TCRVy1 APC (2.11); TCRVy2 APC; TCRVy3 PE; TCRVy4 APC (UC3-10A6); CD122 FITC (TM-b1); CD44 APC-eFluor 780 (IM7), BrdU Staining Kit for Flow Cytometry FITC; CD25 PE (CD25-3G10); CD69 PE (H1.2F3); CD62L (L-Selectin) PE-Cyanine7 (MEL-14); CD127 APC-eFluor 780 (A7R34); CD127 PE (eBioRDR5); CD45R (B220) APC-eFluor 780 (RA3-6B2); CD45.2 PerCP-Cyanine5.5 (104); Mouse IgM PE (II/41); Ki-67 PE (SolA15); Streptavidin, (R-PE); Streptavidin APC-eFluor[™] 780; Fixable Viability Dye eFluor[™] 780; Brefeldin A Solution (1000X); MO/RT IL-17A Biotin (EBIO17B7); anti-MO IL17A purified (EBIO17CK15A5); Smooth Muscle Actin (αSMA) Purified (1A4 (asm-1)).

Commercial antibodies were purchased from eBioscience[™] (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) apart from CD206 FITC which was bought from Invitrogen[™] (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and BrdU kit which was obtained from Becton Dickinson (BD, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA). All cell surface and intracellular stains were performed in 96-well U-bottom plates. For intracellular staining, the cells were first fixed with Cytofix / Cytoperm buffer (BD) and then resuspended in permeabilization buffer Perm / Wash (BD).

3.1.4 Stimulating reagents

PMA and ionomycin were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Corporation and used as stimulating reagents for immune cells. They were diluted with PBS and stocks were stored at -20 °C.

3.2Methods

3.2.1 Laboratory mice genotyping

3.2.1.1 DNA isolation from murine tail

Freshly cut or frozen biopsy of ~ 5 mm murine tale was placed in 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and incubated overnight in a thermoblock at 56 °C with 0,5 ml of Tail lysis buffer. Next, the tubes were centrifuged in a small table centrifuge (5 min / 12000 rpm) to pellet cellular debris. The supernatant was transferred into a clean, labeled tube. DNA was precipitated by addition of 0.5 ml of isopropanol and mixed by slight rotation of the tube. The samples were then centrifuged (5 min / 12000 rpm) and supernatant was removed. The precipitate was incubated 1 hour with 0.8 ml of 70 % EtOH at + 4 °C to dissolve the residues of precipitated salts. Samples were then centrifuged (5 min / 12000 rpm), dried and DNA was dissolved in 200 μ L TE buffer and incubated for 15 min at 56 °C. Genomic DNA was stored at +4 °C.

3.2.1.2 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) was used to amplify a particular part of the DNA molecule *in vitro*. PCR reaction mix had 5 μ l of 10 x reaction buffer, 3 μ l MgCl₂ (50 mM) (NEB, Ipswich, Massachusetts, USA), 1 μ l dNTP (5 mM) (Metabion, Munich, Germany), 2 μ l forward primer (Metabion), 2 μ l reverse primer (Metabion), 0.5 μ l Taq polimerase (0.025 U / μ l) (NEB) and 36.5 μ l qH2O, making a total volume of 50 μ L. In each Eppendorf tube with PCR reaction mix, 1 μ l of template DNA was added. PCR reaction was conducted in PCR thermoblock (Bio-Rad, Hercules, California, USA). This technique was used to check the genotype of the animals used in the experiments and based on the genotype, different sets of primers were used (Table 2).

	NKGFPS.a2 (a2S): 5'-CAT AAA GTC CGC TTT GAT GTT A-3'
Klrk1 ^{-/-}	NKGFPS.b2 (b2S): 5'-GCA GAT TCC CAA AAT TCT TG-3'
	NKGFPS.c2 (c2M): 5'-CTG AAC TTG TGG CCG TTT-3'
01 (01	IL17RAF (For1): 5'-GGC AGC CTT TGG GAT CCC AAC-3'
$IL17RA^{flox/flox}$	IL17RAR (Rev1): 5'-CTA CTC TTC TCA CCA GCG CGC-3'
ILI/KA	5`for 6 (Del1): 5'-GTG CCC ACA GAG TGT CTT CTG T-3'
TTL 1 Iflar/flar	NKFS.a2: 5'-ACA AGG CCC ACA TTT TCT AG-3'
KlrkI ^{nox flox}	NKFA.b2: 5'-GGC CTA TTA TTT CAG CAA CA-3'
	NCRCre F: 5'-ATG CGG TGG GCT CTA TGG CTT CTG-3'
NCRI ^{Cre}	NCRCre R: 5'- GAC CAT GAT GCT GGG TTT GGC CCA GAT G-3'
D 1Cro	SC-1: 5'-GTC CAA TTT ACT GAC CGT ACA-3'
Del	SC-3: 5'-CTG TCA CTT GGT CGT GGC AGC-3'
	BWF: 5'-TGT CTG AAG GGC AAT GAC TG-3'
	BWR: 5'-GCT GAT CCG TGG CAT CTA TT-3'
TCRo	DWF: 5'-CCT GAC CTG TGA CTA GCT CC-3'
	DELTA WT/NEO R: 5'-GAA AGA GGG AGC GGT GGT AT-3'
	Lyz-Cre Mut: 5`-CCC AGA AAT GCC AGA TTA CG-3'
LysM ^{Cre}	Lyz-Cre Wt: 5`-TTA CAG TCG GCC AGG CTG AC-3'
	Lyz-Cre Com: 5`-CTT GGG CTG CCA GAA TTT CTC-3'

Table 2. List of primers used for PCR

3.2.1.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products

Horizontal agarose gel electrophoresis was used to determine the size of the DNA fragments. The 1.5 % agarose gel was made by dissolving the agarose in a boiling TAE buffer. 1 μ L of Ethidium-bromide (EtBr) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation) per 60 ml of cooled (~ 45 °C) gel was added and poured into a gel mould. In the still liquid gel, combs were immersed to enable the formation of the wells after gel polymerization. Molecular-weight size marker was put to the first well to determine the size of the individual DNA fragments. DNA bands were visualised with Alliance Imaging System from UVITEC Limited, Cambridge, UK.

3.2.2 Dietary models

Dietary models were used to induce insulin resistance and NAFLD: 8 - 12 week old male C57BL/6 and genetically modified mice were fed with a HFD as a model for type 2 diabetes and with SSD to induce NAFLD.

3.2.1.1 High fat diet (HFD)

In HFD (Bregi, Rijeka, Croatia) 50 - 60 % of calories is derived from animal fat (40 – 45 % fat content). Feeding typically resulted in glucose intolerance and insulin resistance within 10-12 weeks. Mice were fed with high fat diet 2 - 4 weeks. Control animals were fed with NCD containing 5 - 6 % fat (SSNIFF, Spezialdiaten, GmbH, Soest, Germany).

3.2.1.2 Steatosis-Steatohepatitis diet (SSD)

To induce NAFLD, a modified Amylin Liver Nash Model (AMLN) (Clapper et al., 2013) dietary model was used, termed the steatosis-steatohepatitis diet. SSD contains 22 % of fructose, 2 % of cholesterol and 40 % of fat (Clapper et al., 2013). This diet induced NASH within 14 - 18 weeks. Control animals were fed with a normal chow diet (NCD) containing 5 - 6 % fat (SSNIFF).

3.2.3 Immune cell isolation protocols

3.2.3.1 Isolation of visceral adipose tissue lymphocytes

Visceral adipose tissue lymphocytes were isolated from the two lobes of visceral adipose tissue as described (Valentić et al., 2015). In brief, adipose tissue was cut into small parts with scissors and placed in a 50 ml tube, containing 5 ml of freshly prepared 3% RPMI with 1 mg/ml Collagenase D (F. Hoffmann-La Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Tissue was incubated in a thermostatic shaker for 1 h at 37 °C, shaking at 270 rpm. Afterwards, the tube was vortexed and 5 ml of fresh, cold 3% RPMI was added. The tube was centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min and remaining supernatant was removed by inverting the tube. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of hypotonic solution (Erylysis buffer), vortexed and the suspension was run over a 70 μ m cell strainer placed on a 2 ml Eppendorf tube containing 500 μ l of cold 3 % RPMI. The tube was centrifuged in a table centrifuge at 4000 rpm for 5 min at room temperature. Next, the supernatant was removed and the pellet was resuspended in 250 μ l 3% RPMI.

3.2.3.2 Isolation of hepatic lymphocytes

Perfusion

Animals were euthanatized by CO_2/O_2 intoxication, followed by CO_2 suffocation. The left ventricle and the right atrium of the heart were identified. The heart was held upright and using a blunt tipped scissors, the right atrium was cut. A perfusion needle was inserted perpendicularly through the apex of the left ventricule. The perfusion rate was slow and steady and 8-10 ml of PBS was used per mouse.

Isolation

After perfusion, the entire liver, except the gall bladder, was isolated. The liver was homogenized through a 70 μ m cell strainer that was placed on a 50 ml tube. 5 – 10 ml of 3 % RPMI was used for each liver to get a single-cell suspension. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 1700 rpm. Supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in a 40 % Percoll solution. The resuspended pellet was loaded on a layer of 80 % Percoll solution and then centrifuged at 2100 rpm for 30 min at room temperature. The ring of leukocytes was harvested from the Percoll and washed with 8 ml of 3 % RPMI. The tube was centrifuged at 1700 rpm for 5 min. The pellet was resuspended in 1ml of Erylysis buffer and transferred to a 2 ml Eppendorf tube. After 3 minutes, 500 μ l of cold 3 % RPMI was added. The tube was centrifuged in a table centrifuge at 4000 rpm for 5 min at room temperature. Next, the supernatant was removed and the pellet was resuspended in 350 μ l 3% RPMI.

3.2.3.3 Isolation of splenic lymphocytes

Spleen was harvested and homogenized through a 100 μ m cell strainer using 3 % DMEM. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 4 min. The precipitate was resuspended in 3 ml of Erylysis buffer. After incubation for 5 min on ice, 7 ml of 3 % DMEM was added. The suspension was centrifuged for 5 min 1500 rpm, after which the supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 5 ml of 3 % RPMI.

3.2.4 Cell counting

The number of cells per milliliter of the isolation suspension was determined by counting in Neubauer's chamber. Only live cells were counted with the use of trypan blue, vital stain that selectively colours dead cells blue. 25 μ l of cell suspension was mixed with 200 μ l trypan blue (1: 9) and applied to the chamber. The total number of cells per milliliter of the

suspension was obtained by multiplying the mean number of cells per square $(1 \times 1 \text{ mm})$ with a correction factor of 90 000 to correct for chamber volume $(0.1 \times 1 \times 1 \text{ mm})$ and suspension dilution factor (1:9).

3.2.5 Flow cytometry

3.2.5.1 Cell surface stain

Phenotypic lymphocyte analysis was performed by fluorophore-labeled antibodies that are specific to certain cellular markers. For flow cytometry, the single cell suspension of liver, VAT and spleen was prepared according to the protocols described above. For the analysis of surface markers, labeled antibodies were diluted in FACS medium (40 μ l) containing specific antibodies, as well as 2.4G2 antibody that blocks FcRII / III (CD16/32) to prevent nonspecific binding of labeled antibodies. After 30 min of incubation at + 4 °C, the cells were washed with FACS medium, centrifuged for 4 min at 300 g and resuspended in 120 μ l of FACS medium.

Samples were analysed on the same day as staining. The results of phenotypic cell assays were obtained by flow cytometry FACSVerse (BD) and analysed using FlowJo (FlowJo LLC, Ashland, Oregon, USA).

3.2.5.2 Intracellular cell stain

For intracellular staining, kit for fixation and permeabilization of cells was used according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA). After cell surface staining, the cells were first fixed for 20 min at room temperature with Cytofix / Cytoperm (BD) buffer and then washed in permeabilization buffer Perm / Wash (BD). After centrifugation, cells were incubated in 40 μ l of antibody mix for 30 minutes at +4 °C. Cells were then washed, centrifuged and resuspended in FACS buffer.

Samples were either analysed on the same day as staining, or stored overnight at +4 °C and analysed the following day. The results of phenotypic cell assays were obtained by flow cytometry FACSVerse (BD) and analyzed using FlowJo (FlowJo LLC).

3.2.5.3 Intracellular staining of Ki67 and transcription factors

Ki-67 and transcription factors (TF) staining was performed after cell surface staining using the Fixation / Permeabilisation kit for intranuclear staining corespondingly with the manufacturer's instructions (eBioscience). Briefly, cells were stained for surface markers, washed, centrifuged and re-suspended in Fixation / Permebilization solution at RT. After 20

minutes, cells were washed in permeabilization buffer and resuspended in 40 μ l of Ki67 or TF antibody mix (1 : 100 in 1 x permeabilization buffer). Cells were incubated for 30 minutes at +4 °C, washed in buffer, centrifuged and then re-suspended in 120 μ l of FACS medium.

The results of phenotypic cell assays were obtained by flow cytometry FACSVerse (BD) and analysed using FlowJo (FlowJo LLC).

3.2.5.4 Viability dye

Viability dye was used at a dilution factor of 1:1000 in FACS medium together with cell surface staining antibodies. Cells were stained for 30 minutes at +4 °C. eBioscience[™] Fixable Viability Dye eFluor[™] 780 was used for all stainings.

3.2.6 Stimulation assays

3.2.6.1 PMA / ionomycin stimulation

A total of 100 μ l (10⁶) of cells in 10 % RPMI were added to a 96-well U-bottom plate containing 50 μ l of PMA (1:25 000) / ionomycin (1:500) and 50 μ l of Brefeldin A (1:250). Cells were maintained in incubator at 37 °C, 5 % CO₂ for 4 hours. After incubation, the cells were centrifuged and stained for cell surface and intracellular markers as described above and then subjected to flow cytometric analysis.

3.2.7 Quantitative RT–PCR

3.2.7.1 RNA isolation

A total of 100 μ l (10⁶ cells) of liver homogenate was added to 175 μ l of RNA Lysis Buffer (SV Total RNA Isolation System, Promega) to isolate RNA. The cells were lysed by mixing well, vortexing and pipetting. 350 μ l of RNA Dilution Buffer was added, mixed by inverting and placed into heat block at 70 °C for 3 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 12,000 × g for 10 minutes at RT. Cleared lysate was transferred into new tube and 200 μ l of 95 % ethanol was added. This mixture was transfer to the Spin Column Assembly and centrifuged at 12 000 × g for 1 minute at RT. Flow-through was discarded and 600 μ l of Wash Solution was added. Samples were centrifuged again at 12 000 × g for 2 minutes at RT. Flow-through was discarded.

Volume of 50 μ l of DNase incubation mix was added and incubated for 15 minutes at 20 - 25 °C. After incubation, 200 μ l of DNase Stop Solution was added, samples were centrifuged and 600 μ L of Wash Solution was added. Samples were centrifuged again at 12 000

 \times g for 1 minute at RT. Flow-through was discarded and 250 µl of Wash Solution was added. Samples were centrifuged at high speed for 2 minutes. Spin Basket was transferred from the Collection Tube to the Elution Tube. 100 µl Nuclease-Free Water was added to the membrane, centrifuged at 14 000 \times g for 1 minute and the Elution Tube containing the purified RNA was stored at -80 °C.

3.2.7.2 cDNA synthesis

cDNA was synthesized using Reverse transcriptase Core kit 500 (Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium). In brief, 200 ng or RNA was reversly transcribed to cDNA using random nonamers, according to manufacturer instructions.

3.2.7.3 qPCR

qPCR was performed on a 7500 Fast qPCR machine (Applied Biosystem, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) by using SYBR[™] Green dye (MESA green, Eurogentec).

To determine the expression of *H60*, *MULT-1*, *Rae1* ε and *Rae1* δ qPCR SYBRTM Green dye (MESA green, Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. SYBR Green detects PCR product as they accumulate during PCR. Per sample, mastermix had 10 µl 2 x SYBRTM Green dye buffer, 2 µl of forward and 2 µl of reverse cDNA primers (*H60*, *MULT-1*, *Rae1* ε , *Rae1* δ and *Hprt*), 2 µl qH2O and 4 µl of 5 x diluted cDNA template, making a total volume of 20 ul. Relative expression of mRNA was normalized by determining the expression of *Hprt* gene.

RAE-18	For	5'-CAACTTGACCATCAAGGCTCCTA-3'
	Rev	5'-GATAAGTATTTCACCCACGAAGCA-3'
Rae-1 ɛ	For	5'-CAGGTGACCCAGGGAAGATG-3'
	Rev	5'-CTCAACTCCTGGCACAAATCG-3'
H60	For	5'-GAGCCACCAGCAAGAGCAA-3'
	Rev	5'-CCAGTATGGTCCCCAGATAGCT-3'
Mult1	For	5'-CTCATAGGAACAGCATGA-3'
	Rev	5'-TCCTGTGAAATGTTTGTC-3'
Hprt	For	5'-CACAGGACTAGAACACCTGC-3'
	Rev	5'-GCTGGTGAAAAGGACCTCT-3'

Table 3. List of primers used for PCR

3.2.8 Histology

3.2.8.1 Tissue fixation and paraffin embedding

Liver was perfused with cold PBS and harvested. Two small parts of different liver lobes were collected. Liver tissue was incubated in 4 % PFA fixative for a minimum of 48 hrs at room temperature. Samples were transferred into histokinette (TP1020, Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) with increasing series of alcohol (50 – 100 %) and three series of xylene, at room temperature. 2 μ m thick sample sections were made using a microtome (Microtome HM340E, Microm, Thermo Fisher Scientific). For each sample, a minimum of 4 cuts were made. Sections were mounted on silanized slides. After overnight drying, they were either histochemicaly or immunohistochemicaly stained.

3.2.8.2 Histochemical staining

Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) Staining

Paraffin sections were de-waxed and hydrated in distilled water. Nuclei were stained with the alum haematoxylin for 5 minutes. Slides were rinsed in running tap water for 10 minutes and differentiate by quickly dipping in and out of 0.3 % acid alcohol. They were washed in running tap water for 5 minutes. Sections were stained with eosin for 1 - 2 minutes, washed once in tap water and once in distilled water for 15 seconds. Next, slides were dehydrated in three changes of 100 % ethanol, cleared in xylene and mounted in Entellan (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA).

Sirius Red Staining

Paraffin sections were de-waxed and hydrated. Nuclei were stained with Weigert's haematoxylin for 20 minutes, and slides were washed for 10 minutes in running tap water. Slides were stained in picro-sirius red for one hour and afterwards washed in two changes of acidified water. Water was removed from the slides by vigorous shaking. Next, slides were dehydrated in three changes of 100 % ethanol, cleared in xylene and mounted in Entellan (Merck Millipore).

3.2.8.3 Immunohistochemical staining

Antigen retrieval

Sections were de-paraffinised and hydrated in distilled water. Slides were placed in Sodium Citrate Buffer (pH 6.0) and heated in a microwave oven for 3 min on 700 W and 15 min at 150 W. After boiling, the slides were allowed to cool for 20 minutes in solution. Sections were rinsed 3 times for 2 minutes with demi-water and 3 times for 5 minutes with PBS. Immunohistochemistry protocol

After washing in PBS endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked using 0.3 % hydrogen peroxide in PBS. Slides were incubated for 10 minutes in the dark. Next, slides were washed 3 x 5 min in PBS. Prior to incubation with primary antibody goat - anti - mouse (aSMA), slides were incubated for 1 h with goat serum or 3 % BSA. Slides were left with primary antibody diluted in 1 % BSA - TBS, at 4 °C. overnight. Next, slides were washed 3 x 5 min with PBS

Secondary antibody, rat–anti–mouse-POD was diluted in 1 % BSA - TBS, was incubated for 45 min at + 4 °C. Sections were washed 3 x 5 min in PBS and staining was visualised with Dako liquid DAB+ substrate chromogen (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA). Slides were counterstained with haematoxylin for 5 minutes and washed in tap water for 10 min. Afterwards they were dehydrated, cleared and mounted in Entellan (Merck Millipore).

3.2.9 Excision of visceral adipose tissue from live mice (VATectomy)

Surgical removal of the perigonadal fat pads (VATectomy) has been previously described (Šestan et al., 2015). In brief, mice were injected intraperitoneally with sedative, 30 min before the start of the surgical procedure. They were placed in the anesthetic chamber, and after they were anesthetized, hair from the abdomen was removed. Mice were placed with its back on the operation table and inhalation anesthesia was applied. Skin was disinfected and incision in the skin was made with scalpel. Next, a small cut (0.5 cm) into the muscle and peritoneum was made. Two perigonadal adipose tissues were pulled out one by one with tweezers and an incision was made at the basis of adipose tissue to completely remove the tissue. All three layers (peritoneum, muscle and skin) were then sewed together. Ten days after surgery, sewing material was removed and fourteen days after surgery, experiments were started.

3.2.10 Image J analysis

Steatosis and fibrosis analysis on slide sections was carried out using ImageJ (NIH, Bethesda, Maryland, USA). Calculator Plus was used to correct the background. Treshold adjustments were made to recognize and determine areas of interest. Analysis tools were used to quantify red fibrotic or white steatotis areas.

3.2.11 Data analysis and statistics

Data analysis was done using the GraphPad Prism 5 program (GraphPad Software, Inc, San Diego, California). The choice of the appropriate test was dependent on the number and distribution of the examinees. Mann-Whitney test or Student's t-test was used when two groups of animals were compared. When comparing more than two groups, ANOVA test with Bonferroni correction was used.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1 Role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT inflammation

4.1.1 Characterization of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT

In response to stress factors, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are one of the first cellular populations to secrete proinflammatory cytokines in order to recruit and activate other immune cell populations against an imminent threat (Sutton et al., 2012). $\gamma\delta$ T cells may therefore play an important role in obesity-induced inflammation. Therefore, I characterized $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT under homeostatic conditions. In general, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are highly prevalent in epithelial and mucosal tissues. However, the quantification of VAT leukocytes showed that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are also present in relatively high numbers in VAT, comprising ~ 6 % of total immune cells (Figure 9a). In comparison to splenic $\gamma\delta$ T cells, most of VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells were CD27⁻ and expressed the markers CD44 and CD69. Compared with splenic $\gamma\delta$ T cells, VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells had lower expression of CCR6 (Figure 9a).

There are several different $\gamma\delta$ subsets characterized by expression of specific V γ and V δ gene segments. As mentioned in the introduction, these subsets are functionally distinct and mainly tissue specific. For this reason, we decided to identify the subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells present in VAT with commercially available antibodies. With my analysis I identified V γ 1, -4, -5, -6 and -7 (Tonegawa's nomenclature (Heilig and Tonegawa, 1986) (Figure 9b). However, the cumulative frequency of these subsets remained below 30 %, suggesting that an as of yet unidentified $\gamma\delta$ T cells ubset dominates the pool in VAT. Expression of Ki67 was higher in VAT than in splenic $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 9c), suggesting a higher turn-over rate in this tissue. Next, I analysed the ability of VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells to produce cytokines. *In vitro* stimulation for 4 hours with phorbol 12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) and ionomycin showed that VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells had a lower capacity to produce IFN γ and TNF, but increased capacity to produce IL-17A in comparison to splenic $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 9d).

In summary, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are present at relatively high percentages in VAT. The activation status of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT showed that majority of cells are CD69^{hi}. Approximately 75 % of cells are CD27⁻ suggesting that they are poised to production of IL-17A. This was further confirmed through *in vitro* stimulation assay where indeed the main cytokine produced by $\gamma\delta$ T cells was IL-17A.



Figure 9. $\gamma\delta$ T cell phenotype in VAT (a) Splenic and VAT-resident $\gamma\delta$ T cells were isolated, and the percentage of cells expressing the indicated markers was determined by flow cytometry. (b) Flow cytometry analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells subsets based on V γ chain was made. (c) Ki67 expression was determined in splenic and VAT-resident $\gamma\delta$ T cells by flow cytometry (d) Splenic and VAT derived $\gamma\delta$ T cells were stimulated with PMA and ionomycin and the expression of IFN γ , TNF and IL-17A was determined by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD3 ϵ ⁺TCR δ ⁺ population (n = 5).

4.1.2 High-fat diet increases production of IL-17A in VAT

Emerging evidence has demonstrated the importance of innate immune cells in sensing metabolic stress (Donath and Shoelson, 2011; O'Sullivan et al., 2016; Wensveen et al., 2015). However, there are still some links missing to fully explain early events leading to obesity-induced inflammation. It is well known that the levels of proinflammatory cytokines are increased in obesity and that they contribute to insulin resistance and low-grade systemic inflammation. IL-17A can regulate adipogenesis and glucose metabolism in VAT (Zuniga et al., 2010). Because I found that VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells produce IL-17A, I wanted to address whether $\gamma\delta$ T cells contribute to VAT inflammation during initial stages of obesity.

I analyzed adipose tissue $\gamma\delta$ T cells after three weeks of HFD feeding. Results showed that even though there was no difference in the percentage, there was an increase in absolute numbers of VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells in animals fed with an HFD (Figure 10a) in comparison to mice fed an NCD. This difference was not due to proliferation of resident cells as Ki67 showed no differences between NCD and HFD fed animals (Figure 10b). This suggests an increased influx of cells in obese VAT. Phenotypic analysis revealed that they remained CD27⁻CD44⁺ and there was no difference between the groups in the expression of CD69 and CCR6. However, $\gamma\delta$ T cells in obese VAT acquired a more activated (CD127⁺) phenotype upon HFD feeding (Figure 10c). In response to HFD there was also an increase in the V γ 1 subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 10d), however, it was not statistically significant. Although there was no difference in the percentage of the cells (Figure 10e) the number of IL-17A producing cells was almost doubled in HFD fed animals (Figure 10f).







Figure 10. $\gamma\delta$ T cells increase and obtain more activating phenotype during HFD feeding (a) Percentage and number of VAT-resident $\gamma\delta$ T cells and the percentage of cells expressing (b) Ki67, (c) indicated markers as well as (d) analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells subsets based on V γ chain determined by flow cytometry after 3 weeks of NCD or HFD feeding. (e) VAT resident $\gamma\delta$ T cells were stimulated with PMA and ionomycin and the expression of IL-17A, IFN γ and TNF (f) as well as quantification of IL-17A⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was determined by flow cytometry (n = 10) after 3 weeks of NCD or HFD feeding. Gated for CD3 ϵ ⁺TCR δ ⁺. *P < 0.05 (Mann-Whitney utest).

To determine the role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT in response to HFD feeding, I used mice that are deficient in all $\gamma\delta$ T cells (TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ knock out mice) (Itohara et al., 1993). Eight to ten week old TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ and WT male mice were fed an NCD or HFD and their weights were measured over a period of three weeks. There was no difference between the NCD groups, but in HFD fed groups of mice, TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ knock out mice gained more weight (Figure 11a) and there was a significant increase in VAT fat pad weight (Figure 11b) in comparison to WT mice.

Although $\gamma\delta$ –deficient mice had greater VAT mass than WT mice following HFDfeeding, they did not differ from WT mice in either the number of NK cells (Figure 11c) or M1 macrophages (Figure 11d) in visceral adipose tissue. Therefore, $\gamma\delta$ T cell may reflect low-level inflammatory changes associated with adipocyte stress. It still needs to be elucidated if they orchestrate the progression of inflammation through activation of other cells.



Figure 11. Lack of $\gamma\delta$ T cells increases weight gain but has no effect on number of NK cells and M1 macrophages TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ and WT mice were placed on HFD for 3 weeks. (a) Weight gain was measured over 3 weeks' time after an NCD or HFD feeding (n = 3-8). (b) Fat pad weight and (c) number of NK cells (CD45⁺NK1.1⁺CD3 ϵ^{-}) and (d) M1 macrophages (CD19⁻CD11b⁺F4/80⁺GR1^{Dim/-}CD11c⁺CD86^{Dim}) was determined after 3 weeks of an NCD or HFD feeding *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells acquire the capacity to produce IL-17 independently of TCR signalling during thymic differentiation (Haas et al., 2012). Murine Butyrophilin-like (BTNL) molecules can promote maturation and expansion of tissue-specific $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Btnl 1 molecule is primarily located in intestinal epithelium where it critically regulates the intraepithelial V γ 7 T cells, however not much is known about its presence and role in VAT. Therefore, I wanted to investigate if BTNL-1 has an effect on homeostasis or inflammation in VAT in the context of DIO. BTNL1-/- and WT male mice were fed an NCD or HFD and their weights were measured over a period of three weeks. Similar to TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ knock out mice, there was no difference between the NCD groups, but in HFD groups of mice, BTNL1-/- knock out mice gained much more weight (Figure 12a) and there was almost a four- fold increase their VAT fat pad weight (Figure 12b) in comparison to WT mice. Although BTNL1 –deficient mice accumulated a greater VAT mass than WT mice in response to HFD, they did not differ from WT mice in the number of either CD3⁺ cells (Figure 12c), NK cells (Figure 12d) or M1 macrophages (Figure 12e) in visceral adipose tissue. These findings could indicate that BTNL1 molecule in VAT might play a role in homeostasis of VAT rather than inflammation.





Figure 12. BTNL1^{-/-} **mice have increased weight gain** BTNL1-/- and WT mice were placed on HFD for 3 weeks. (a) Weight gain was measured over 3 weeks' time after an NCD or HFD feeding (n = 3-8). (b) Fat pad weight and number of (c) CD3 ε +, (d) NK cells (CD45⁺NK1.1⁺CD3 ε ⁻) and (e) M1 macrophages (CD19⁻CD11b⁺F4/80⁺GR1^{Dim/-}CD11c⁺ CD86^{Dim}) was determined after 3 weeks of an NCD or HFD feeding*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

In conclusion, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are enriched in visceral adipose tissue and even under normal conditions they are already in the activated state (CD44^{hi} CD69⁺) and can produce proinflammatory cytokines. In response to HFD, number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that produce IL-17A increases. However, it is not clear if they play a role in establishing inflammation in our mouse model of DM2. The use of TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice showed that in the absence of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, I do not see any differences in either NK cells or macrophages, but I do see increase in weight gain and fat pad weight suggesting that they might be more important for homeostasis than inflammation of VAT.

4.2Role of γδ T cells in liver inflammation

4.2.1 SSD model of NAFLD reflects clinical disease progression

Mouse models of NAFLD and NASH usually involve genetic disruption or overexpression of genes involved in hepatic function. Alternatively, liver fibrosis is induced through administration of hepatotoxic compounds (e.g., CCl₄) or by nutrient deficient diets (methionine and choline deficiency). These models readily induce liver fibrosis, but lack metabolic dysfunction such as obesity and IR that usually accompanies NAFLD (Machado et al., 2015). To reproduce both the liver disease phenotype and its aetiology, in my research I used a modified Amylin liver NASH model called Steatosis-steatohepatitis diet (SSD). SSD contains 22 % of fructose, 2 % of cholesterol and 40 % of fat (Clapper et al., 2013). With the help of histological H&E staining, I confirmed that SSD fed mice develop all stages of NAFLD within 16 weeks starting with mild accumulation of fat that causes "ballooning" of hepatocytes (4 weeks SSD). Steatosis develops around week 8 and it is either macrovesicular, with a single large fat droplet or microvesicular with several smaller well-defined droplets. In an addition to steatosis, inflammatory foci, as a sign of steatohepatitis, appear around week 12 of SSD feeding. Around week 16, features of hepatocellular injury and fibrosis can be seen, indicating progression of NASH (Figure 13a). Development of fibrosis was further confirmed by Sirius red staining which also showed a characteristic "chicken wire" pattern due to deposition of collagen along the sinusoids and around the hepatocytes (Figure 13e). Obesity is the most common cause of NAFLD and hepatomegaly is one of the first clinical signs of NAFLD. Therefore, I measured body weight, liver weight and liver weight to body weight ratio in WT male mice that were on an NCD or SSD diet for 16 weeks. As expected, the SSD diet promoted obesity with substantial weight gain as compared to an NCD diet group (Figure 13b). The SSD group also had enlarged livers, increased liver weight (Figure 13c) as well as an increased liver to body weight ratio (Figure 13d) in comparison to the NCD group.

Since HFD is an established model for obesity and IR, I wanted to see how this model compares to the SSD diet with regards to development of fibrosis and steatosis. It is known that IR increases FFA influx and increases triglyceride synthesis and storage, leading to steatosis, oxidative stress and fibrosis. Histological results showed that mice on HFD for 16 weeks indeed develop low levels steatosis; however, there was no sign of fibrosis (Figure 13e and 13f) suggesting that SSD was a much better model for NAFLD. Therefore, I decided to continue my research on NASH with an SSD model.

In summary, SSD diet displays all features of NAFLD, including weight gain, hepatomegaly, progressive advancement of the disease from ballooning to NASH marked with inflammation and fibrosis.



(a)





Figure 13. SSD diet-fed mice develop progressive NAFLD/NASH. (a) Representative H&E sections from mice on an NCD and SSD diet for 4, 8, 12 and 16 weeks. (b) Body weight over period of 16 weeks in an NCD and SSD group of mice (n = 5-10). (c) The liver weight and (d) the ratio of liver weight to body weight after 16 weeks on an NCD and SSD (n = 10-25). (e) Representative slides and (f) quantitive assessment for comparison of NCD, HFD and SSD in induction of fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius red) after 16 weeks on different diets. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (Mann-Whitney test or ANOVA).

4.2.2 Hepatic inflammation is a trigger for development of NASH in SSD model

Excess in free fatty acids and chronic low-grade inflammation originating from VAT are considered two of the most important factors contributing to progression from simple steatosis to steatohepatitis (Berlanga et al., 2014). Therefore, I wanted to see if in our SSD model VAT inflammation is essential for the development of fibrosis. We performed VATectomy where we removed visceral adipose tissue and after 2 weeks placed animals on an NCD or SSD diet. Results showed that VATectomized mice that were placed for 16 weeks on an SSD diet had significantly higher hepatic steatosis and fibrosis in comparison to animals that were only sham operated (Figure 14a and 14b). Thus, in our model local VAT inflammation is not essential for the development of fibrosis most likely due to dietary cholesterol that enables VLDL accumulation in liver from food itself.

Since hepatic inflammation is a necessary component for the development of NASH (Koyama and Brenner, 2017; Tilg and Moschen, 2010), I quantified the major immune cell populations over time in liver following SSD feeding. Analysis showed that within the first 8 weeks of feeding, mainly innate lymphocytes (cNK, $\gamma\delta$ T cells) increase in numbers (Figure 14c). On week 12, CD8 T cells (Figure 14d) and cells of the myeloid linage (neutrophils, eosinophils, and proinflammatory Gr-1⁺ macrophages) dominated the response (Figure 14e). Histological results on week 12 also correspond with the onset of inflammatory foci and fibrosis (Figure 13a).





Figure 14. Development of liver steatosis and fibrosis in SSD model. (a-b) Mice were subjected to either VATectomy or sham operation and were let to recover for 2 weeks. After recovery, they were fed an SSD or an NCD diet for 16 weeks. (a) Representative slides and (b) quantitive assessment of steatosis and fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius red) (c-e) Liver immune cells were isolated from the liver to follow the cell kinetics in the response to SSD diet over a 16-week period. (c) Innate immune cells (NK cells were gated based on NK1.1⁺CD3 ϵ ⁻CD49b⁺, NKT cells based on NK1.1⁺CD3 ϵ ⁺, $\gamma\delta$ T cells on CD3 ϵ ⁺TCR δ ⁺ population). (d) Adaptive immune cells (CD8 and CD4 T cells were gated based on CD3 ϵ ⁺ and CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ population, respectively; B cells were gated based on CD3 ϵ ⁻CD19⁺). (e) Cells of myeloid linage (Neutrophils were gated based on CD19⁻CD11b⁺F4/80⁻GR1^{hi} gating, eosinophils CD19⁻CD11b⁺F4/80⁺GR1^{Dim/-} and macrophages CD19⁻CD11b⁺F4/80⁺GR1^{hi}).

4.2.3 γδ T cells produce IL-17A in liver as an early response to SSD

Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis is closely associated with chronic liver inflammation and cytokine production. It was reported that NASH patients have increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines in serum (Stojsavljevic et al., 2014). Since in the first few weeks of SSD feeding there is an increase in innate cells, I decided to isolate, purify and stimulate lymphocytes to look at the production of cytokines. I focused on IFN γ , TNF and IL-17 because those are the main cytokines that are being produced by innate and innate-like cells.

Although there is a mild increase in the accumulation of innate lymphocytes during initial stages of SSD, I noticed that there is a dramatic increase in production of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-17A in response to SSD within the first 2 weeks of SSD feeding. This difference was not observed in production of either TNF or IFN γ (Figure 15a). Interestingly, in the SSD-fed group, IL-17A was produced *ex vivo*, without any stimulation, and its production was further increased after stimulation with PMA and Ionomycin (Figure 15b). This is an indication that these cells were stimulated recently *in situ*. IL-17A was produced almost exclusively by CD3⁺ cells. The increase in IL-17A production in response to SSD feeding appears specific for liver, as virtually no IL-17A producing cells were observed in spleen (Figure 15c).

Further analysis of IL-17A producing CD3⁺ cells revealed that in our model $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the primary source of IL-17A during first two weeks of SSD feeding (Figure 15d).


Figure 15. Cytokine production in liver within first 2 weeks of SSD. (a-d) Mice were fed an SSD or NCD diet for 2 weeks. (a) Flow cytometric analysis of total IL-17A, TNF and IFN γ in liver. Cells were gated for live and CD45⁺. Numbers outside the quadrants (left) indicate the percentage of cells in each. (b) Results of intracellular flow cytometric analysis of IL-17A production by lymphocytes *ex vivo* and upon *in vitro* stimulation with PMA and ionomycin (n=5). (c) Flow cytometry analysis of IL-17A production in liver and spleen in CD3 ϵ ⁺ cell fraction after *in vitro* stimulation with the PMA and ionomycin. (d) Flow cytometry of CD3 ϵ ⁺IL17A⁺ cells expressing TCR δ ⁺ marker. Number above the line indicates the percentage of cells that are CD3 ϵ ⁺IL17A⁺TCR δ ⁺. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

Since my results showed that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are one of the first cell subsets that are activated within the first two weeks of SSD feeding, I wanted to further investigate their phenotype and ability to excrete cytokines. The first thing I did was quantification of $\gamma\delta$ T cells after 2 weeks of an NCD and SSD feeding. The analysis showed a statistically significant increase in both relative and absolute numbers of cells in mice fed with SSD (Figure 16a). This increase was at least partially due to proliferation (Figure 16b) as measured by expression of the Ki-67, a protein which is expressed during the G₁, S and G₂ phases of cell cycle, but absent in quiescent (G₀) cells. I next measured IL-17A production by these cells with and without PMA / ionomycin stimulation. FACS analysis showed that SSD causes spontaneous IL-17A production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells without any stimulation. The increase in production of IL-17A was even more dramatic after stimulation with PMA and ionomycin (Figure 16c). The IL-17 cytokine family is composed of six members. Since IL-17F also belongs in the same group of proinflammatory cytokines, and has the greatest similarity to IL-17A, I also looked for the production of this cytokine. However, γδ T cells appeared to produce very little IL-17F. Moreover, SSD feeding did not result in an increase of IL-17F production, suggesting that this cytokine is not involved in SSD-induced liver pathology (Figure 16d). $\gamma\delta$ T cells are able to produce high amounts of IFNy and TNF. In order to see if they produce these cytokines in the context of NAFLD, I stimulated liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells with PMA and ionomycin and checked for production of IFN γ and TNF. The analysis showed that they can produce IFNy and TNF, but there was no difference in their production between the NCD and SSD diet fed groups (Figure 16e).



Figure 16. Liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells within first 2 weeks of SSD. (a-d) Mice were fed an SSD or an NCD diet for 2 weeks. (a) Percentage and number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the liver in an NCD and SSD fed mice. (b) Hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells were isolated and expression of Ki67 was determined. Results of intracellular flow cytometry analysis of (c) IL-17A, (d) IL-17F, (e) TNF and IFN γ production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells ex vivo and upon *in vitro* stimulation with PMA and ionomycin (n = 5) Gated for CD3 ϵ ⁺TCR δ ⁺ cells. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells that produce IL-17A typically express ROR γ t and lack surface expression of CD27 (Ivanov et al., 2006). In contrast, IFN γ production of these cells is associated with expression of both CD27 and T-bet. Both subsets tend to express CD44. Phenotypic analysis showed that the liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells were either CD27⁻CD44⁺ or CD27⁺CD44⁺ and notably, when mice were placed on an SSD, I observed a significant increase in the fraction of CD27⁻CD44⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 17a). It has been shown in the literature that IL-7 promotes survival, activation and triggers the production of IL-17A in innate-like $\gamma\delta$ T-IL17 cells while $\gamma\delta$ T-IFN γ cells instead depend heavily on IL-15. Upon examination of the receptors for IL-7 (CD127) and IL-15 (CD122, R β), I found that majority of $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed CD127 marker and this expression was further increased with SSD feeding (Figure 17b). Majority of liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells in normal conditions expressed transcription factor T-bet. In response to SSD, there was a strong increase in the number of Ror γ t⁺ cells, whereas I saw a relative reduction in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing T-bet (Figure 17b).

Unlike $\alpha\beta$ T cells, T cell receptor chain usage is linked to functionality of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In that regard, $V\gamma1^+\gamma\delta$ T cells are a major source of IFN γ (Ribot et al., 2009), whereas $V\gamma4^+$, $V\gamma5^+$ and $V\gamma6^+$ cells are considered major producers of IL-17A (Papotto et al., 2017). Whereas $V\gamma1^+$ is mainly located in peripheral lymphoid tissues, $V\gamma4^+$ populates lung, $V\gamma5^+$ skin and $V\gamma6^+$ reproductive mucosa. Under lean conditions, I observed that hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells exhibited a mixed chain usage, which was distinct from $\gamma\delta$ T cells in other organs (Garman et al., 1986; Jameson and Havran, 2007). In lean animals, the main subpopulation was $V\gamma1$. In response to SSD their relative contribution decreased in favour of $V\gamma6$ (Figure 17d). Indeed, I could show that $V\gamma6$ cells were the main subpopulation producing IL-17A (Figure 17e).

It is known that engagement of NKG2D can activate cytolytic responses of $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Nielsen et al., 2015). Therefore, I decided to see if hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells express this receptor. The analysis showed that hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells express NKG2D molecule under lean conditions. Importantly, its expression is increased in response to an SSD diet (Figure 17f). Interestingly, the majority of IL-17A was produced by NKG2D⁺ cells (Figure 17g).

In summary, $\gamma\delta$ T cells in livers of SSD-fed mice show all characteristics typically associated with the production of IL-17A by these cells. In addition, I see a notable increase of NKG2D expression, which may be of importance for the activation of these cells.







Figure 17. Liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells phenotype within first 2 weeks of SSD. (a-g) Mice were fed an SSD or an NCD diet for 2 weeks. (a) Percentage of hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing CD27 and CD44, (b) transcription factors and (c) CD127 and CD122 determined by flow cytometry. (d) FACS analysis of V γ chain usage and (e) intracellular IL-17A expression by V $\gamma\delta$ chain. (f) Expression of NKG2D molecule in hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells determined by flow cytometry (g) Results of intracellular flow cytometry analysis of IL-17A production by NKG2D⁺ cell on an SSD diet. Numbers in corners indicate the percentage of cells (n = 5) Gated for CD3 ϵ ⁺TCR δ ⁺ cells. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (Mann-Whitney u-test or ANOVA).

4.2.4 IL-17A plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis

Liver fibrosis is a common outcome of NAFLD and it is a significant cause of liver failure, as well as the principal cause of morbidity and mortality (Friedman, 2003). Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) are the main matrix-producing cells in the process of liver fibrosis (Moreira, 2007). Numerous mechanisms contribute to the activation of HSCs and lead to the switch from quiescent phenotype to the "myofibroblast-like" phenotype that leads to the production of collagen. IL-17A has been connected with HSC activation marked by an increased expression of IL-6, a-SMA and collagen1a1 in CCl4–induced liver injury (Tan et al., 2013). Therefore, I wanted to investigate if in our NAFLD model, IL-17A is involved in driving the fibrotic process. Considering that IL-17A is produced very early after initiation of SSD feeding I wondered whether its effect is only important during the initial stages of disease or continuously. I followed its production (Figure 18a and 18b) up until week 12 of feeding (Figure 18b). I noticed that on week 16, when fibrosis develops, there is a decrease in the number of IL-17A producing cells (Figure 18b), which corresponded wit a minor decrease in the total number of leukocytes in liver (Figure 18c).

IL-17A signals through a heterodimeric receptor complex of IL-17 receptor A (IL-17RA) and IL-17 receptor C (IL-17RC). To demonstrate the functional role of IL-17A, I used IL-17RA^{Δ/Δ} mice that lack a functional IL-17A receptor (Ye et al., 2001). Mice were placed on an SSD or NCD for 16 weeks. From the literature, it is known that IL-17A deficient mice had greater weight than WT mice over time in both NCD and HFD conditions (Zuniga et al., 2010). However, in our model I did not observe increased body weight of IL-17RA^{Δ/Δ} mice over WT controls (data not shown). Based on histological features, IL-17RA^{Δ/Δ} mice had normal liver when compared to B6 animals on an NCD diet. However, when they were placed on an SSD diet for 16 weeks, IL-17RA deficient animals had significantly less fibrosis in comparison to B6 animals on the same diet (Figure 18d and 18e). They did not show any decrease in the steatosis, but this is partially expected because it is known that IL-17 deficiency can even enhance adipose tissue accumulation and accelerate hepatic triglyceride accumulation whilst reducing hepatocellular damage in mice (Harley et al., 2014; Zuniga et al., 2010).





Figure 18. IL-17A production and its role in SSD model of NAFLD. (a) Representative FACS plots and (b) result of quantification of intracellular flow cytometry analysis of IL-17A production by lymphocytes upon *in vitro* stimulation with PMA and ionomycin on an NCD and after 4, 8, 12 and 16 weeks on an SSD diet. (c) Total immune cell numbers on an NCD and after 4, 8, 12 and 16 weeks on an SSD. (d) Representative microscopic sections and (e) quantitive assessment of liver steatosis and fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius red) in B6 and IL17RA^{Δ/Δ} after 16 weeks on and NCD or SSD diet (n = 5). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

IL-17A has been shown to be able to directly activate HSC [121, 123]. However, many hepatic cell subsets, including parenchymal, non-parenchymal cells and resident immune cells, express the IL-17 receptor and IL-17A may therefore mediate indirect activation of HSC through macrophages. To test this, I made use of IL-17RA-flox mice, which allow cell-specific elimination of the IL-17RA (Ye et al., 2001). It has been described that IL-17A has a critical role in neutrophil recruitment and induction of macrophage-mediated inflammation (Tan et al., 2013). Therefore, I crossed IL-17RA-flox mice on LysM^{cre} animals. These mice lack IL-17RA on monocytes, mature macrophages and granulocytes. Genetic ablation of IL-17RA in myeloid cells showed a trend towards reduced fibrosis, even though this did not reach statistical significance (Figure 19a and 19b). Surprisingly, unlike IL17R^{Δ/Δ} mice, Lys^{Cre}IL17RA^{flox/flox} mice had a small but significant reduction in the level of steatosis, indicating that macrophages might play a role in fat accumulation in liver cells. However, based on cell numbers, there was no difference in accumulation of either monocytes (Figure 19c) or neutrophils (Figure 19d).

Taken together, these findings indicate that in our model IL-17A does not have a role in accumulation of neutrophils, monocytes and KC but it might directly act on HSC and induce their activation.



(a)



Figure 19. Lack of IL-17RA on myeloid cells does not affect the level of fibrosis (a-d) Mice were fed an SSD or an NCD diet for 16 weeks. (a) Representative microscopic sections and (b) quantitive assessment of liver steatosis and fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius

red) in B6 and Lys^{cre}IL17RA^{flox/flox} mice. (c) Number of monocytes and (d) neutrophils in liver after 16 weeks of an NCD and SSD in B6 and Alb^{cre}IL17RA^{flox/flox} mice (n = 4 - 5). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

4.2.5 γδ T cells and NKG2D promote liver fibrosis

Considering that IL-17A plays a significant role in development of the fibrosis in our model and that the $\gamma\delta$ T cells are a major producer of IL-17A from the start of an SSD diet, I hypothesized that $\gamma\delta$ T cells might have a role in the development of fibrosis. To confirm this model, WT B6 and TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice were fed with an NCD or SSD diet for a period of 16 weeks. TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice showed increased weight gain in comparison to B6 mice (Figure 20a). However, there was no difference in liver weight between SSD groups after 16w of SSD (Figure 20b). Despite having increased weight gain, I observed that TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice had significant reduction in fibrosis in comparison to B6 mice. In contrast, there was no reduction in the level of hepatic steatosis (Figure 20c and 20d).





Figure 20. SSD-fed TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ **mice have reduction in fibrosis.** (a) Weight gain over period of 16 weeks in an NCD and SSD group of B6 and TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice (n = 5). (b) The liver weight after 16 weeks on an NCD and SSD group of B6 and TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice. (c) Representative microscopic sections and (d) quantitive assessment of liver steatosis and fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius red) in B6 and TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice after 16 weeks on and NCD or SSD diet (n = 5). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

I next wanted to elucidate how $\gamma\delta$ T cells in liver are activated in response to SSD. As shown in Figure 17f, in response to an SSD diet, there was an increase in expression of the activating receptor NKG2D on $\gamma\delta$ T cells. It as been shown in several models that NKG2D engagement on $\gamma\delta$ T cells can elicit cytokine production (Strid et al., 2011), such as in HCMV-specific $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Nielsen et al., 2015). I showed in Figure 17g that after 2 weeks of SSD diet almost all IL-17 produced by $\gamma\delta$ T cells came from the NKG2D⁺ subset. Thus, I wanted to see how the lack of NKG2D receptor will affect $\gamma\delta$ T cells and their production of IL-17 cytokine. I placed B6 and NKG2D^{-/-} animals on an SSD or NCD for 2 weeks and quantified the fold increase in number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells and the production of proinflammatory cytokine IL-17A. Results showed that the increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells, as well as the increase in IL-17A production were completely prevented by NKG2D-deficiency (Figure 21a and 21b). To see if NKG2D has a role in promotion of fibrosis, NKG2D^{-/-} were placed on an SSD diet and liver fibrosis was analysed after 16 weeks. Histological staining with Sirius red showed a remarkably strong reduction of fibrosis in NKG2D^{-/-} mice, whereas steatosis was the same as in B6 mice (Figure 21c and 21d).

Alpha-smooth muscle actin (α SMA) is present in smooth muscle of the vasculature, perisinusoidal cells (HSC), and myofibroblasts derived from perisinusoidal cells. HSC are known to express α SMA prior to secreting collagen and its expression is therefore closely

associated with liver fibrosis. To see if NKG2D has an effect on activation of HSCs, the relative abundance of activated HSCs was assessed by expression of the HSC marker α SMA. The histological analysis showed that there were less α SMA positive cells in NKG2D^{-/-} (Figure 21e and 21f).









Figure 21. SSD-fed NKG2D^{-/-} **mice have reduction in fibrosis.** Fold increase in number of (a) γδ T cells and (b) IL-17A production after 2 weeks of an NCD or SSD. (c) Representative microscopic sections and (d) quantitive assessment of liver steatosis and fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius red) in B6 and NKG2D^{-/-} mice after 16 weeks on and NCD or SSD diet (n = 6). (e) Representative slides and (f) quantification of αSMA area in B6 and NKG2D^{-/-} mice after 16 weeks on and NCD or SSD diet (n = 6) (* indicate αSMA positive cells) *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

In addition to γδ T cells, NKG2D is particularly potent in the activation of NK cells. Since I also observed an early increase in hepatic NK cells in response to SSD, I wanted to investigate if the phenotype I see in NKG2D^{-/-} is the result of NKG2D activation on NK cells. To do so, I made use of NKG2D flox mice, which were backcrossed on NCR1cre mice to specifically eliminate NKG2D on NK cells. NCR1^{cre}NKG2D^{flox/flox} mice were placed on an SSD for 16 weeks. Analysis of liver slides showed that B6, NKG2D^{flox/flox} littermates and NCR1^{cre}NKG2D^{flox/flox} mice had all similar levels of fibrosis and it was significantly higher than in total NKG2D knock out mice (Figure 22a and 22b). In contrast, steatosis was the same in all four groups.



Figure 22. NKG2D on NK cells is not responsible for the reduced levels of fibrosis. (a) Representative microscopic sections and (b) quantitive assessment of liver steatosis and fibrosis (stained for collagen fibers (red) with Sirius red) in B6, NKG2D^{-/-}, NKG2D^{flox/flox} and NCR1^{cre}NKG2D^{flox/flox} mice after 16 weeks on NCD or SSD diet (n = 5 - 6). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001 (ANOVA).

Finally, I wanted to see whether induction of NAFLD is associated with upregulation of its ligands in the liver. Normal mouse hepatocytes can express low levels of mRNA for NKG2D ligands (Gao, 2010; Spear et al., 2013); however, several NKG2D ligands can be detected at high levels on hepatocytes in case of induced liver injury (Cheng et al., 2009; Kahraman et al., 2012). I analyzed expression of all NKG2D ligands expressed in B6 mice by qPCR. My analysis showed that only in a case of H60 there was a trend in increase of ligand

expression (Figure 23a). Notably, expression of H60 positively correlated with production of IL-17A by $\gamma\delta$ T cells (p=0,0537; R²=0,4338). These findings indicate that $\gamma\delta$ T cells in metabolically stressed hepatic tissue are specifically activated through their NKG2D receptor by H60 (Figure 23b).



Figure 23. Expression of H60 ligand correlates with IL-17A production (a) Results of quantitative PCR analysis for H60 ligand and (b) correlation between IL-17A production and transcript expression of H60 in liver homogenates of mice fed an NCD or an SSD for 2 weeks

5. DISCUSSION

In this thesis, I managed to show that SSD diet is a good model for NAFLD because it resembles human disease course starting from simple steatosis to steatohepatitis with fibrosis. I also showed that in response to nutrient excess one of the initiating events in NAFLD is the mobilisation of $\gamma\delta$ cells, through an increase of the NKG2D ligand H60. NKG2D engagement induces an increase in IL-17A production, which is important for the development of liver pathology in our model of NASH. Therefore, my data indicate that activation of the NKG2D receptor on $\gamma\delta$ T cells, resulting in their production of IL-17A is crucial in the development of liver fibrosis in the SSD model of NAFLD.

The role of the immune system has been recognized in the pathogenesis of various obesity-related co-morbidities, such as IR and DM2. However, the specific role of immune cells in the development of NAFLD has not yet been completely understood. There are several studies that are suggesting that inflammation might precede steatosis in some cases of NASH (Wolf et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2015) and even more importantly, it has been shown that inflammation is a main factor that predicts the long-term prognosis of NAFLD (Tilg and Moschen, 2010). However, in both DM2 and NAFLD the main unanswered question is how immune cells are activated in the first place. Therefore, the main aim of this thesis was to determine how, in the context of two different dietary models of metabolic disease, the immune system initiates inflammatory processes in VAT and liver.

Previous studies showed that the excess of macronutrients in both adipocytes and hepatocytes leads to hypertrophy and cellular stress (Sethi and Vidal-Puig, 2007). The physiological response to biological or physical stress factors is inflammation, with the purpose to resolve the stress factor and restore tissue homeostasis. In case of metabolic disease, cellular stress is not resolved by the immune system resulting in a chronic inflammatory response that may ultimately lead to insulin resistance, DM2 and NAFLD. The immune response to cellular stress may comprise many cell types, but it primarily involves cells of the innate and innate-like immune system. To investigate connections between obesity-induced stress and initiation of inflammation in VAT and liver, I used diet induced obesity models which enabled me to follow the development of DM2 and NAFLD from early stages.

As mentioned previously, high-fat diet in mice is an established model for impaired glucose tolerance and DM2. In this model, start of diet-induced obesity is marked by an increase in proinflammatory NK cells, M1-macrophages and neutrophils that later, through the production of cytokines and chemokines, attract other cells like B cells, CD4, CD8, Th17 and

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2012; Chawla et al., 2011). Because the role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in VAT inflammation has been poorly defined, I decided to focus on them in my research. $\gamma\delta$ T cells are innate-like cells that have a role in tissue homeostasis (reviewed in (Nielsen et al., 2017)) and surveillance (Vantourout and Hayday, 2013) but are also able to provide rapid response against pathogens (Zheng et al., 2013) or tumour cells (Zou et al., 2017). Because of their T-cell receptor, composed of γ and δ chains, they are considered "unconventional" and even though they represent relatively small population of T cells in lymphoid organs, they are present at relatively high numbers in VAT. Previous studies have shown that adipose tissue y\delta T cells are the main producers of IL-17A and that this IL-17A acts on (pre)adipocytes rather than on immune cells. $\gamma\delta$ T cell derived IL-17A regulates lipid uptake and insulin sensitivity in fat cells under lean conditions (Zuniga et al., 2010). However, an interesting phenomenon was observed in one study where VAT $\gamma\delta$ T cells after prolonged (5 month) HFD feeding spontaneously produced excessive amount of IL-17A without any stimulation (Zuniga et al., 2010). yo T cells have been recognized as crucial immune cells for initiation of inflammation through IL-17A production in models of infection and autoimmune disease (Jensen et al., 2008; Roark et al., 2008). In line with these observations, it was shown in one study that TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice have reduced macrophage accumulation even after 10 weeks of HFD, suggesting a role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in progression and development of VAT inflammation (Mehta et al., 2015). In contrast, my data indicates that the absence of $\gamma\delta$ T cells within first few weeks does not have a role in progression of inflammation, but rather on homeostasis of adipose tissue which was observed by increased weight gain and fat pad weight of animals lacking yo T cells. A possible explanation is that IL-17A has a dual effect - one in homeostasis of adipose tissue and other in adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity. Something similar can also be seen in the case of IL-6 cytokine. IL-6 has been recognized as an initiator of insulin resistance, however, in last few years it has been suggested that it is also a homeostatic regulator of energy and glucose metabolism (Timper et al., 2017). Since IL-17A is a cytokine that has a potential of tissue damage (Jin and Dong, 2013), it is possible that its production is tightly regulated. In normal conditions, low levels might be important for tissue homeostasis and in obesity, increase of IL-17A and inhibition of adipogenesis might serve as an attempt to increase insulin production and improve glucose tolerance to overcome obesity-associated insulin resistance.

In addition to adipose tissue, with obesity progression several other organs that contribute to systemic insulin resistance, like skeletal muscle and liver, exhibit signs of inflammation (Lumeng and Saltiel, 2011). In the case of liver, this inflammation is mainly induced due to hepatic lipid overload that leads to oxidative stress and apoptosis – two

underlying causes of NASH (Sanches et al., 2015). There are several animal models currently used to study NAFLD. However, most of these are a poor model of human disease, as they mirror either metabolic characteristics of the disease or development of liver pathology, but not both. Since obesity is associated with NAFLD one of the first models used was the HFD model. HFD mimics the initial stages of human fatty liver disease including weight gain, IR and severe liver steatosis, however it is not able to induce liver inflammation and fibrosis. This lead us to the conclusion that the HFD model is good for studying DM2 and NAFL but not for elucidating the transition from NAFL to NASH (Ito et al., 2007). The MCD diet model is one of the most frequently used models to study NASH because it induces in relatively short time (2-6 weeks) all features of NASH including steatosis, oxidative stress, apoptosis, liver inflammation and fibrosis. A major flaw of the MCD model is that the metabolic profile of NASH is missing. Indeed, it even induces weight loss and cachexia, and causes in general low levels of glucose, insulin and triglycerides and does not lead to IR (Itagaki et al., 2013). We therefore consider it highly unlikely that the underlying cause of liver inflammation in the MCD model is representative of what happens early in human NAFLD. Humans consume quite a lot of fructose-rich foods and drinks, and this has been correlated with the development of obesity and NASH (Longato, 2013). We therefore developed an SSD diet, which is based on high levels of fructose, cholesterol and fat. Indeed, this diet induced all stages of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease as well as the main metabolic dysfunctions associated with NAFLD, such as weight gain and hepatomegaly. Therefore, with this diet we got a unique new model to study NAFLD but also the opportunity to translate our research to the clinic.

Liver inflammation in the context of NASH is mainly accompanied by a mononuclear infiltrate (KCs, monocytes) however, other cells may also be encountered. One of those cell subsets are $\gamma\delta$ T cells, especially the V γ 1 subset, that are found abundantly in the liver and change in number and function with ongoing liver inflammation of bacterial or viral origin (Carding and Egan, 2002). It has been known for over two decades that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are implicated in human liver diseases but the exact contribution of these cells to liver immunopathology in NAFLD/NASH remained elusive. In the context of liver autoimmune diseases, it was noticed that patients with autoimmune hepatitis have increased numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Using a mouse model of concanavalin A (ConA)-induced hepatitis it has been shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells can have a protective role against liver inflammation (Martins et al., 1996; Zhao et al., 2011). In contrast, several studies showed that the increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in livers of hepatitis C virus (HCV) patients correlated with worse liver immunopathology (Agrati et al., 2001; Nuti et al., 1998). Additionally, it was shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells isolated from livers of HCV patients are cytotoxic

against primary human hepatocytes in culture (Tseng et al., 2001). However, the possible role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in development of liver fibrosis has been poorly studied. By using a short term SSD, I was able to identify that in response diet-induced stress, indeed $\gamma\delta$ T cells were one of first cells that accumulated and produced proinflammatory IL-17A cytokine. A similar increase in yo T cells was found in hepatitis B infected human fibrotic livers but also in several mouse models upon various inflammatory conditions and hepatic fibrosis (Hammerich et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2013). One study that used two different experimental liver injury models, CCl₄ and MCD diet, described a role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in prevention of fibrosis progression. Interestingly, this prevention of fibrosis was not mediated through cytokine production but through induction of apoptosis in HSC via Fas/Fas-ligand (FasL) interactions (Hammerich et al., 2014). Another research that used the CCl₄ model suggested that production of interleukin-17A by $\gamma\delta$ T cells was induced through contact with activated HSCs and that this IL-17A then further exacerbated progression of liver fibrosis (Seo et al., 2016). Clearly, the context of immune cell activation is important for the role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cell derived IL-17A in the development of liver pathology. We show in our model of fatty liver disease that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are activated in early NAFLD and that IL-17A produced by these cells is important for the development of liver inflammation and fibrosis.

An increase in IL-17A production was described for several human liver diseases including acute liver injury (Tan et al., 2013), primary biliary cirrhosis (Lan et al., 2009) and hepatocellular carcinoma (Zhang et al., 2009). The importance of IL-17A in the induction and pathogenesis of liver diseases was further confirmed in multiple mouse models of liver injury (Meng et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2012). Recent findings have also suggested that IL-17A might play a role in regulation of obesity and NAFLD (Zuniga et al., 2010). Human studies have shown increased levels of IL-17A in obese patients and individuals that have NAFLD (Ahmed and Gaffen, 2010; Harley et al., 2014; Winer et al., 2009). However, the main cellular source IL-17A remained elusive and its precise mechanistic role in development of disease is still not clear. According to several studies, IL-17A aggravates hepatic inflammation (Giles et al., 2015; Tang et al., 2011) by inducing leukocytes infiltration (Ouyang et al., 2008) and it promotes liver fibrosis through upregulation of the TGF-β receptor on HSC (Fabre et al., 2014). In our model, IL-17A is also important for the development of NAFLD. This could be seen in a long-term model of SSD where in the absence of IL-17RA on all cells there was a significant reduction in fibrosis in comparison to controls. However, despite the fact that fibrosis was reduced, there were no differences in liver steatosis. This observation was partially expected because it is known that IL-17A deficiency can enhance liver triglyceride accumulation, which lead to steatosis, but also reduce hepatocellular damage in mice that can cause fibrosis (Harley et al., 2014; Zuniga et al., 2010).

Even though in humans $\gamma\delta$ T cells can contribute to IL-17A production, in the context of fibrosis IL-17 is mainly considered to be produced by Th17 CD4⁺ T cells and neutrophils (Hammerich et al., 2011). In the MCD mouse model it was shown that infiltration of Th17 cells in the liver is a crucial step for initiation of liver inflammation and development of fibrosis (Rolla et al., 2016). Similar observation was made in an HFD model where it was shown that the number of Th17 cells positively correlated with liver pathology of NASH (Vonghia et al., 2015). While Th17 cells are the most-studied sources of IL-17A it has become clear that during the early phases of inflammation, IL-17A is mostly produced by innate and innate-like cells (Vonghia et al., 2015) (Sutton et al., 2009). So far, secretion of IL-17A by γδ T cells is mainly mentioned in the context of propagation of the response and subsequent activation of other immune cells. In that role, it was shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cell derived IL-17A can attract neutrophils, activates inflammatory monocytes [13] or sustain IL-17A production by CD4+ $\alpha\beta$ T cells (Sutton et al., 2009). In our model we have shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are important for progression to NASH. However, the exact functional relationships between them and other sources of IL-17A, should further be investigated. On the other hand, we managed to show that IL-17A is not important for the activation of monocytes and neutrophils as they accumulated equally in the Lys^{cre}IL17RA^{flox} mice. This result might suggest that IL-17A has a role on some other liver cells or it might act directly on HCS. The latter idea is in accordance with two models of liver fibrosis - bile duct ligation (BDL) and carbon tetrachloride (CCL₄) that showed direct effect of IL-17A on increased expression of pro-fibrogenic genes in HSC (Gandhi, 2017; Meng et al., 2012).

It has been shown in infection models with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Lockhart et al., 2006), *E. coli* (*Shibata et al., 2007*) and *Bordetella pertussis* (*Misiak et al., 2017*) that $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be the main early source of proinflammatory cytokines (Jensen et al., 2008). However, their action is not only limited to infections, but they also play a role in various inflammatory conditions like arthritis, colitis and uveitis (Cui et al., 2009; Roark et al., 2007) where they can contribute to inflammatory pathology. $\gamma\delta$ T cells that produce IL-17A mainly acquire their effector potential early during development in the foetal thymus and persist as long-lived cells in thymus or in the periphery. Activation of IL-17A producing cells is thought to be mostly independent of their TCR. Instead, these cells respond to stress signals such as cytokines, TLR ligands and through ligands for activating receptors like NKG2D (Bekiaris et al., 2013; Ribot et al., 2012). NKG2D has been investigated in the liver in the context of fibrosis. However, the

majority of research has been focused on NK cells, IFNy and their capacity to kill activated HSC (Radaeva et al., 2006). I showed in this thesis that stimulation through NKG2D was a main activating factor that contributed to IL-17A production by hepatic $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Importantly, NKG2D on NK cells was not important for development of fibrosis in our model. However, the exact mechanism of how NKG2D induces IL-17A production still needs to be elucidated. Interestingly, NKG2D on $\gamma\delta$ T cells, in both humans and mice, has only been described to promote the production of IFNy (Dandekar et al., 2005; Nedellec et al., 2010; Rincon-Orozco et al., 2005). However, there are a few studies in the context of human disease that link NKG2D to IL-17A production. Three of them showed that CD4⁺ NKG2D⁺ T cells from patients with DM2 (Phoksawat et al., 2017), Crohn's disease (Pariente et al., 2011) or Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection (Paidipally et al., 2009) produced more IL-17A than the CD4⁺ NKG2D⁺ T cells from healthy donors. Even though this phenomenon has been observed, not one study provided a possible mechanism. Based on the literature and the research that has been done on the role of NKG2D on NK cells, it is known that NKG2D has two adaptor molecules - DAP 10 and DAP 12 that can play a role in either the production or the release of the cytokines (Malarkannan et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2015). The first mechanism starts with phosphorylation of ITAM motifs of DAP-12 by Src family and leads to activation of Syk-Zap70-PLCy-NFkB signalling pathway and induction of cytokine production through activation of transcription (Vivier et al., 2013). However, since there are no DAP 12 adaptor molecules in T cells, this mechanism is reserved for NK cells. In the DAP-10-mediated signalling pathway, activated Src family phosphorylates motifs of DAP-10, which then recruits PI3K / Akt, or Grb2-Vav-ERK complex that enables cytokine secretion. Additionally, it has been shown that activation of PI3K/Akt pathway results in significant increase in IL-17A production in rheumatoid arthritis (Kim et al., 2005) and that PI3K-Akt-mTORcomplexe has an important role in differentiation and function of Th17 cells and their ability to produce IL-17A (Kurebayashi et al., 2012; Nagai et al., 2013). Therefore, it would be important to see if NKG2D pathway has the same effect on production or secretion of IL-17A by $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Several stress-induced ligands have been connected with activation of liver resident cells in infection or tumour transformation (Gao and Radaeva, 2013). Those are mainly ligands for stimulatory receptors on NK cells like NKp30, NKp44, NKp46 and maybe best-defined - NKG2D (Lanier, 2005). Elevated levels of RAE-1, MULT-1 and H60 ligands present in infection or induced liver injury, trigger the activation of either NK or NKT cells leading hepatocyte death and consequent hepatocellular damage (Cheng et al., 2009). One study showed that NKG2D ligands might also play an important role in NAFLD because their data

revealed that MICA/B mRNAs levels are significantly increased in NAFL and NASH patients when compared to normal healthy control livers. Additionally, expression of mRNAs of NKG2D ligands positively correlated with hepatocyte apoptosis (Kahraman et al., 2010). However, majority of research focused only on NK cells. Our data indicate that the link between obesity induced cellular stress and $\gamma\delta$ T cells and IL-17 production is the upregulation of NKG2D H60 ligand on hepatocytes. Nevertheless, when H60 expression was directly compared between NCD and SSD fed groups, this difference was not statistically significant. As mentioned previously, expression of H60 is scarce on normal mouse hepatocytes, however elevated levels are detected in several liver conditions like viral infection or drug-induced liver injury (Cheng et al., 2009; Vilarinho et al., 2007). Since both infection and toxic liver injury are severe acute states, it is expected that they cause a rapid increase in the expression of stress induced ligands. In NAFLD, disease progression is relatively slow and in the initial period of diet-induced obesity only a minority of cells starts to accumulate fat and sense stress. We expected that H60 ligands are present only on a minority of stressed hepatocytes in steatotic lesions. Since we are not able to distinguish normal from stresses cells, this may occlude H60 induction on stressed hepatocytes in the SSD model. Nonetheless, by conducting a correlation study, I was able to see that in samples where I saw increased expression of H60 there was also more IL-17A produced by $\gamma\delta$ T cells, indirectly confirming that these two events are connected.

In summary, my study established that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are immune cell mediators that link cell induced stress due to nutrients' excess to early development of NAFLD. This process is mediated through NKG2D induced IL-17A production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Thus, blocking of NKG2D or IL-17A signalling may be of great importance for preventing transition from simple steatosis to NASH and development of fibrosis.

6. CONCLUSIONS

• $\gamma\delta$ T cells are enriched in visceral adipose tissue and even under normal conditions they can produce proinflammatory cytokines.

• In response to HFD, number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that produce IL-17A increases; however, it is not clear if they play a role in establishing inflammation in mouse model of DM2.

• SSD diet is a good model for NAFLD since it induced all stages of human disease course starting from simple steatosis to steatohepatitis with fibrosis.

• Initiating event in NAFLD, in response to SSD, is increase in the mRNA expression of NKG2D ligand H60 on hepatocytes.

• Engagement of NKG2D on $\gamma\delta$ cells in SSD fed mice induces an increase in IL-17A production.

• IL-17A is an important cytokine for the development of liver pathology in our model of NASH.

• Lack of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NKG2D or IL-17A significantly decreases development of liver fibrosis.

7. LITERATURE

Aggarwal BB (2003) Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: a double-edged sword. Nat Rev Immunol 3, 745-756.

Agrati C, D'Offizi G, Narciso P, Abrignani S, Ippolito G, Colizzi V, Poccia F (2001) Vdelta1 T lymphocytes expressing a Th1 phenotype are the major gammadelta T cell subset infiltrating the liver of HCV-infected persons. Mol Med 7, 11-19.

Ahmed M (2015) Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in 2015. World J Hepatol 7, 1450-1459.

Ahmed M, Gaffen SL (2010) IL-17 in obesity and adipogenesis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21, 449-453.

Amano SU, Cohen JL, Vangala P, Tencerova M, Nicoloro SM, Yawe JC, Shen Y, Czech MP, Aouadi M (2014) Local proliferation of macrophages contributes to obesity-associated adipose tissue inflammation. Cell Metab 19, 162-171.

Angulo P, Kleiner DE, Dam-Larsen S, Adams LA, Bjornsson ES, Charatcharoenwitthaya P, Mills PR, Keach JC, Lafferty HD, Stahler A, et al. (2015) Liver Fibrosis, but No Other Histologic Features, Is Associated With Long-term Outcomes of Patients With Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology 149, 389-397 e310.

Anstee QM, Goldin RD (2006) Mouse models in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and steatohepatitis research. Int J Exp Pathol 87, 1-16.

Arrese M, Cabrera D, Kalergis AM, Feldstein AE (2016) Innate Immunity and Inflammation in NAFLD/NASH. Dig Dis Sci 61, 1294-1303.

Barnes MA, Carson MJ, Nair MG (2015) Non-traditional cytokines: How catecholamines and adipokines influence macrophages in immunity, metabolism and the central nervous system. Cytokine 72, 210-219.

Bas A, Swamy M, Abeler-Dorner L, Williams G, Pang DJ, Barbee SD, Hayday AC (2011) Butyrophilin-like 1 encodes an enterocyte protein that selectively regulates functional interactions with T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108, 4376-4381.

Bekiaris V, Sedy JR, Macauley MG, Rhode-Kurnow A, Ware CF (2013) The inhibitory receptor BTLA controls gammadelta T cell homeostasis and inflammatory responses. Immunity 39, 1082-1094.

Berlanga A, Guiu-Jurado E, Porras JA, Auguet T (2014) Molecular pathways in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Exp Gastroenterol 7, 221-239.

Bhattacharjee J, Kirby M, Softic S, Miles L, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Shivakumar P, Kohli R (2017) Hepatic Natural Killer T-cell and CD8+ T-cell Signatures in Mice with Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Hepatol Commun 1, 299-310.

Bloomgarden ZT (2007) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and insulin resistance in youth. Diabetes Care 30, 1663-1669.

Born WK, Kemal Aydintug M, O'Brien RL (2013) Diversity of gammadelta T-cell antigens. Cell Mol Immunol 10, 13-20.

Brestoff JR, Kim BS, Saenz SA, Stine RR, Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, Thome JJ, Farber DL, Lutfy K, Seale P, Artis D (2015) Group 2 innate lymphoid cells promote beiging of white adipose tissue and limit obesity. Nature 519, 242-246.

Carapito R, Bahram S (2015) Genetics, genomics, and evolutionary biology of NKG2D ligands. Immunol Rev 267, 88-116.

Carding SR, Egan PJ (2002) Gammadelta T cells: functional plasticity and heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol 2, 336-345.

Chackelevicius CM, Gambaro SE, Tiribelli C, Rosso N (2016) Th17 involvement in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease progression to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. World J Gastroenterol 22, 9096-9103.

Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, Harrison SA, Brunt EM, Sanyal AJ (2018) The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Practice guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 67, 328-357.

Chalasani N YZ, Lavine JE, Diehl AM, Brunt EM, Cusi K, Charlton M, Sanyal AJ. (2012) The Diagnosis and Management of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Practice Guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, American College of Gastroenterology and the American Gastroenterological Association. Gastroenterology, 142:1592-1609.

Chapoval AI, Smithson G, Brunick L, Mesri M, Boldog FL, Andrew D, Khramtsov NV, Feshchenko EA, Starling GC, Mezes PS (2013) BTNL8, a butyrophilin-like molecule that costimulates the primary immune response. Mol Immunol 56, 819-828.

Chatzigeorgiou A, Karalis KP, Bornstein SR, Chavakis T (2012) Lymphocytes in obesityrelated adipose tissue inflammation. Diabetologia 55, 2583-2592.

Chawla A, Nguyen KD, Goh YP (2011) Macrophage-mediated inflammation in metabolic disease. Nat Rev Immunol 11, 738-749.

Chen GY, Nunez G (2010) Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol 10, 826-837.

Cheng L, You Q, Yin H, Holt M, Franklin C, Ju C (2009) Effect of polyI:C cotreatment on halothane-induced liver injury in mice. Hepatology 49, 215-226.

Chung JJ, Markiewicz MA, Polic B, Shaw AS (2014) Role of NKG2D in obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. PLoS One 9, e110108.

Clapper JR, Hendricks MD, Gu G, Wittmer C, Dolman CS, Herich J, Athanacio J, Villescaz C, Ghosh SS, Heilig JS, et al. (2013) Diet-induced mouse model of fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis reflecting clinical disease progression and methods of assessment. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 305, G483-495.

Cui Y, Shao H, Lan C, Nian H, O'Brien RL, Born WK, Kaplan HJ, Sun D (2009) Major role of gamma delta T cells in the generation of IL-17+ uveitogenic T cells. J Immunol 183, 560-567.

D'Souza DM, Al-Sajee D, Hawke TJ (2013) Diabetic myopathy: impact of diabetes mellitus on skeletal muscle progenitor cells. Front Physiol 4, 379.

Danaei G FM, Lu Y, Singh GM, Cowan MJ, Paciorek CJ, Lin JK, Farzadfar F, Khang YH, Stevens GA, Rao M, Ali MK, Riley LM, Robinson CA, Ezzati M; Global Burden of Metabolic Risk Factors of Chronic Diseases Collaborating Group (Blood Glucose). (2011). National, regional, and global trends in fasting plasma glucose and diabetes prevalence since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 370 country-years and 2·7 million participants. Lancet 378, 31-40.

Dandekar AA, O'Malley K, Perlman S (2005) Important roles for gamma interferon and NKG2D in gammadelta T-cell-induced demyelination in T-cell receptor beta-deficient mice infected with a coronavirus. J Virol 79, 9388-9396.

DeFronzo RA, Tripathy D (2009) Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is the primary defect in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 32 Suppl 2, S157-163.

Dixon LJ, Barnes M, Tang H, Pritchard MT, Nagy LE (2013) Kupffer cells in the liver. Compr Physiol 3, 785-797.

Donath MY, Shoelson SE (2011) Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol 11, 98-107.

Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ (2005) The metabolic syndrome. Lancet 365, 1415-1428.

Eckelhart E, Warsch W, Zebedin E, Simma O, Stoiber D, Kolbe T, Rulicke T, Mueller M, Casanova E, Sexl V (2011) A novel Ncr1-Cre mouse reveals the essential role of STAT5 for NK-cell survival and development. Blood 117, 1565-1573.

Eder K, Baffy N, Falus A, Fulop AK (2009) The major inflammatory mediator interleukin-6 and obesity. Inflamm Res 58, 727-736.

Emanuelli B, Peraldi P, Filloux C, Sawka-Verhelle D, Hilton D, Van Obberghen E (2000) SOCS-3 is an insulin-induced negative regulator of insulin signaling. J Biol Chem 275, 15985-15991.

Fabre T, Kared H, Friedman SL, Shoukry NH (2014) IL-17A enhances the expression of profibrotic genes through upregulation of the TGF-beta receptor on hepatic stellate cells in a JNK-dependent manner. J Immunol 193, 3925-3933.

Fain JN, Madan AK, Hiler ML, Cheema P, Bahouth SW (2004) Comparison of the release of adipokines by adipose tissue, adipose tissue matrix, and adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissues of obese humans. Endocrinology 145, 2273-2282.

Fasbender F, Widera A, Hengstler JG, Watzl C (2016) Natural Killer Cells and Liver Fibrosis. Front Immunol 7, 19.

Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, Lee J, Goldfine AB, Benoist C, Shoelson S, Mathis D (2009) Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. Nat Med 15, 930-939.

Fitzgerald LM, Kumar A, Boyle EA, Zhang Y, McIntosh LM, Kolb S, Stott-Miller M, Smith T, Karyadi DM, Ostrander EA, et al. (2013) Germline missense variants in the BTNL2 gene are associated with prostate cancer susceptibility. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 22, 1520-1528.

Fleshner M (2013) Stress-evoked sterile inflammation, danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), microbial associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) and the inflammasome. Brain Behav Immun 27, 1-7.

Frayn KN (2001) Adipose tissue and the insulin resistance syndrome. Proc Nutr Soc 60, 375-380.

Friedman SL (2003) Liver fibrosis -- from bench to bedside. J Hepatol 38 Suppl 1, S38-53.

Fulda S, Gorman AM, Hori O, Samali A (2010) Cellular stress responses: cell survival and cell death. Int J Cell Biol 2010, 214074.

Furukawa S, Fujita T, Shimabukuro M, Iwaki M, Yamada Y, Nakajima Y, Nakayama O, Makishima M, Matsuda M, Shimomura I (2004) Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest 114, 1752-1761.

Gandhi CR (2017) Hepatic stellate cell activation and pro-fibrogenic signals. J Hepatol 67, 1104-1105.

Gao B (2010) Natural killer group 2 member D, its ligands, and liver disease: good or bad? Hepatology 51, 8-11.

Gao B, Radaeva S (2013) Natural killer and natural killer T cells in liver fibrosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1832, 1061-1069.

Gao Z, Hwang D, Bataille F, Lefevre M, York D, Quon MJ, Ye J (2002) Serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by inhibitor kappa B kinase complex. J Biol Chem 277, 48115-48121.

Garman RD, Doherty PJ, Raulet DH (1986) Diversity, rearrangement, and expression of murine T cell gamma genes. Cell 45, 733-742.

Giles DA, Moreno-Fernandez ME, Divanovic S (2015) IL-17 Axis Driven Inflammation in Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Progression. Curr Drug Targets 16, 1315-1323.

Ginsberg HN, Zhang YL, Hernandez-Ono A (2005) Regulation of plasma triglycerides in insulin resistance and diabetes. Arch Med Res 36, 232-240.

Goldszmid RS, Caspar P, Rivollier A, White S, Dzutsev A, Hieny S, Kelsall B, Trinchieri G, Sher A (2012) NK cell-derived interferon-gamma orchestrates cellular dynamics and the differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells at the site of infection. Immunity 36, 1047-1059.

Gomes AL, Teijeiro A, Buren S, Tummala KS, Yilmaz M, Waisman A, Theurillat JP, Perna C, Djouder N (2016) Metabolic Inflammation-Associated IL-17A Causes Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis and Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cancer Cell 30, 161-175.

Gordon S (2007) The macrophage: past, present and future. Eur J Immunol 37 Suppl 1, S9-17.

Gordon S, Martinez FO (2010) Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. Immunity 32, 593-604.

Grundy SM, Brewer HB, Jr., Cleeman JI, Smith SC, Jr., Lenfant C (2004) Definition of metabolic syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24, e13-18.

Haas JD, Ravens S, Duber S, Sandrock I, Oberdorfer L, Kashani E, Chennupati V, Fohse L, Naumann R, Weiss S, et al. (2012) Development of interleukin-17-producing gammadelta T cells is restricted to a functional embryonic wave. Immunity 37, 48-59.

Haas P, Straub RH, Bedoui S, Nave H (2008) Peripheral but not central leptin treatment increases numbers of circulating NK cells, granulocytes and specific monocyte subpopulations in non-endotoxaemic lean and obese LEW-rats. Regul Pept 151, 26-34.

Hammerich L, Bangen JM, Govaere O, Zimmermann HW, Gassler N, Huss S, Liedtke C, Prinz I, Lira SA, Luedde T, et al. (2014) Chemokine receptor CCR6-dependent accumulation of gammadelta T cells in injured liver restricts hepatic inflammation and fibrosis. Hepatology 59, 630-642.

Hammerich L, Heymann F, Tacke F (2011) Role of IL-17 and Th17 cells in liver diseases. Clin Dev Immunol 2011, 345803.

Hammerich L, Tacke F (2014) Role of gamma-delta T cells in liver inflammation and fibrosis. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol 5, 107-113.

Harley IT, Stankiewicz TE, Giles DA, Softic S, Flick LM, Cappelletti M, Sheridan R, Xanthakos SA, Steinbrecher KA, Sartor RB, et al. (2014) IL-17 signaling accelerates the progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. Hepatology 59, 1830-1839.

Heilig JS, Tonegawa S (1986) Diversity of murine gamma genes and expression in fetal and adult T lymphocytes. Nature 322, 836-840.

Heymann F, Tacke F (2016) Immunology in the liver--from homeostasis to disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 13, 88-110.

Heymsfield SB, Wadden TA (2017) Mechanisms, Pathophysiology, and Management of Obesity. N Engl J Med 376, 254-266.

Holland WL, Bikman BT, Wang LP, Yuguang G, Sargent KM, Bulchand S, Knotts TA, Shui G, Clegg DJ, Wenk MR, et al. (2011) Lipid-induced insulin resistance mediated by the proinflammatory receptor TLR4 requires saturated fatty acid-induced ceramide biosynthesis in mice. J Clin Invest 121, 1858-1870.

Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM (1993) Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 259, 87-91.

Ilan Y, Maron R, Tukpah AM, Maioli TU, Murugaiyan G, Yang K, Wu HY, Weiner HL (2010) Induction of regulatory T cells decreases adipose inflammation and alleviates insulin resistance in ob/ob mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107, 9765-9770.

Itagaki H, Shimizu K, Morikawa S, Ogawa K, Ezaki T (2013) Morphological and functional characterization of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease induced by a methionine-choline-deficient diet in C57BL/6 mice. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 6, 2683-2696.

Ito M, Suzuki J, Tsujioka S, Sasaki M, Gomori A, Shirakura T, Hirose H, Ishihara A, Iwaasa H, Kanatani A (2007) Longitudinal analysis of murine steatohepatitis model induced by chronic exposure to high-fat diet. Hepatol Res 37, 50-57.

Itohara S, Mombaerts P, Lafaille J, Iacomini J, Nelson A, Clarke AR, Hooper ML, Farr A, Tonegawa S (1993) T cell receptor delta gene mutant mice: independent generation of alpha beta T cells and programmed rearrangements of gamma delta TCR genes. Cell 72, 337-348.

Ivanov, II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 126, 1121-1133.

Jameson J, Havran WL (2007) Skin gammadelta T-cell functions in homeostasis and wound healing. Immunol Rev 215, 114-122.

Jamieson AM, Diefenbach A, McMahon CW, Xiong N, Carlyle JR, and Raulet DH (2002) The role of the NKG2D immunoreceptor in immune cell activation and natural killing. Immunity 17, 19-29.

Jensen KD, Su X, Shin S, Li L, Youssef S, Yamasaki S, Steinman L, Saito T, Locksley RM, Davis MM, et al. (2008) Thymic selection determines gammadelta T cell effector fate: antigennaive cells make interleukin-17 and antigen-experienced cells make interferon gamma. Immunity 29, 90-100.

Jiang JX, Chen X, Fukada H, Serizawa N, Devaraj S, Torok NJ (2013) Advanced glycation endproducts induce fibrogenic activity in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis by modulating TNF-alpha-converting enzyme activity in mice. Hepatology 58, 1339-1348.

Jin W, Dong C (2013) IL-17 cytokines in immunity and inflammation. Emerg Microbes Infect 2, e60.

Johnson AR, Milner JJ, Makowski L (2012) The inflammation highway: metabolism accelerates inflammatory traffic in obesity. Immunol Rev 249, 218-238.

Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T, Kubota N (2008) The physiological and pathophysiological role of adiponectin and adiponectin receptors in the peripheral tissues and CNS. FEBS Lett 582, 74-80.

Kahraman A, Fingas CD, Syn WK, Gerken G, Canbay A (2012) Role of stress-induced NKG2D ligands in liver diseases. Liver Int 32, 370-382.

Kahraman A, Schlattjan M, Kocabayoglu P, Yildiz-Meziletoglu S, Schlensak M, Fingas CD, Wedemeyer I, Marquitan G, Gieseler RK, Baba HA, et al. (2010) Major histocompatibility complex class I-related chains A and B (MIC A/B): a novel role in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 51, 92-102.

Kanda H, Tateya S, Tamori Y, Kotani K, Hiasa K, Kitazawa R, Kitazawa S, Miyachi H, Maeda S, Egashira K, Kasuga M (2006) MCP-1 contributes to macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obesity. J Clin Invest 116, 1494-1505.

Kim KW, Cho ML, Park MK, Yoon CH, Park SH, Lee SH, Kim HY (2005) Increased interleukin-17 production via a phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and nuclear factor kappaB-dependent pathway in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther 7, R139-148.

Kotronen A, Westerbacka J, Bergholm R, Pietilainen KH, Yki-Jarvinen H (2007) Liver fat in the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92, 3490-3497.

Koyama Y, Brenner DA (2017) Liver inflammation and fibrosis. J Clin Invest 127, 55-64.

Kumar P, Monin L, Castillo P, Elsegeiny W, Horne W, Eddens T, Vikram A, Good M, Schoenborn AA, Bibby K, et al. (2016) Intestinal Interleukin-17 Receptor Signaling Mediates Reciprocal Control of the Gut Microbiota and Autoimmune Inflammation. Immunity 44, 659-671.

Kurebayashi Y, Nagai S, Ikejiri A, Ohtani M, Ichiyama K, Baba Y, Yamada T, Egami S, Hoshii T, Hirao A, et al. (2012) PI3K-Akt-mTORC1-S6K1/2 axis controls Th17 differentiation by regulating Gfi1 expression and nuclear translocation of RORgamma. Cell Rep 1, 360-373.

Kwanten WJ, Martinet W, Michielsen PP, Francque SM (2014) Role of autophagy in the pathophysiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a controversial issue. World J Gastroenterol 20, 7325-7338.

Lan RY, Salunga TL, Tsuneyama K, Lian ZX, Yang GX, Hsu W, Moritoki Y, Ansari AA, Kemper C, Price J, et al. (2009) Hepatic IL-17 responses in human and murine primary biliary cirrhosis. J Autoimmun 32, 43-51.

Lanier LL (2005) NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 23, 225-274.

Lanier LL (2015) NKG2D Receptor and Its Ligands in Host Defense. Cancer Immunol Res 3, 575-582.

Lebovitz HE (1999) Type 2 diabetes: an overview. Clin Chem 45, 1339-1345.

Lebrero-Fernandez C, Bergstrom JH, Pelaseyed T, Bas-Forsberg A (2016) Murine Butyrophilin-Like 1 and Btnl6 Form Heteromeric Complexes in Small Intestinal Epithelial Cells and Promote Proliferation of Local T Lymphocytes. Front Immunol 7, 1.

Lenartic M, Jelencic V, Zafirova B, Ozanic M, Marecic V, Jurkovic S, Sexl V, Santic M, Wensveen FM, Polic B (2017) NKG2D Promotes B1a Cell Development and Protection against Bacterial Infection. J Immunol 198, 1531-1542.

Leroux A, Ferrere G, Godie V, Cailleux F, Renoud ML, Gaudin F, Naveau S, Prevot S, Makhzami S, Perlemuter G, Cassard-Doulcier AM (2012) Toxic lipids stored by Kupffer cells correlates with their pro-inflammatory phenotype at an early stage of steatohepatitis. J Hepatol 57, 141-149.

Li F, Hao X, Chen Y, Bai L, Gao X, Lian Z, Wei H, Sun R, Tian Z (2017) The microbiota maintain homeostasis of liver-resident gammadeltaT-17 cells in a lipid antigen/CD1d-dependent manner. Nat Commun 7, 13839.

Li P, Oh DY, Bandyopadhyay G, Lagakos WS, Talukdar S, Osborn O, Johnson A, Chung H, Maris M, Ofrecio JM, et al. (2015) LTB4 promotes insulin resistance in obese mice by acting on macrophages, hepatocytes and myocytes. Nat Med 21, 239-247.

Li S, Zhang HY, Hu CC, Lawrence F, Gallagher KE, Surapaneni A, Estrem ST, Calley JN, Varga G, Dow ER, Chen Y (2008) Assessment of diet-induced obese rats as an obesity model by comparative functional genomics. Obesity (Silver Spring) 16, 811-818.

Lockhart E, Green AM, Flynn JL (2006) IL-17 production is dominated by gammadelta T cells rather than CD4 T cells during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. J Immunol 177, 4662-4669.

Longato L (2013) Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a tale of fat and sugar? Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 6, 14.

Ludwig J, Viggiano TR, McGill DB, Oh BJ (1980) Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: Mayo Clinic experiences with a hitherto unnamed disease. Mayo Clin Proc 55, 434-438.

Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR (2007) Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest 117, 175-184.

Lumeng CN, DelProposto JB, Westcott DJ, Saltiel AR (2008) Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes. Diabetes 57, 3239-3246.

Lumeng CN, Saltiel AR (2011) Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest 121, 2111-2117.

Lynch L, O'Shea D, Winter DC, Geoghegan J, Doherty DG, O'Farrelly C (2009) Invariant NKT cells and CD1d(+) cells amass in human omentum and are depleted in patients with cancer and obesity. Eur J Immunol 39, 1893-1901.

Machado MV, Michelotti GA, Xie G, de Almeida TP, Boursier J, Bohnic B, Guy CD, Diehl AM (2015) Correction: Mouse Models of Diet-Induced Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Reproduce the Heterogeneity of the Human Disease. PLoS One 10, e0132315.

Malarkannan S, Regunathan J, Chu H, Kutlesa S, Chen Y, Zeng H, Wen R, Wang D (2007) Bcl10 plays a divergent role in NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and cytokine generation. J Immunol 179, 3752-3762. Manna P, Jain SK (2015) Obesity, Oxidative Stress, Adipose Tissue Dysfunction, and the Associated Health Risks: Causes and Therapeutic Strategies. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 13, 423-444.

Martinez FO, Helming L, Gordon S (2009) Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. Annu Rev Immunol 27, 451-483.

Martins AR, Nachbar RT, Gorjao R, Vinolo MA, Festuccia WT, Lambertucci RH, Cury-Boaventura MF, Silveira LR, Curi R, Hirabara SM (2012) Mechanisms underlying skeletal muscle insulin resistance induced by fatty acids: importance of the mitochondrial function. Lipids Health Dis 11, 30.

Martins EB, Graham AK, Chapman RW, Fleming KA (1996) Elevation of gamma delta T lymphocytes in peripheral blood and livers of patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and other autoimmune liver diseases. Hepatology 23, 988-993.

Mathis D (2013) Immunological goings-on in visceral adipose tissue. Cell Metab 17, 851-859.

Matzinger P (2007) Friendly and dangerous signals: is the tissue in control? Nat Immunol 8, 11-13.

Mauer J, Chaurasia B, Goldau J, Vogt MC, Ruud J, Nguyen KD, Theurich S, Hausen AC, Schmitz J, Bronneke HS, et al. (2014) Signaling by IL-6 promotes alternative activation of macrophages to limit endotoxemia and obesity-associated resistance to insulin. Nat Immunol 15, 423-430.

Medanić D P-CJ (2012) Pretilost – javnozdravstveni problem i izazov. Acta Med Croatica, 347-355.

Medzhitov R, Janeway CA, Jr. (2002) Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. Science 296, 298-300.

Mehal WZ (2014) The inflammasome in liver injury and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Dig Dis 32, 507-515.

Mehta K, Van Thiel DH, Shah N, Mobarhan S (2002) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: pathogenesis and the role of antioxidants. Nutr Rev 60, 289-293.

Mehta K., Shah N., Mobarhan S. (2002) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: pathogenesis and the role of antioxidants. Nut Rev, 289-293.

Mehta P, Nuotio-Antar AM, Smith CW (2015) gammadelta T cells promote inflammation and insulin resistance during high fat diet-induced obesity in mice. J Leukoc Biol 97, 121-134.

Meli R, Mattace Raso G, Calignano A (2014) Role of innate immune response in non-alcoholic Fatty liver disease: metabolic complications and therapeutic tools. Front Immunol 5, 177.

Meng F, Wang K, Aoyama T, Grivennikov SI, Paik Y, Scholten D, Cong M, Iwaisako K, Liu X, Zhang M, et al. (2012) Interleukin-17 signaling in inflammatory, Kupffer cells, and hepatic stellate cells exacerbates liver fibrosis in mice. Gastroenterology 143, 765-776 e763.

Milic S, Stimac D (2012) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/steatohepatitis: epidemiology, pathogenesis, clinical presentation and treatment. Dig Dis 30, 158-162.

Misiak A, Wilk MM, Raverdeau M, Mills KH (2017) IL-17-Producing Innate and Pathogen-Specific Tissue Resident Memory gammadelta T Cells Expand in the Lungs of Bordetella pertussis-Infected Mice. J Immunol 198, 363-374.

Mitsunaga S, Hosomichi K, Okudaira Y, Nakaoka H, Kunii N, Suzuki Y, Kuwana M, Sato S, Kaneko Y, Homma Y, et al. (2013) Exome sequencing identifies novel rheumatoid arthritissusceptible variants in the BTNL2. J Hum Genet 58, 210-215.

Miyake K (2007) Innate immune sensing of pathogens and danger signals by cell surface Tolllike receptors. Semin Immunol 19, 3-10.

Molofsky AB, Nussbaum JC, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Cheng LE, Mohapatra A, Chawla A, Locksley RM (2013) Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. J Exp Med 210, 535-549.

Molofsky AB, Van Gool F, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Nussbaum JC, Lee J, Bluestone JA, and Locksley RM (2015) Interleukin-33 and Interferon-gamma Counter-Regulate Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Activation during Immune Perturbation. Immunity 43, 161-174.

Moreira RK (2007) Hepatic stellate cells and liver fibrosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med 131, 1728-1734.

Muoio DM, Newgard CB (2008) Mechanisms of disease:Molecular and metabolic mechanisms of insulin resistance and beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9, 193-205.

Nagai S, Kurebayashi Y, Koyasu S (2013) Role of PI3K/Akt and mTOR complexes in Th17 cell differentiation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1280, 30-34.

Nedellec S, Sabourin C, Bonneville M, Scotet E (2010) NKG2D costimulates human V gamma 9V delta 2 T cell antitumor cytotoxicity through protein kinase C theta-dependent modulation of early TCR-induced calcium and transduction signals. J Immunol 185, 55-63.

Neels JG, Olefsky JM (2006) Inflamed fat: what starts the fire? J Clin Invest 116, 33-35.

Netzer N, Gatterer H, Faulhaber M, Burtscher M, Pramsohler S, Pesta D (2015). Hypoxia, Oxidative Stress and Fat. Biomolecules 5, 1143-1150.

Nguyen-Duy TB, Nichaman MZ, Church TS, Blair SN, Ross R (2003) Visceral fat and liver fat are independent predictors of metabolic risk factors in men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 284, E1065-1071.

Nguyen T, Liu XK, Zhang Y, and Dong C (2006) BTNL2, a butyrophilin-like molecule that functions to inhibit T cell activation. J Immunol 176, 7354-7360.

Nielsen MM, Dyring-Andersen B, Schmidt JD, Witherden D, Lovato P, Woetmann A, Odum N, Poulsen SS, Havran WL, Geisler C, Bonefeld CM (2015) NKG2D-dependent activation of dendritic epidermal T cells in contact hypersensitivity. J Invest Dermatol 135, 1311-1319.

Nielsen MM, Witherden DA, Havran WL (2017) gammadelta T cells in homeostasis and host defence of epithelial barrier tissues. Nat Rev Immunol 17, 733-745.

Nowicka M, Krieg C, Weber LM, Hartmann FJ, Guglietta S, Becher B, Levesque MP, Robinson MD (2017) CyTOF workflow: differential discovery in high-throughput high-dimensional cytometry datasets. F1000Res 6, 748.

Nuti S, Rosa D, Valiante NM, Saletti G, Caratozzolo M, Dellabona P, Barnaba V, Abrignani S (1998) Dynamics of intra-hepatic lymphocytes in chronic hepatitis C: enrichment for Valpha24+ T cells and rapid elimination of effector cells by apoptosis. Eur J Immunol 28, 3448-3455.

Nuttall FQ (2015) Body Mass Index: Obesity, BMI, and Health: A Critical Review. Nutr Today 50, 117-128.

O'Neill S, O'Driscoll L (2015) Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies. Obes Rev 16, 1-12.

O'Sullivan TE, Rapp M, Fan X, Weizman OE, Bhardwaj P, Adams NM, Walzer T, Dannenberg AJ, Sun JC (2016) Adipose-Resident Group 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells Promote Obesity-Associated Insulin Resistance. Immunity 45, 428-441.
Odegaard JI, Chawla A (2012) Connecting type 1 and type 2 diabetes through innate immunity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2, a007724.

Odegaard JI, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Goforth MH, Morel CR, Subramanian V, Mukundan L, Red Eagle A, Vats D, Brombacher F, Ferrante AW, Chawla A (2007) Macrophage-specific PPARgamma controls alternative activation and improves insulin resistance. Nature 447, 1116-1120.

Ogasawara K, Hamerman JA, Ehrlich LR, Bour-Jordan H, Santamaria P, Bluestone JA, Lanier LL (2004) NKG2D blockade prevents autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Immunity 20, 757-767.

Osborn O, Olefsky JM (2012) The cellular and signaling networks linking the immune system and metabolism in disease. Nat Med 18, 363-374.

Ouyang W, Kolls JK, Zheng Y (2008) The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation. Immunity 28, 454-467.

Ozes ON, Akca H, Mayo LD, Gustin JA, Maehama T, Dixon JE, Donner DB (2001) A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/mTOR pathway mediates and PTEN antagonizes tumor necrosis factor inhibition of insulin signaling through insulin receptor substrate-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 4640-4645.

Paidipally P, Periasamy S, Barnes PF, Dhiman R, Indramohan M, Griffith DE, Cosman D, Vankayalapati R (2009) NKG2D-dependent IL-17 production by human T cells in response to an intracellular pathogen. J Immunol 183, 1940-1945.

Papotto PH, Ribot JC, Silva-Santos B (2017) IL-17(+) gammadelta T cells as kick-starters of inflammation. Nat Immunol 18, 604-611.

Pariente B, Mocan I, Camus M, Dutertre CA, Ettersperger J, Cattan P, Gornet JM, Dulphy N, Charron D, Lemann M, et al. (2011) Activation of the receptor NKG2D leads to production of Th17 cytokines in CD4+ T cells of patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 141, 217-226, 226 e211-212.

Pascual G, Ricote M, Hevener AL (2007) Macrophage peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma as a therapeutic target to combat Type 2 diabetes. Expert Opin Ther Targets 11, 1503-1520.

Pathan S, Gowdy RE, Cooney R, Beckly JB, Hancock L, Guo C, Barrett JC, Morris A, Jewell DP (2009) Confirmation of the novel association at the BTNL2 locus with ulcerative colitis. Tissue Antigens 74, 322-329.

Patsouris D, Li PP, Thapar D, Chapman J, Olefsky JM, Neels JG (2008) Ablation of CD11cpositive cells normalizes insulin sensitivity in obese insulin resistant animals. Cell Metab 8, 301-309.

Phoksawat W, Jumnainsong A, Leelayuwat N, Leelayuwat C (2017) Aberrant NKG2D expression with IL-17 production of CD4+ T subsets in patients with type 2 diabetes. Immunobiology 222, 944-951.

Polonsky KS, Given BD, Hirsch L, Shapiro ET, Tillil H, Beebe C, Galloway JA, Frank BH, Karrison T, Van Cauter E (1988) Quantitative study of insulin secretion and clearance in normal and obese subjects. J Clin Invest 81, 435-441.

Polonsky KS, Sturis J, Bell GI (1996) Seminars in Medicine of the Beth Israel Hospital, Boston. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus - a genetically programmed failure of the beta cell to compensate for insulin resistance. N Engl J Med 334, 777-783.

Radaeva S, Sun R, Jaruga B, Nguyen VT, Tian Z, Gao B (2006) Natural killer cells ameliorate liver fibrosis by killing activated stellate cells in NKG2D-dependent and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-dependent manners. Gastroenterology 130, 435-452.

Rau M, Schilling AK, Meertens J, Hering I, Weiss J, Jurowich C, Kudlich T, Hermanns HM, Bantel H, Beyersdorf N, Geier A (2016) Progression from Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver to Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Is Marked by a Higher Frequency of Th17 Cells in the Liver and an Increased Th17/Resting Regulatory T Cell Ratio in Peripheral Blood and in the Liver. J Immunol 196, 97-105.

Ribot JC, Debarros A, Mancio-Silva L, Pamplona A, Silva-Santos B (2012) B7-CD28 costimulatory signals control the survival and proliferation of murine and human gammadelta T cells via IL-2 production. J Immunol 189, 1202-1208.

Ribot JC, deBarros A, Pang DJ, Neves JF, Peperzak V, Roberts SJ, Girardi M, Borst J, Hayday AC, Pennington DJ, Silva-Santos B (2009) CD27 is a thymic determinant of the balance between interferon-gamma- and interleukin 17-producing gammadelta T cell subsets. Nat Immunol 10, 427-436.

Rincon-Orozco B, Kunzmann V, Wrobel P, Kabelitz D, Steinle A, and Herrmann T (2005). Activation of V gamma 9V delta 2 T cells by NKG2D. J Immunol 175, 2144-2151.

Roark CL, French JD, Taylor MA, Bendele AM, Born WK, O'Brien RL (2007) Exacerbation of collagen-induced arthritis by oligoclonal, IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells. J Immunol 179, 5576-5583.

Roark CL, Simonian PL, Fontenot AP, Born WK, O'Brien RL (2008) gammadelta T cells: an important source of IL-17. Curr Opin Immunol 20, 353-357.

Rocha VZ, Folco EJ, Sukhova G, Shimizu K, Gotsman I, Vernon AH, Libby P (2008) Interferon-gamma, a Th1 cytokine, regulates fat inflammation: a role for adaptive immunity in obesity. Circ Res 103, 467-476.

Roh YS, Seki E (2013) Toll-like receptors in alcoholic liver disease, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and carcinogenesis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 28 Suppl 1, 38-42.

Rolla S, Alchera E, Imarisio C, Bardina V, Valente G, Cappello P, Mombello C, Follenzi A, Novelli F, Carini R (2016) The balance between IL-17 and IL-22 produced by liver-infiltrating T-helper cells critically controls NASH development in mice. Clin Sci (Lond) 130, 193-203.

Rolo A.P. TJS, Palmeira C.M. (2012) Role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 56-69.

Rolo AP, Teodoro JS, Palmeira CM (2012) Role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Free Radic Biol Med 52, 59-69.

Rui L, Yuan M, Frantz D, Shoelson S, White MF (2002). SOCS-1 and SOCS-3 block insulin signaling by ubiquitin-mediated degradation of IRS1 and IRS2. J Biol Chem 277, 42394-42398.

Saltiel AR, Kahn CR (2001) Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Nature 414, 799-806.

Sanches SC, Ramalho LN, Augusto MJ, da Silva DM, Ramalho FS (2015) Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis: A Search for Factual Animal Models. Biomed Res Int 2015, 574832.

Sanchez-Gurmaches J, Hung CM, Guertin DA (2016) Emerging Complexities in Adipocyte Origins and Identity. Trends Cell Biol 26, 313-326.

Schwenk F, Baron U, Rajewsky K (1995) A cre-transgenic mouse strain for the ubiquitous deletion of loxP-flanked gene segments including deletion in germ cells. Nucleic Acids Res 23, 5080-5081.

Seki E, De Minicis S, Osterreicher CH, Kluwe J, Osawa Y, Brenner DA, Schwabe RF (2007) TLR4 enhances TGF-beta signaling and hepatic fibrosis. Nat Med 13, 1324-1332.

Seo W, Eun HS, Kim SY, Yi HS, Lee YS, Park SH, Jang MJ, Jo E, Kim SC, Han YM, et al. (2016) Exosome-mediated activation of toll-like receptor 3 in stellate cells stimulates interleukin-17 production by gammadelta T cells in liver fibrosis. Hepatology 64, 616-631.

Seong SY, Matzinger P (2004) Hydrophobicity: an ancient damage-associated molecular pattern that initiates innate immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 469-478.

Sethi JK, Vidal-Puig AJ (2007) Thematic review series: adipocyte biology. Adipose tissue function and plasticity orchestrate nutritional adaptation. J Lipid Res 48, 1253-1262.

Shibata K, Yamada H, Hara H, Kishihara K, Yoshikai Y (2007) Resident Vdelta1+ gammadelta T cells control early infiltration of neutrophils after Escherichia coli infection via IL-17 production. J Immunol 178, 4466-4472.

Shifrin N, Raulet DH, Ardolino M (2014) NK cell self tolerance, responsiveness and missing self recognition. Semin Immunol 26, 138-144.

Shoelson SE, Herrero L, Naaz A (2007) Obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. Gastroenterology 132, 2169-2180.

Singh S, Allen AM, Wang Z, Prokop LJ, Murad MH, Loomba R (2015) Fibrosis progression in nonalcoholic fatty liver vs nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a systematic review and metaanalysis of paired-biopsy studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 13, 643-654 e641-649; quiz e639-640.

Sluik D, Boeing H, Montonen J, Pischon T, Kaaks R, Teucher B, Tjonneland A, Halkjaer J, Berentzen TL, Overvad K, et al. (2011) Associations between general and abdominal adiposity and mortality in individuals with diabetes mellitus. Am J Epidemiol 174, 22-34.

Spear P, Wu MR, Sentman ML, Sentman CL (2013) NKG2D ligands as therapeutic targets. Cancer Immun 13, 8.

Stefan N, Kantartzis K, Machann J, Schick F, Thamer C, Rittig K, Balletshofer B, Machicao F, Fritsche A, Haring HU (2008) Identification and characterization of metabolically benign obesity in humans. Arch Intern Med 168, 1609-1616.

Stevens GA, Singh GM, Lu Y, Danaei G, Lin JK, Finucane MM, Bahalim AN, McIntire RK, Gutierrez HR, Cowan M, et al. (2012) National, regional, and global trends in adult overweight and obesity prevalences. Popul Health Metr 10, 22.

Stojsavljevic S, Gomercic Palcic M, Virovic Jukic L, Smircic Duvnjak L, Duvnjak M (2014) Adipokines and proinflammatory cytokines, the key mediators in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 20, 18070-18091.

Streba LA, Vere CC, Rogoveanu I, Streba CT (2015) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, metabolic risk factors, and hepatocellular carcinoma: an open question. World J Gastroenterol 21, 4103-4110.

Strid J, Sobolev O, Zafirova B, Polic B, Hayday A (2011) The intraepithelial T cell response to NKG2D-ligands links lymphoid stress surveillance to atopy. Science 334, 1293-1297.

Subramanian S, Chait A (2012) Hypertriglyceridemia secondary to obesity and diabetes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1821, 819-825.

Suh YG, Jeong WI (2011) Hepatic stellate cells and innate immunity in alcoholic liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 17, 2543-2551.

Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH (2009) Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 31, 331-341.

Sutton CE, Mielke LA, Mills KH (2012) IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells and innate lymphoid cells. Eur J Immunol 42, 2221-2231.

Syn WK, Oo YH, Pereira TA, Karaca GF, Jung Y, Omenetti A, Witek RP, Choi SS, Guy CD, Fearing CM, et al. (2010) Accumulation of natural killer T cells in progressive nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 51, 1998-2007.

Šestan M, Wensveen FM, Polić B (2015) Excision of visceral adipose tissue from live mice (VATectomy). Bio-protocol

Takahashi Y, Soejima Y, Fukusato T (2012) Animal models of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. World J Gastroenterol 18, 2300-2308.

Talukdar S, Oh DY, Bandyopadhyay G, Li D, Xu J, McNelis J, Lu M, Li P, Yan Q, Zhu Y, et al. (2012) Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet through secreted elastase. Nat Med 18, 1407-1412.

Tan Z, Qian X, Jiang R, Liu Q, Wang Y, Chen C, Wang X, Ryffel B, Sun B (2013) IL-17A plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis through hepatic stellate cell activation. J Immunol 191, 1835-1844.

Tang Y, Bian Z, Zhao L, Liu Y, Liang S, Wang Q, Han X, Peng Y, Chen X, Shen L, et al. (2011) Interleukin-17 exacerbates hepatic steatosis and inflammation in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Exp Immunol 166, 281-290.

Tian Z, Sun R, Wei H, Gao B (2002) Impaired natural killer (NK) cell activity in leptin receptor deficient mice: leptin as a critical regulator in NK cell development and activation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 298, 297-302.

Tilg H, Kaser A (2011) Gut microbiome, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction. J Clin Invest 121, 2126-2132.

Tilg H, Moschen AR (2010) Evolution of inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. Hepatology 52, 1836-1846.

Timper K, Denson JL, Steculorum SM, Heilinger C, Engstrom-Ruud L, Wunderlich CM, Rose-John S, Wunderlich FT, Bruning JC (2017) IL-6 Improves Energy and Glucose Homeostasis in Obesity via Enhanced Central IL-6 trans-Signaling. Cell Rep 19, 267-280.

Tosello-Trampont AC, Krueger P, Narayanan S, Landes SG, Leitinger N, Hahn YS (2016) NKp46(+) natural killer cells attenuate metabolism-induced hepatic fibrosis by regulating macrophage activation in mice. Hepatology 63, 799-812.

Tosello-Trampont AC, Landes SG, Nguyen V, Novobrantseva TI, Hahn YS (2012) Kuppfer cells trigger nonalcoholic steatohepatitis development in diet-induced mouse model through tumor necrosis factor-alpha production. J Biol Chem 287, 40161-40172.

Tsan MF, Gao B (2004) Endogenous ligands of Toll-like receptors. J Leukoc Biol 76, 514-519.

Tseng CT, Miskovsky E, Houghton M, Klimpel GR (2001) Characterization of liver T-cell receptor gammadelta T cells obtained from individuals chronically infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV): evidence for these T cells playing a role in the liver pathology associated with HCV infections. Hepatology 33, 1312-1320.

Tsuchida T, Friedman SL (2017) Mechanisms of hepatic stellate cell activation. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 14, 397-411.

Turcotte LP, Fisher JS (2008) Skeletal muscle insulin resistance: roles of fatty acid metabolism and exercise. Phys Ther 88, 1279-1296.

Ueki K, Kondo T, Kahn CR (2004) Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS-1) and SOCS-3 cause insulin resistance through inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate proteins by discrete mechanisms. Mol Cell Biol 24, 5434-5446.

Valentić S, Wensveen FM, Polić B (2015) Isolation of visceral adipose tissue lymphocytes B. Protocol

Vandanmagsar B, Youm YH, Ravussin A, Galgani JE, Stadler K, Mynatt RL, Ravussin E, Stephens JM, Dixit VD (2011) The NLRP3 inflammasome instigates obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. Nat Med 17, 179-188.

Vantourout P, Hayday A (2013) Six-of-the-best: unique contributions of gammadelta T cells to immunology. Nat Rev Immunol 13, 88-100.

Vasanthakumar A, Moro K, Xin A, Liao Y, Gloury R, Kawamoto S, Fagarasan S, Mielke LA, Afshar-Sterle S, Masters SL, et al. (2015) Erratum: The transcriptional regulators IRF4, BATF and IL-33 orchestrate development and maintenance of adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 16, 544.

Vavassori S, Kumar A, Wan GS, Ramanjaneyulu GS, Cavallari M, El Daker S, Beddoe T, Theodossis A, Williams NK, Gostick E, et al. (2013) Butyrophilin 3A1 binds phosphorylated antigens and stimulates human gammadelta T cells. Nat Immunol 14, 908-916.

Vilarinho S, Ogasawara K, Nishimura S, Lanier LL, Baron JL (2007) Blockade of NKG2D on NKT cells prevents hepatitis and the acute immune response to hepatitis B virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 18187-18192.

Vivier E RD, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, Yokoyama WM, Ugolini S. (2011) Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. . Science, 331:344-349.

Vivier E, Ugolini S (2011) Natural killer cells: from basic research to treatments. Front Immunol 2, 18.

Vivier E, Ugolini S, Nunes JA (2013) ADAPted secretion of cytokines in NK cells. Nat Immunol 14, 1108-1110.

Vonghia L, Ruyssers N, Schrijvers D, Pelckmans P, Michielsen P, De Clerck L, Ramon A, Jirillo E, Ebo D, De Winter B, et al. (2015) CD4+ROR gamma t++ and Tregs in a Mouse Model of Diet-Induced Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Mediators Inflamm 2015, 239623.

Vrhovac JB, Vucelić B. (2008) Interna medicina. (Naklada Ljevak).

Wajchenberg BL, Giannella-Neto D, da Silva ME, Santos RF (2002) Depot-specific hormonal characteristics of subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue and their relation to the metabolic syndrome. Horm Metab Res 34, 616-621.

Walker JA, Barlow JL, McKenzie AN (2013). Innate lymphoid cells--how did we miss them? Nat Rev Immunol 13, 75-87.

Wallace MC, Friedman SL, Mann DA (2015) Emerging and disease-specific mechanisms of hepatic stellate cell activation. Semin Liver Dis 35, 107-118.

Wehr A, Baeck C, Ulmer F, Gassler N, Hittatiya K, Luedde T, Neumann UP, Trautwein C, Tacke F (2014) Pharmacological inhibition of the chemokine CXCL16 diminishes liver macrophage infiltration and steatohepatitis in chronic hepatic injury. PLoS One 9, e112327.

Weir GC, Bonner-Weir S (2004) Five stages of evolving beta-cell dysfunction during progression to diabetes. Diabetes 53 Suppl 3, S16-21.

Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW, Jr. (2003) Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 112, 1796-1808.

Weiskirchen R, Tacke F (2016) Immune surveillance of liver cancer in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: excess lipids cause CD4 T-cells loss and promote hepatocellular carcinoma development. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr 5, 433-437.

Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS (2003) Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 112, 1785-1788.

Wensveen FM, Jelencic V, Valentic S, Sestan M, Wensveen TT, Theurich S, Glasner A, Mendrila D, Stimac D, Wunderlich FT, et al. (2015) NK cells link obesity-induced adipose stress to inflammation and insulin resistance. Nat Immunol 16, 376-385.

Wensveen FM, Valentic S, Sestan M, Turk Wensveen T, Polic B (2015) The "Big Bang" in obese fat: Events initiating obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. Eur J Immunol 45, 2446-2456.

Winer DA, Winer S, Shen L, Wadia PP, Yantha J, Paltser G, Tsui H, Wu P, Davidson MG, Alonso MN, et al. (2011) B cells promote insulin resistance through modulation of T cells and production of pathogenic IgG antibodies. Nat Med 17, 610-617.

Winer S, Paltser G, Chan Y, Tsui H, Engleman E, Winer D, Dosch HM (2009) Obesity predisposes to Th17 bias. Eur J Immunol 39, 2629-2635.

Wolf MJ, Adili A, Piotrowitz K, Abdullah Z, Boege Y, Stemmer K, Ringelhan M, Simonavicius N, Egger M, Wohlleber D, et al. (2014) Metabolic activation of intrahepatic CD8+ T cells and NKT cells causes nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and liver cancer via cross-talk with hepatocytes. Cancer Cell 26, 549-564.

World Health Organization (1999) Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications : report of a WHO consultation. Part 1, Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. (Geneva: World Health Organization.).

World Health Organization (2013) Diabetes Fact sheet N°312

World Health Organization (2015) Obesity and overweight.

World Health Organization (2017) Obesity and Overweight.

Wu D, Molofsky AB, Liang HE, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Jouihan HA, Bando JK, Chawla A, Locksley RM (2011) Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. Science 332, 243-247.

Wu L, Parekh VV, Gabriel CL, Bracy DP, Marks-Shulman PA, Tamboli RA, Kim S, Mendez-Fernandez YV, Besra GS, Lomenick JP, et al. (2012) Activation of invariant natural killer T cells by lipid excess promotes tissue inflammation, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obese mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109, E1143-1152.

Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, Sole J, Nichols A, Ross JS, Tartaglia LA, Chen H (2003) Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 112, 1821-1830.

Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Waki H, Terauchi Y, Kubota N, Hara K, Mori Y, Ide T, Murakami K, Tsuboyama-Kasaoka N, et al. (2001) The fat-derived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. Nat Med 7, 941-946.

Yan S, Wang L, Liu N, Wang Y, Chu Y (2012) Critical role of interleukin-17/interleukin-17 receptor axis in mediating Con A-induced hepatitis. Immunol Cell Biol 90, 421-428.

Ye J, Gao Z, Yin J, He Q (2007) Hypoxia is a potential risk factor for chronic inflammation and adiponectin reduction in adipose tissue of ob/ob and dietary obese mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 293, E1118-1128.

Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J, et al. (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194, 519-527.

Yki-Järvinen H (2014) Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease as a cause and a consequence of metabolic syndrome. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2, 901-910.

Younossi ZM, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. (2015) Global Epidemiology of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease-Meta-Analytic Assessment of Prevalence, Incidence and Outcomes. Hepatology.

Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M (2016) Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-Meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology 64, 73-84.

Zafirova B, Mandaric S, Antulov R, Krmpotic A, Jonsson H, Yokoyama WM, Jonjic S, Polic B (2009) Altered NK cell development and enhanced NK cell-mediated resistance to mouse cytomegalovirus in NKG2D-deficient mice. Immunity 31, 270-282.

Zhang J, Basher F, Wu JD (2015) NKG2D Ligands in Tumor Immunity: Two Sides of a Coin. Front Immunol 6, 97.

Zhang JP, Yan J, Xu J, Pang XH, Chen MS, Li L, Wu C, Li SP, Zheng L (2009) Increased intratumoral IL-17-producing cells correlate with poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. J Hepatol 50, 980-989.

Zhang P, Zhang X, Brown J, Vistisen D, Sicree R, Shaw J, Nichols G (2010) Global healthcare expenditure on diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 87, 293-301.

Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM (1994) Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature 372, 425-432.

Zhao L, Zhong S, Qu H, Xie Y, Cao Z, Li Q, Yang P, Varghese Z, Moorhead JF, Chen Y, Ruan XZ (2015) Chronic inflammation aggravates metabolic disorders of hepatic fatty acids in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. Sci Rep 5, 10222.

Zhao N, Hao J, Ni Y, Luo W, Liang R, Cao G, Zhao Y, Wang P, Zhao L, Tian Z, et al. (2011) Vgamma4 gammadelta T cell-derived IL-17A negatively regulates NKT cell function in Con A-induced fulminant hepatitis. J Immunol 187, 5007-5014.

Zheng J, Liu Y, Lau YL, Tu W (2013) gammadelta-T cells: an unpolished sword in human antiinfection immunity. Cell Mol Immunol 10, 50-57.

Zietz B, Buchler C, Herfarth H, Muller-Ladner U, Spiegel D, Scholmerich J, Schaffler A (2005) Caucasian patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus have elevated levels of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 that are not influenced by the -2518 A-->G promoter polymorphism. Diabetes Obes Metab 7, 570-578.

Zou C, Zhao P, Xiao Z, Han X, Fu F, Fu L (2017) gammadelta T cells in cancer immunotherapy. Oncotarget 8, 8900-8909.

Zuniga LA, Shen WJ, Joyce-Shaikh B, Pyatnova EA, Richards AG, Thom C, Andrade SM, Cua DJ, Kraemer FB, Butcher EC (2010) IL-17 regulates adipogenesis, glucose homeostasis, and obesity. J Immunol 185, 6947-6959.

8. LIST OF FIGURES, TABLES AND ABBREVIATIONS

Figures

Figure 1: Insulin signalling pathways linking inflammation and insulin resistance	8
Figure 2: Graphical representation of macrophage polarisation	11
Figure 3: Adipose tissue homeostasis axis	12
Figure 4: Model of adipose tissue inflammation in obesity	15
Figure 5: Stages of liver damage in NAFLD	17
Figure 6: Development of NAFLD and liver inflammation in obesity	21
Figure 7: Human and murine NKG2D ligands present on cell surface	27
Figure 8. γδ17 T cell	29
Figure 9. γδ T cell phenotype in VAT	47
Figure 10. $\gamma\delta$ T cells increase and obtain more activating phenotype	
during HFD feeding	49
Figure 11. Lack of $\gamma\delta$ T cells increases weight gain but has no effect on	
number of NK cells and M1 macrophages	50
Figure 12. BTNL1 ^{-/-} mice have increased weight gain	52
Figure 13. SSD diet-fed mice develop progressive NAFLD/NASH	55
Figure 14. Development of liver steatosis and fibrosis in SSD model	57
Figure 15. Cytokine production in liver within first 2 weeks of SSD	59
Figure 16. Liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells within first 2 weeks of SSD	61
Figure 17. Liver $\gamma\delta$ T cells phenotype within first 2 weeks of SSD	63
Figure 18. IL-17A production and its role in SSD model of NAFLD	66
Figure 19. Lack of IL-17RA on myeloid cells does not affect the level of fibrosis	67
Figure 20. SSD-fed TCR $\delta^{-/-}$ mice have reduction in fibrosis	69
Figure 21. SSD-fed NKG2D ^{-/-} mice have reduction in fibrosis	71
Figure 22. NKG2D on NK cells is not responsible for the reduced levels of fibrosis	72
Figure 23. Expression of H60 ligand correlates with IL-17A production	73

Tables

Table 1. Mouse strains used in experiments	31
Table 2. List of primers used for PCR	37
Table 3. List of primers used for PCR	42

List of abbreviations

- Akt protein kinase B
- ASH alcoholic steatohepatitis
- BMI body mass index
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- Btn butyrophilin
- Btnl butyrophilin -like
- B6- C57BL6/J wild type strain
- DAMPs danger-associated molecular patterns
- DIO diet induced obesity
- DM1 diabetes mellitus type 1
- DM2 diabetes mellitus type 2, šećerna bolest tipa 2
- DMEM Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
- DMSO dimethyl sulfoxide
- dsDNA double-stranded DNA
- EDTA ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- FACS fluorescence-activated cell sorting
- FCS fetal calf serum
- FFA free fatty acids
- FPG fasting plasma glucose
- Grb-2 growth factor receptor-bound protein 2
- HbA1c glycosylated haemoglobin
- HCC hepatocellular carcinoma
- HFD high fat diet, visoko-kalorijska prehrana bogata mastima
- HMGB1 high mobility group box-1
- HSC hepatic stellate cells
- HSP heat shock proteins
- IFN interferon
- IGT impaired glucose tolerance
- IL interleukin
- ILC2- type 2 innate lymphoid cells
- iNKT invariant-chain natural killer T
- IR insulin resistance

IRS1-4 - Insulin receptor substrate 1-4

iNOS- inducible nitric oxide synthases, inducibilna dušik oksid sintetaza

KC - kupffer cells

LAMRI - Laboratory of mouse engineering and breeding facility of the Faculty of medicine,

University of Rijeka

LPS - lipopolysaccharide

MCD - methionine choline deficient diet

MCP-1 - monocyte chemoattractant protein

MetS - metabolic syndrome

NAFL - non-alcoholic fatty liver

NAFLD - non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, nealkoholna bolest masne jetre

NASH - non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, nealkoholni steatohepatitis

NK- natural killer

NKG2D - NK cell receptor natural killer group 2D

NLR - NOD-like receptors

OGTT - oral glucose tolerance test

PAMP - pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PDGF - platelet deriver growth factor

PI3K - phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway

PIP2 - phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate

PIP3 - phosphatidylinositol triphosphate

PKB - protein kinase B

PMA - phorbol 12-myristate-13-acetate

PRR - pattern-recognition receptors

RAE-1 - retinoic acid early inducible-1

RAS-MAPK - mitogen-activated protein kinase

RLR - RIG-I-like receptors

ROS - reactive oxygen species

RPMI - Roswell park memorial institute medium

SOCS - suppressor of cytokine signalling

SPF - specific pathogens free

SSD - steatosis-steatohepatitis diet

TGF- β - transforming growth factor beta

Th1 - type 1 T-helper

TLR - toll-like receptor TNF - tumour necrosis factor TRAIL - TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand TRAIL-DR5 - death receptor 5 Treg - regulatory T cells VAT - visceral adipose tissue VLDL - very low-density lipoprotein WHO - World Health Organization WT - wildtype

 α -SMA - α -Smooth Muscle Actin

9. CURRICULUM VITAE

Sonja Marinović (née Valentić), PhD student, was born August 9th, 1987. She graduated Molecular Biology at the Department of Biology at the Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb in 2011, with the topic "HER-2 / neu polymorphisms in tumorigenesis of sporadic colon cancer". She enrolled to the graduate studies in Biology – Division of Biology, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, in 2013.

Since November 2013 she has been employed as a research fellow – PhD student, at the Department of Histology and Embryology at the Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka and working on the UKF project "The role of pathogen-driven inflammation of visceral adipose tissue in the development of Diabetes Mellitus type II" and HRZZ project "Immune mechanisms in the development of inflammation and metabolic syndrome in obesity" in the group of prof. dr. sc. Bojan Polić, MD. She went on research visit to the London Research Institute / CR-UK, London United Kingdom, from March to May 2015.

She is the co-author on four scientific papers published in journals with an international review indexed in CC. She has participated in several international scientific conferences with oral and poster presentations.

From academic year 2013/2014 she actively participates in teaching at the Department of Histology and Embryology. She teaches practical courses of Histology and Embryology for students of medicine and dental medicine and leads students who are doing laboratory work or graduate theses.

10. PUBLICATIONS

- Šestan M., <u>Marinović S.</u> #, Kavazović I. #, Cekinović Đ., Wueest S., Turk Wensveen T., Brizić I., Jonjić S., Konrad D., Wensveen FM. # and Polić B. # (2018) Virus-induced IFNγ causes insulin resistance in the skeletal muscle and derails glycemic control in obesity. *Immunity* (in press)
- Wensveen FM., Jelenčić V.#, <u>Valentić S</u>.#, Šestan M.#, Turk Wensveen T., Theurich S., Glasner A., Mendrila D., Štimac D., Wunderlich FT., Brüning JC., Mandelboim O., Polić B. (2015) NK cells link obesity-induced adipose stress to inflammation and insulin resistance. *Nature Immunology* 16 (4), 376-385
- Wensveen FM, <u>Valentić S.</u>, Šestan M., Turk Wensveen T., Polić B. (2015) The "Big Bang" in obese fat: Events initiating obesity- induced adipose tissue inflammation. *European Journal of Immunology* 45 (9), 2446-2456
- Wensveen FM, <u>Valentić S.</u>, Šestan M., Turk Wensveen T., Polić B. (2015) Interactions between adipose tissue and the immune system in health and malnutrition. *Seminars in Immunology* 27, pp. 322-333
- <u>Valentić S</u>., Wensveen F. M. and Polić B. (2015). Isolation of Lymphocytes from Murine Visceral Adipose Tissue. *Bio-protocol* 5(23): e1669. http://www.bio-protocol.org/e1669
- 6. Wensveen FM., Jelenčić V., Turk Wensveen T., Šestan M., <u>Valentić S.</u>, Theurich S., Štimac D., Wunderlich F. T., Brüning J. C., Mandelboim O., Polić B. The Immune Mechanisms of the Visceral Adipose Tissue Inflamation in Obesity as the Underlying Cause of Development of Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 and its Complication (*Proceedings of the Scientific Symposium Rijeka*, HAZU 2014.)
- (# These authors equally contributed to the work)